## Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library

School of Medicine

2003

# Spontaneous dermatitis in $\gamma \eth$ T cell-deficient mice : the role of IgE, genetics, and dendritic epidermal T cells

Jennifer Hyunjoo Nam Yale University

Follow this and additional works at: http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl

#### **Recommended** Citation

Nam, Jennifer Hyunjoo, "Spontaneous dermatitis in γð T cell-deficient mice : the role of IgE, genetics, and dendritic epidermal T cells" (2003). *Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library*. 2977. http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl/2977

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.



MED T113 +Y12 7035

> SPONTAMEOUS DERMATITIS IN GALMA/DELTA T CELL-DEFICIENT MICE: THE ROLE OF IgE, GENETICS, AND DENDRITIC EPIDERMAL T CELLS

> > Jennifer Hyunjoo Nam, B.A.

erreinersenseting202045 C/D3 påna minogareisen

YALE UNIVERSITY

2003



.

Permission to photocopy or microfilm processing of this thesis for the purpose of individual scholarly consultation or reference is hereby granted by the author. This permission is not to be interpreted as affecting publication of this work or otherwise placing it in the public domain, and the author reserves all rights of ownership guaranteed under common law protection of unpublished manuscripts.

Signature of Author 5/9 Date

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2017 with funding from The National Endowment for the Humanities and the Arcadia Fund

https://archive.org/details/spontaneousderma00namj



## SPONTANEOUS DERMATITIS IN $\gamma\delta$ T CELL-DEFICIENT MICE: THE ROLE OF IgE, GENETICS, AND DENDRITIC EPIDERMAL T CELLS

A Thesis Submitted to the

Yale University School of Medicine

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Medicine

by

Jennifer Hyunjoo Nam, B.A.

Yale University School of Medicine

New Haven, CT

May, 2003

YALE MEDICAL LIBRARY AUG 1 1 2003

T113 + 412 7035

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dedicating an extra year in medical school to research in the Yale Department of Dermatology is one of the most fortunate and blessed decisions I have made in my medical school career. Little did I know that it would bring me not only the privilege to work with some of the most intelligent, dedicated, and inspiring individuals I have ever met in medicine and academics, but also the unexpected gift of precious relationships and friendships with loving, caring, and selfless individuals I have been fortunate enough to meet in this Department and around the lab.

First and foremost, I'd like to express my deepest gratitude for my advisor and mentor, Dr. Robert Tigelaar. From the very beginning, he has never ceased to show enthusiastic interest and guidance in my work in the lab. I have considered it an immense privilege to have been taught by such a consummate dermatologist-immunologist, whose keen ability to teach, combined with patience and encouragement, has impacted me in a way few others have. By his example, I am inspired me to one day make my own contributions to academic medicine. Not only has Dr. Tigelaar been my teacher, he has also been an outstanding individual of genuine love and care, a person who models passion and dedication—to his work, his family, and life in general. I am full of gratitude for the opportunity I was given to work with him this past year.

If it weren't for the everyday company, kindness, and incredible generosity of Julie Lewis, I would not have been able to accomplish anything in the lab! Julie was my life line, and for every question, she found an answer. I have been touched not only by all her help, patience, and expertise (she is the FACS queen!), but also by her having become a dear friend. I can't wait to see Adam keep growing over the next 4 years!

My deepest thanks go out to many other individuals who helped to make my year both productive and immensely enjoyable. I give credit of learning how to do ELISA plates to Katarina Serrano, Lan Xu, and Dr. Christina Herrick, whose help and friendliness always encouraged me. My most frequent trips outside the lab were to the one right across—Renata Fuller and Dr. Michael Girardi were constant sources of information, advice, and reagents; their input throughout the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR cloning project was appreciated much more than they know. Undoubtedly, one of the highlights of my research year was the incredible opportunity to conduct experiments in the London laboratory of Dr. Adrian Hayday. A huge debt of gratitude goes especially to Dr. Hayday, Carrie Steele, and Nicholas Sangala, who not only granted the opportunity and performed key steps in developing the  $\gamma\delta$  RBL transfectant line, but also provided invaluable teaching, encouragement, and enthusiasm; to Wayne for sorting our cells even in times they ended up only 0.1% positive; and to everyone else in the Hayday lab, who embraced me warmly and showed me the joy of weeknight pub outings.

Thank you to the Yale University School of Medicine Department of Dermatology and the NIH for providing the generous financial support that allowed me to dedicate this year to research and to enjoy such opportunities as presenting these results at the Society for Investigative Dermatology national conference and working for a summer in the United Kingdom. Thank you also to everyone in the Department of Dermatology, including Dr. Edelson, Joan, Sheila, Pat, Annie, and others, who always did everything to help, and to Mary Tigelaar, whose administrative assistance and tender loving care were most appreciated, both by me and by my parents.

Finally, I would like to express my love and gratitude for my family, friends, and brothers and sisters from the Yale Health Professionals Christian Fellowship and the New Haven Korean Church. Without your love, encouragement, and prayers, I would not be who I am. I thank the Lord for every day I'm given, and I pray that He is pleased. Colossians 3:23.

# SPONTANEOUS DERMATITIS IN $\gamma\delta$ T CELL-DEFICIENT MICE: THE ROLE OF IgE, GENETICS, AND DENDRITIC EPIDERMAL T CELLS

Jennifer H. Nam, Julie M. Lewis, and Robert E. Tigelaar. Department of Dermatology, Yale University, School of Medicine, New Haven, CT.

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a chronic inflammatory skin disease characterized by intense pruritus and chronically relapsing eczematous skin lesions, often associated with elevated serum IgE levels. It has previously been reported that non-obese diabetic (NOD)  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-deficient ( $\delta$ -/-) mice, but not C57BL/6 (B6) or (NOD X B6) $F_1$ ,  $\delta$ -/- mice, develop an  $\alpha\beta$  T cell-dependent, environmentally-influenced, localized spontaneous dermatitis (SpD) resembling human AD. Reconstitution studies further demonstrated that the SpD is down-regulated by Vy5+ dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC). We analyzed whether IgE levels correlated with genotype and/or the SpD phenotype. Total serum IgE levels (ELISA) were determined in B6 wild-type (w.t.) and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice, NOD w.t. and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice, and (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD). $\delta$ -/- (BC) mice, raised in ventilated and non-ventilated housing conditions. Higher IgE levels were found in NOD w.t. and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice compared to B6 w.t. and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice. Total serum IgE levels did not correlate with presence of SpD, nor with the environment in which they were housed. These data suggest that IgE antibodies do not play a primary role in the pathogenesis of SpD. Genome-wide microsatellite mapping studies in other AD mouse models have identified major susceptibility intervals to chromosome 9 in NC/Nga mice and to chromosome 14 in NOA mice. Using primers distinguishing NOD and B6 polymorphisms in the centers of these intervals, DNA from BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with SpD was analyzed by PCR. For both intervals, the NOD/NOD vs. NOD/B6 ratios were 1.0, indicating that the interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice are distinct from those found in other mouse models of AD. Finally, in search of ultimately defining the ligand(s) for the DETC-specific V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 T-cell receptor (TCR), a third goal was to develop a bioassay in a heterologous cell type, a rat basophil leukemia cell line, RBL-2H3. A RBL-2H3 cell line expressing the  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR was developed, and preliminary studies performed in which pre-loaded <sup>3</sup>H serotonin was measured for release from  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  transfectants upon stimulation. The RBL bioassay is a first step towards defining the ligand(s) for the DETC-specific  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR, which will help to elucidate the physiological role of this intriguing subset of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
Acknowledgements	i
Abstract	ii
List of Tables and Figures	vi
List of Abbreviations	viii
I. INTRODUCTION	1
A. Background of γδ T cells	1
γδ TCR Gene Structure	3
Lineage, Development, and Distribution	6
Intraepithelial Lymphocytes	8
Dendritic Epidermal T Cells (DETC)	11
TCR Specificity/Antigen Recognition by DETC	17
Functional Activities of DETC	
1. Tissue Maintenance	
2. Immunoprotection	24
3. Immunoregulation	
Relevance of DETC Model to Humans	
B. Genetics of Atopic Dermatitis	
C. Atopic Dermatitis and IgE	41
D. Goals of Present Study	43
Research Design	44
FcεRI vs. TCRζ signal transduction pathways	44
Serotonin Release Assay	46
TCR Expression in the RBL System	47
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
A. Total Serum IgE Measurements	49
1. Animals	49
2. Serum Collection	
3. Antibody Measurement by Enzyme-Linked Imp	nunosorbant Assay
(ELISA)	

	4.	Statistical Analysis	52
В	8. Ge	netic Analysis	52
	1.	Animals	52
	2.	DNA Extraction	53
	3.	Primers	55
	4.	PCR Amplifications	57
	5.	Statistical Analysis	57
С	C. Co	nstruction of V5-J1-Cγ1/V1-D2-J2-Cδ T-Cell Receptor	58
	1.	Generation of Expression Construct	58
		a. DETC cDNA production from mRNA	58
		b. Amplifying V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains from DETC cDNA	59
		c. PCDL-SRα296 vector	61
		d. Digestion reactions	61
		e. Ligation reactions	61
		f. Plasmid transformations	63
		g. Plasmid isolation	63
	2.	Transfections into Rat Basophil Leukemia (RBL) Cells	65
		a. RBL-2H3 cell line	65
		b. Transfection protocol	65
	3.	Selection of Individual RBLγδ Clones	67
		a. Antibodies	67
		b. Flow cytometry	68
		c. Florescence Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)	68
	4.	RBL- <sup>3</sup> H Serotonin Release Assay Protocol	69
III. N	MATI	ERIALS AND METHODS	71
A	<b>А.</b> То	otal Serum IgE Mcasurements	71
		1. Lack of correlation between total IgE levels and SpD in C57BL	./6 and
		mice	71
		2. Lack of correlation between total IgE levels and SpD among	
		(F <sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F <sub>1</sub> )BC. $\delta$ -/- mice	74
		3. Total IgE levels higher in females versus males	75

B. Genetic Anlaysis80
1. Genetic interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice
are distinct from those found for other mouse models of AD80
C. Construction of V5-J1-Cγ1/V1-D2-J2-Cδ T-Cell Receptor82
1. Generation of Expression Constructs
a. $V\gamma 5$ and $V\delta 1$ genes and chimeric constructs
b. pCDL-SRa296 vector83
c. Ligation reactions83
d. Plasmid transformations and isolation84
2. Transfection of RBL-2H384
a. Electroporation84
3. Transfectants Expressing Vγ5/Vδ186
a. Enrichment of bulk transfectants
b. Clonal populations91
4. Serotonin Release Assay94
IV. DISCUSSION
A. Spontaneous Dermatitis and IgE97
SpD Similar to Human AD98
The Role of IgE in Atopic Dermatitis
Proposed Mouse Models of Human Atopic Dermatitis101
Comparison of NOD. $\delta$ –/– Mice with Other Mouse Models105
1. NOD. $\delta$ -/- as a Model for Atopiform Dermatitis106
2. NOD.δ–/– Mice as a Model for True Atopic Disease109
Total IgE Levels Higher in Females versus Males113
Role of DETC in Atopic Dermatitis115
B. Spontaneous Dermatitis and Genetics120
C. γδ TCR Ligand125
REFERENCES136

## LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

	PAGE
Table 1	Expected size of PCR product using primer sets distinguishing B6 from
	NOD SSLPs
Table 2	The genetic interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice
ć	are distinct from those found for other mouse models of AD81
Figure 1	Schematic representation of murine T cell receptor loci4
Figure 2A	Primers used to generate TCR- $\zeta$ fusion constructs
Figure 2B	Thrombin linker region and fusion to $\zeta$
Figure 3	Completed constructs
Figure 4A	Spontaneous dermatitis (SpD) developed only in NOD.8–/– mice housed in
	CNVC
Figure 4B	Serum total IgE levels and presence of SpD do not correlate73
Figure 5A	(B6 X NOD)F <sub>1</sub> X NOD BC. $\delta$ -/- mice categorized as "presence of SpD"
	showed significant inflammation, as shown by higher increased ear
	thickness measurements, compared to those with "absence of SpD"76
Figure 5B	Presence of SpD in (F <sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- was not associated with higher
	IgE levels76
Figure 6A	Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice showing SpD, female mice had a greater mean
	baseline ear thickness compared to male mice78
Figure 6B	Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice showing SpD, female mice had higher total serum
	IgE levels compared to male mice
Figure 6C	Female mice had higher total serum IgE levels than male mice79
Figure 7	Xho I single-enzyme and Xho I/Bgl II double-enzyme digests of V $\gamma$ 5-
	pCDL-SRα296 and Vδ1-pCDL-SRα296 transformed colonies85
Figure 8A	Flow cytometric analysis of RBL-Neo control transfectants
Figure 8B	& C Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched bulk" RBL V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1
	transfectants

Figure 9A	& B Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched bulk" RBL $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$	
	transfectants on PTD 59	.90
Figure 10A	A & B Flow cytometric analysis of RBL V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 transfectant colony	
	named Clone #45	.92
Figure 11	Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched" Clone #45 transfectants	.93
Figure 12	Clone #45 RBL transfectants show induced serotonin release by	
	PMA/ionomycin and PDV keratinocytes	.96

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

А	Adenine base
AD	Atopic dermatitis
APC	Antigen presenting cell
$\beta_2 M$	$\beta_2$ -microglobulin
B6	C57BL/6
BC	Backcross
bp	Base pairs
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
С	Cytosine base
C region	Constant region gene segment of TCR
cDNA	complementary DNA
CDR	Complementarity-determining region
cM	centiMorgan
CMEM	Complete MEM
CNVC	Conventional non-ventilated cages
ConA	Concanavalin A
Csk	Cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase
D region	Diversity region gene segment of TCR
DC	Dendritic cell
ddH2O	Double-distilled water
DETC	Dendritic epidermal T cell
DMBA	dimethylbenz(a)anthracene
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DN	Double-negative
DNFB	1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenzene
DTT	2,3-dihydroxy-1,4-dithiobutane
EAD	"Extrinsic" atopic dermatitis
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbant assay

FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FGFVII	Fibroblast growth factor VII
FITC-	Fluorescein conjugated
G	Guanine base
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GVHD	Graft-versus-host disease
Hsp	Heat shock protein
IAD	"Intrinsic" atopic dermatitis
IEC	Interface epidermal cell
IEL	Intraepithelial lymphocyte
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IFN	Interferon
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
IVC	Individually ventilated cages
J region	Joining region gene segment of TCR
kD	Kilodalton
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor
LB	Luria broth agar
MCA	Methylcholanthrene
MCP	Monocyte chemoattractant protein
MCC	Mast cell chymase
MEM	Minimum Essential Medium
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MoAb	Monoclonal antibody
mRNA	Messenger RNA
N region	Non-germline encoded nucleotide region of TCR
NOA	Naruto Research Institute Otsuka Atrichia
NK	Natural killer

NOD	Non-obese diabetic
NP-40	Nonident P-40
PAF	Platelet-activating factor
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PE-	Phycoerythrin-conjugated
PLC	Phospholipase C
PMA	Phorbol myristate acetate
PTD	Post-transfection day
QTL	Quantitative trait locus
RAG	Recombinase Activating Gene
RBL	Rat basophil leukemia cells
rpm	Rotations per minute
RT	Reverse transcriptase
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SpD	Spontaneous dermatitis
SPF	Specific pathogen-free
SSLP	Simple sequence length polymorphism
Т	Thymine base
TAE	0.04 M Tris-acetate, 0.001 M EDTA
TCR	T cell receptor
TdT	Terminal deoxyribonucleotidyl transferase
Tg	Transgenic
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Thy-1+ DEC	Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cell
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TPA	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol
U	Units
V region	Variable region gene segment of TCR

#### I. INTRODUCTION

#### A. BACKGROUND OF γδ T CELLS

T cells are critical effectors of the vertebrate adaptive immune system. In most mammals the vast majority of recirculating T cells in the blood and peripheral lymphoid tissues (>90%) express an antigen-specific T-cell receptor (TCR), which includes a disulfide-linked heterodimeric glycoprotein composed of a 42-45 kilodalton (kD)  $\alpha$  chain and a 35-42 kD  $\beta$  chain; each chain contains a variable and constant domain, a transmembrane region, and a relatively short cytoplasmic tail [1]. The  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chain together serve to recognize specific antigens. Conventionally viewed as thymus-derived cells that recirculate through lymph nodes and spleen via blood and lymph, these socalled  $\alpha\beta$  T cells enter tissues following antigen-specific activation and mediate reactions designed to control infection by pathogens foreign to the host [2]. The  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are associated with either the CD4 or CD8 co-receptor cell-surface protein. CD4 T cells recognize only peptides presented by self-Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class II molecules on the surface of target cells and differentiate according to their cytokine pattern into CD4 T<sub>H</sub>1 and T<sub>H</sub>2 effector cells that activate macrophages and Bcell responses to antigen, respectively. CD8 T cells, on the other hand, recognize peptides bound only to MHC class I molecules, and differentiate into cytotoxic CD8 T cells [2]. The TCR as a whole is composed of the ligand-binding heterodimer closely associated with four additional, nonpolymorphic polypeptide chains [3]. These nonpolymorphic transmembrane polypeptides, namely CD3ε, CD3γ, CD3δ, and TCRζ chains [4], are collectively known as the CD3 complex, which plays a critical role in

receptor assembly and cell-surface expression [5]. In addition, the CD3 complex is the key through which signals are transduced from the TCR to the cell upon TCR activation and cross-linking by antigen [5]. Antigen recognition and functional activities of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are understood in great depth, and therefore, have often been generalized to all T cells. It is only in the recent past that we have begun to understand a distinct set of T cells, comprising a minority of recirculating T cells (<10%), known as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [6, 7].

The study of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is relatively recent and stems from the discovery of their rearranged genes, rather than from any knowledge of their biological function [8]. The existence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells was not suspected when the TCR  $\gamma$  gene was first cloned independently from the genes for TCR  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in early 1984. Several years passed before cells expressing the  $\gamma$  gene product were discovered, which were found to express this y chain as part of a CD3-associated heterodimer in conjunction with a second unidentified chain [9-15]. Within the next three years, the other TCR subunit of this unique heterodimer was discovered and designated TCR  $\delta$ . The gene encoding it was identified based upon gene rearrangement and subtractive hybridization [9, 16, 17], with its location found to be within the TCR  $\alpha$  locus [8, 18]. Further studies showed that cells expressing  $\gamma\delta$  heterodimers did indeed exist and represented a new T cell class. Thus the immunology of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has been progressing in a "reversed direction," i.e. from genes to the TCR and from the TCR to a new class of lymphocytes [19]. The four TCR chain gene families ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ) appear strongly conserved across more than 450 million years of evolution of the jawed vertebrates [9, 20]. Since their discovery,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been recognized as regular constituents of higher immune systems, with major progress having been made in elucidating both their physiological roles and the nature of their antigenic

recognition [9]. Yet, a compelling explanation for the evolutionary conservation of  $\gamma\delta$  cells and the strong selective pressure for their retention is still lacking. While much is known about TCR  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  gene organization, sequence repertoire, and ontogeny, our understanding of the role of these cells in the immune system and the mechanisms by which they function remains at best, only modest [8].

### γδ TCR Gene Structure

Like the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR, the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR is expressed as a heterodimeric cell surface molecule [10, 19]. Cell surface expression of the heterodimer and signaling through the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR also require association with the CD3 complex of transmembrane proteins. Thus, several similarities exist between the overall structure of the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR complex and the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR complex [21]. However, a more detailed analysis of  $\gamma\delta$  TCR structure has revealed substantial differences with  $\alpha\beta$  TCRs as well.

TCR proteins are derived from sets of germline genes containing arrays of coding segments, named variable (V), joining (J), and in the case of  $\beta$  and  $\delta$ , diversity (D) regions [2]. The genomic organization of the TCR genes is shown schematically in Figure 1 [22]. Recirculating  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs exhibit an enormous collective diversity which is generated through a variety of mechanisms during the process of recombination. One mechanism is combinatorial diversity through somatic rearrangement of the genes through the complex of enzymes termed V(D)J recombinase, which brings different coding segments into juxtaposition to produce a functional gene; such gene rearrangement occurs during thymic development and is dependent on Recombinase



Figure 1. Schematic representation of murine T cell receptor loci. TCR-V gene segments are shown as Arrows depict transcriptional orientation. The nomenclature used in this transcript is from Heilig & Tonegawa 1986 [60]. solid boxes; -D as bold vertical lines; -J as vertical lines; and -C as hatched boxes.
Activating Gene (RAG) products, which are the lymphoid specific components of the V(D)J recombinase [2].

For  $\alpha\beta$  TCRs, ~100 V $\alpha$  and ~50 V $\beta$  loci allow for ~5,0000 different combinations. However, the vast majority of TCR diversity among such recirculating cells is concentrated within the V-J or V-D-J junctional region. The huge diversity potential of the junctional regions of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  genes is calculated to allow ~10<sup>15</sup> different coding segments [23]. Junctional (CDR3 region) diversity is achieved through the activities of two enzymes: 1) DNA exonuclease, through which the recombining gene segment ends are variably trimmed; and 2) terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT), which mediates insertion of variable numbers of non-germline-encoded (N) nucleotides into these junctions. Of note, TdT is known to be expressed particularly abundantly in thymocytes during late fetal thymic ontogeny [24]. This marked TCR heterogeneity allows for the collective capacity of recirculating T cells to recognize a vast array of foreign antigens. The  $\gamma$  chain genes always involve V-J rearrangement, while the  $\delta$  chain genes are assembled via V-D-J rearrangement, frequently involving D-D joining.

Additional, sometimes quite striking diversity is generated by the inclusion of germline-derived nucleotides (P elements), perhaps by transfer of nucleotides to the blunt end of the opposite strand by a novel enzyme prior to trimming, insertion of non-germline encoded nucleotides, and ligation [25]. Collectively, this marked TCR heterogeneity allows for the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR recognition of a vast array of foreign antigens [2].

In marked contrast to the large number of V and J segments in the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  loci, the  $\gamma$  locus consists of only four J $\gamma$  genes, each associated with a C $\gamma$  gene, and seven V $\gamma$ genes [22, 26-29]. The  $\delta$  locus, located within the  $\alpha$  locus between the V $\alpha$  and



Ja segments [18], contains approximately 10 V8 genes, along with two D and two J elements upstream of a single C gene [22]. With such a small number of Vy and V $\delta$ genes, there are less than 100 different possible combinations of coding segments through somatic rearrangement. However, in contrast to the limited V-gene combinatorial diversity of  $\gamma\delta$  TCR, the diversity potential of the junctional regions of such receptors is actually several orders of magnitude greater than that of  $\alpha\beta$  TCR (estimated to be ~10<sup>18</sup> different combinations), with almost all the diversity concentrated at the V-J junctions of both  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains [30, 31]. As mentioned previously, the  $\delta$  locus contains two D segments, which can both be used in the same gene. The use of two D segments greatly increases the variability of the  $\delta$  chain, mainly because extra N-region nucleotides can be added at the junction between the two D gene segments as well as at the V-D and D-J junctions [2]. The existence of this extensive junctional diversity in the  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains suggests that the potential repertoire is as large, or perhaps larger, than that of  $\alpha\beta$  cells [23]. However, evidence has shown that  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chain diversity may be much more restricted in certain anatomical sites, as will be discussed below.

### Lineage, Development, and Distribution

In the fetal mouse thymus, productive rearrangement and surface expression of  $\gamma\delta$  TCR precedes that of  $\alpha\beta$  TCR [31]. CD3+  $\gamma\delta$ + cells appear as early as fetal day 14, and outnumber CD3+  $\alpha\beta$ + thymocytes until about fetal day 17 [10, 32]. Studies have shown that productive rearrangement and expression of  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  genes during ontogeny is not random but rather is highly ordered, with subsets expressing a strikingly homogeneous TCR arising in "waves" at different times in ontogeny [31, 32]. The first wave expresses

an invariant TCR composed of V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 [33]. Appearing around fetal day 14, these  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  T cells later become established selectively in the epidermis. After a few days  $V\gamma$ 5-bearing cells decline and are replaced by cells expressing the  $V\gamma$ 6 gene, also paired with the V $\delta$ 1 chain. In normal healthy mice, these cells colonize the mucosal epithelia of the tongue, vagina, uterus, and lung [21]. In both the V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\gamma$ 6, as well as the V $\delta$ 1. chains of these very early yo thymocytes, there is a virtual complete lack of non-germline encoded (N) nucleotides between the various coding segments, reflecting the absence of the enzyme TdT from these early fetal T cells [24]. After these initial waves, T cells are produced no longer in bursts but in a continuous fashion. By fetal day 17-18, CD3+  $\alpha\beta$  T cells predominate, comprising more than 95% of the thymoctye population [2]. The  $\gamma\delta$  T cells produced at this stage differ in several ways from those of the early waves. They exhibit a more diverse receptor repertoire, for which several different V gene segments have been used, including Vy1, 2, 4, and 7. These particular Vy chains are often paired with various V $\delta$  genes, and are later found mainly in peripheral lymphoid tissues rather than in epithelial sites (though they do populate the epithelia of the lung and intestines) [2]. Additionally, in contrast to the early  $\gamma \delta^+$  cells, the receptor sequences have abundant N-nucleotide additions, resulting in markedly heterogeneous junctional regions [31].

Despite similarities in the development of peripheral  $\gamma\delta$  T-cell populations, enormous differences exist between species regarding the tissue distributions and overall sizes of  $\gamma\delta$  T-cell subsets [34]. For example, most peripheral  $\gamma\delta$  cells are double negative for CD4 and CD8 [20]. In the periphery, 0.5-10% of peripheral blood T cells in the human and ~3% of T cells in the murine spleen and lymph nodes are CD4–CD8–  $\gamma\delta$  cells [10]. In the chicken, on the other hand, the proportion of  $\gamma\delta$  cells in peripheral blood and

spleen is higher, approaching 30% of CD3+ T cells, with most (~70%) chicken  $\gamma\delta$  cells in the spleen being CD4–CD8+ cells. The remainder are CD4+CD8– cells, as are  $\gamma\delta$  cells in chicken blood [10].  $\gamma\delta$  T cells overall are comparable in numbers to  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in sheep, cattle, pigs, and chickens, while they are rather infrequent in primates and rodents [21]. The biological significance of these differences has yet to be made clear. If  $\gamma\delta$  Tcell subsets are functionally specialized, the differences may reflect varying requirements for these functions among the species. In order to elucidate the physiologic purposes for these cells, it is logical to approach the study of  $\gamma\delta$  T-cell subsets within an organism as separate entities and to attempt to identify and assess their individual functions, as a crucial adjunct to comparing  $\gamma\delta$  and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in a more global way.

### Intraepithelial Lymphocytes (IELs)

By nature, body surfaces have been designed to inherently limit infection. In addition to having rapid-acting innate responses, such as epithelial cells that synthesize and secrete chemokines, cytokines, and anti-microbial peptides (e.g. defensins), epithelia harbor cells of the adaptive immune system that provide local protection [35]. For example, B cells produce secretory immunoglobulin A, which can neutralize pathogens as well as bind endocytosed pathogens during transcytosis across epithelial cells [36]. Additionally, substantial numbers of T cells are constitutively resident within epithelia. Such intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) may be among the most abundant T cell subsets given the large surface area of epithelia [35].

IELs are distinct from systemic T cells in several ways. One of the most distinguishing characteristics of IELs is their subset composition. As previously

described, conventional  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are associated with either CD4 or CD8, which consequently guides recognition of antigen in the context of MHC class I or II molecules respectively. IELs, on the other hand, appear to function in the absence of  $CD4/CD8\alpha\beta$ coreceptors [35]. Studies have shown that IELs are usually positive for only CD8 $\alpha$ without CD8 $\beta$  (CD8 $\alpha$ + $\beta$ -) or negative for both CD4 and CD8 (CD4-CD8 $\alpha\beta$ -) [33, 37-39]. T cells expressing CD8 $\alpha\alpha$  homodimer are essentially absent from the circulation. whereas they comprise a large fraction of the CD8+ cells which make up >70% of small intestinal IELs [37]. CD4-CD8- "double-negative" (DN) cells are also rare in the systemic circulation, yet they make up >10% of murine small intestinal IELs and the majority of IELs in other compartments [40]. The observation that IELs are not typically associated with CD4 or CD8 coreceptors suggests that IELs may recognize their ligands directly or that they may preferentially recognize nonclassical MHC-like molecules [35]. Additionally, not only are IELs commonly enriched in TCR $\gamma\delta$ + cells, they frequently exhibit markedly limited tissue-associated antigen receptor diversity [20, 21, 41]. Between 35-65% of murine CD8+ small intestinal IELs and virtually all murine epidermal and vaginal IELs express TCR  $\gamma\delta$  repertoires that are specific to their particular site and distinct from those found in the blood [20]. The prevalence in epithelial surfaces of  $\gamma\delta$  cells with extremely limited diversity, together with the relative absence of  $\gamma\delta$  cells from lymph nodes and T cell areas of the spleen, initiated the hypothesis that  $\gamma\delta$  cells do not routinely rely on professional antigen-presenting cells for antigen recognition [20]. Instead, they may perform in a type of "first line of defense" role [42]. This hypothesis proposes that  $\gamma\delta$  cells recognize generic immunological "stress antigens" that are markers of cell infection or transformation rather than unique pathogen-specific epitopes. The

unconventional antigen specificities of IELs are a rapidly-growing area of investigation, which will be discussed later in further detail.

Though CD4+  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are under-represented in many IEL compartments, not all epithelial surfaces demonstrate such distinction [40, 43]. For example, among murine large intestinal IELs, the majority of cells are still CD4 or CD8 $\alpha\beta$ , similar to those found in the systemic circulation [44, 45].

The heterogeneity within IELs and the variability among IEL compartments have led Hayday et al. (2001) to recently propose a simplified categorization of these cells. Type "a" includes the conventional TCR $\alpha\beta$ + cells that are activated within the systemic circulation, recognizing their antigens through MHC restriction. Type "b" cells include TCR $\alpha\beta$ +CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + and TCR $\gamma\delta$ + IELs that respond to antigens outside of conventional MHC restriction [40]. Several features distinguish type b from type a IELs, including not only their lack of conventional MHC restriction, but also their inability to be reconstituted from peripheral lymph nodes [46-48] and their lack of immunological memory of infection [49-53]. Additionally, serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) applied directly ex vivo to murine TCR $\gamma\delta$ + and TCR $\alpha\beta$ + intestinal IELs has revealed differential gene expression between type a and type b IELs [40, 54]. The similarity of gene expression between TCR $\gamma\delta$ + DN IELs, TCR $\gamma\delta$ +CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + IELs and TCR $\alpha\beta$ +CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ + IELs indeed forms the basis for their collective type b classification [40]. Of particular note among the genes expressed highly in type a IELs and not in type b is Ly6C, a T cell memory marker. Conversely, only type b IELs distinctively express high levels of Ly49E, a receptor that recognizes MHC class I molecules and inhibits killing by NK cells by overruling the actions of the killer receptors [2, 54]. Such

distinctions provide insight into the different physiological roles played by these IEL subtypes.

# Dendritic Epidermal T Cells (DETC)

One of the most intriguing populations of type b IELs are murine epidermisrestricted dendritic T cells. In the early 1980s, cells in the murine epidermis were found to characteristically express the Thy-I alloantigen, in addition to forming a conspicuous dendritic network among basal layer keratinocytes [55, 56]. Thus, they were initially named Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells (DEC). It was soon discovered that the adult epidermis of all normal strains of mice was populated by Ia–, CD4–, CD8– cells that displayed functional properties of T cells. The properties included responsiveness to mitogen and interleukin (IL)-2, secretion of IL-2, and various forms of cytotoxicity [57-59]. The overwhelming majority of Thy-1+ DEC in normal adult epidermis was soon found to be CD3+ in association with a  $\gamma$ \delta-type of TCR; thus they were renamed DETC.

As the DETC antigen repertoire was further explored, it was discovered in 1988 that four independent DETC lines isolated from trunk skin of AKR/J mice expressed TCRs of striking homogeneity [33]. The DETC clones used identical  $\gamma$  coding segments (V $\gamma$ 5J $\gamma$ 1C $\gamma$ 1)\*, as well as identical  $\delta$  coding segments (V $\delta$ 1D $\delta$ 2J $\delta$ 2C $\delta$ ). (\*Using the nomenclature for murine V $\gamma$  gene segments set by Heilig and Tonegawa 1986 [60]). In addition, the junctional regions of both the  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains were remarkably homogeneous, with very little exonucleolytic nibbling or N nucleotide insertions. Quite startling was the realization that these TCRs were identical to those expressed by the first wave of fetal thymocytes. Further studies using both flow cytometric staining and polymerase chain

reaction analysis on freshly isolated DETC from a variety of different mouse strains confirmed this homogeneity of DETC TCRs [32, 61]. Concomitantly, monoclonal antibodies (MoAb) specific for the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR were being used to analyze uncultured epidermal cells from various mouse strains. Stained epidermal cell suspensions using the MoAb by the name of F536, which is specific for V $\gamma$ 5+ TCRs irrespective of the paired  $\delta$  chain, showed that over 90% of the CD3+ cells were V $\gamma$ 5+ [62]. By a different approach, the 17D1 MoAb, which reacts only with cells expressing the V $\gamma$ 5 chain associated with V $\delta$ 1/D $\delta$ 2/J $\delta$ 2+  $\delta$  chains, was used along with anti-CD3 to double stain epidermal sheets. These results demonstrated that over 95% of CD3+ cells also stained with 17D1 [63]. Certainly, these results imply that gene expression and somatic diversification in DETC progenitors are strictly regulated, and that DETC recognition of antigen may be extremely limited [33, 64].

Another striking characteristic of DETC is their apparent restriction in tissue distribution, so far having been isolated only in the skin.  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1+$  cells have not been detected in any peripheral lymphoid tissues, including blood, lymph nodes, or spleen [64]. Additionally, cells with the DETC-type TCR have not been demonstrated in other epithelial sites known to harbor other distinct subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  cells. For example, IELs in gut epithelium have been found to selectively express  $V\gamma7+$  cells, which, unlike DETC, are not particularly paired with a specific  $\delta$  chain. In addition, both the V $\gamma7$  and the paired  $\delta$  chain show considerable diversity in their junctional sequences [65]. The  $\gamma\delta$  T cells of the epithelium of the vagina, uterus, and tongue, on the other hand, are similar to DETC in expressing a monomorphic TCR devoid of junctional diversity, with one of the TCR chains consistently being V $\delta1$ . However, they distinctly express the V $\gamma6$  instead of

the V $\gamma$ 5 chain [66]. Likewise, the profile of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in normal mouse lung is distinct from that expressed in the skin, with cells in this location preferentially using V $\gamma$ 2, V $\delta$ 1, and V $\delta$ 6 genes [67].

Although the role of the thymus in the generation of most T cells is well established [2], the involvement of the thymus in the generation of DETC was less clear. Evidence has accumulated over the past ten years that support the derivation of DETC from early fetal thymocytes. First, identical  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCRs are seen on the earliest CD3+ fetal thymocytes, which appear around day 12-13 of gestation, and remain the predominant subtype until day 17 [32]. In thymocytes examined after birth, the Vy5 or Vol coding segments are rarely seen [68]. Second, reconstitution experiments, using either thymus grafts and cell suspensions or purified CD3+ or 17D1+ day 16-17 fetal thymocytes into neonate *nu/nu* ("nude" or athymic) mice (which otherwise lack CD3+  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1+$  DETC in the epidermis) showed evidence of gradual accumulation of such cells in the epidermis in a manner consistent with in situ proliferation [69]. Interestingly, engraftment with thymic lobes from newborn mice did not result in the appearance of donor-type DETC in the skin of recipients, supporting the fact that  $V\gamma 5+$  cells may not be detectable in the thymus after gestational day 18 [32]. In addition, transfer of CD3- or  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  – fetal thymocytes failed to result in epidermal CD3+  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$ + cells. These results indicate that DETC express their  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  genes even before migrating to the skin and are most likely thymic-dependent [64]. Yet these studies have not precluded the possibility that some DETC are also derived independently of the thymus. Epidermis of old nude mice in fact show dendritic CD3+, albeit 17D1-, cells [63]. In addition, grafts of 16-day fetal skin found to initially contain only scattered Thy-1+ CD3- TCR- cells

gradually become populated by skin graft donor-type CD3+  $V\gamma$ 5+ DETC, which suggests an intracutaneous, possibly thymic-independent differentiation [70].

The mechanism by which TCR diversity among DETC remains so limited has yet to be defined. It has been postulated that DETC precursors actually have a limited gene rearrangement potential [71, 72]. However, recent studies have shown that TCR conformation rather than TCR specificity of particular gene segments may in fact be more important for the function or development of lymphocyte repertoires associated with a specific anatomic site, including the murine epidermis [73-75]. Utilizing disruption of the  $\nabla\gamma5$  gene, Mallick-Wood et al. (1998) analyzed murine epidermal sheets from  $V\gamma 5$ -/- and  $V\gamma 5$ +/+ littermates with MoAbs to  $V\gamma 5$ , TCR $\delta$ , and CD3 $\epsilon$ . As expected,  $V\gamma5+$  cells were readily detectable in epidermis from  $V\gamma5+/+$  mice, but not in that from  $V\gamma 5$ -/- mice. However, dendritic CD3+ TCR $\delta$ + DETC were present in  $V\gamma 5$  –/- mice in numbers indistinguishable from  $V\gamma 5$  +/+ controls, implying that other  $\gamma \delta$ TCRs could substitute for  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$ . Surprisingly, it was discovered that staining with the MoAb 17D1, which ordinarily reacts only with cells expressing both V $\delta$ 1 and V $\gamma$ 5, defining a characteristic DETC TCR conformation [63, 64], demonstrated epidermal sheets from V $\gamma$ 5–/– mice to exhibit cells with the same conformation. This different  $\gamma\delta$ pairing associated with an outwardly normal DETC population was found to be  $V\gamma 1/V\delta 1$ . Thus, it appears that, similar to most B cells and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  cells are associated more with an antigen receptor conformation than with simple linear epitopes specifically encoded by the Vy and V $\delta$  gene segments normally used by DETC [73]. In another study [74],  $V\delta 1$  –/– mice were shown to have preserved DETC development in relatively normal numbers, with the most frequently used TCR $\delta$  chain being V $\delta 6$ .

A recent study by Ferrero et al. (2001) presents data further supporting this notion that DETC TCR conformation is critical to their development. Through analysis of early fetal thymocytes, the authors found that  $V\gamma 5$  paired with both  $V\delta 5$  and  $V\delta 6.3$  as early as gestational day 16, showing that  $V\gamma 5$  can pair with V $\delta$ s other than V $\delta$ 1. Thus, TCR diversity of intrathymic DETC precursors appears much greater than that observed among DETC in the skin. This observation raises the possibility that only fetal thymic  $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing an appropriate TCR will localize later in the epidermis [75]. The authors of this study further investigated the importance of  $\gamma\delta$  TCR specificity for DETC migration/localization in the skin by generating a new TCR- $\delta$  transgenic (Tg) mouse. using the V $\delta$ 6.3 segment, which was chosen for its ability to pair with V $\gamma$ 5 in putative DETC precursors of wild-type mice. As expected, fetal thymocytes expressed the V $\delta 6.3$ transgene in association with  $V\gamma 5$  as early as gestational day 15-16 on both wild-type and TCR- $\delta$ -/- backgrounds, with a normal percentage of DETC being found in the epidermis of wild-type V\delta6.3Tg mice. Interestingly, virtually all DETC from these wild-type V $\delta$ 6.3Tg mice expressed V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 6.3 segments, in contrast to non-Tg littermates. Surprisingly, no CD3+ cells were found in epidermal cell suspensions from TCR- $\delta$ -/-V $\delta 6.3$ Tg mice. With the observation that V $\delta 6.3$ Tg  $\gamma \delta$  T cells indeed reconstitute other  $\gamma \delta$ T cell compartments, including those in the intestine, liver, and spleen, the authors concluded that a second TCR- $\delta$  expressed by wild-type mice, most probably V $\delta$ 1 as shown by their PCR and sequence analysis, is a prerequisite for DETC maturation and/or localization in the skin.

Such evidence for the selective establishment in the skin of  $\gamma\delta$  cells with TCRs of particular conformations raises several possibilities. One hypothesis is that certain DETC

cells mature as a result of selection by specific "DETC selecting ligands" in the fetal thymus and thus that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may pass through a similar intrathymic selection process as that by  $\alpha\beta$  T cells [75]. Another possibility is that TCR specificity itself directs the migration of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to the skin. Yet another prospect is that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells express diverse TCR specificities which can all migrate to the skin, but only those having a permissive TCR would be retained and/or locally expand [75]. Such a selection could be attributed to the recognition of cellular antigen(s) within the target tissue, such as any expressed specifically by keratinocytes in the skin in a sort of peripheral positive selection process.

If a particular DETC TCR conformation is critical for DETC development (i.e. migration and/or localization), as suggested by these studies, as opposed to simple linear epitope recognition as encoded by specific TCR gene segments, the question is emphasized as to the specificity of the DETC TCR in terms of ligand recognition and TCR activation. If it is assumed that the different DETC populations found in these experiments serve the same function within the epithelia, it can be concluded that ligand recognition by DETC TCR is not specific to  $\gamma\delta$  pairing. Rather the conformation of the complementarity-determining region (CDR) 3, which, by extrapolation from immunoglobulin (Ig) and TCR $\alpha\beta$ , is likely to be an important contact site for antigen [73], may not be specific to any one epitope. Another possibility it that the DETC ligand(s) may map partly or wholly outside CDR3, still markedly and selectively activating the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, just as anti-clonotypic antibody and superantigens act on  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in vivo [76, 77].

# TCR Specificity/Antigen Recognition by DETC

One of the keys to unfolding the elusive biological functions of DETC lies in discovering the specific ligands of their TCRs and elucidating the manner in which they respond to their ligands. While conventional  $\alpha\beta$  T cells recognize their antigens in the context of highly polymorphic classical MHC molecules guided by their expression of CD4 or CD8 coreceptors [6, 8], the observation that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, particularly IELs and especially DETC, are usually double-negative lends favor to the idea that IELs may preferentially recognize nonclassical MHC-like molecules. The interactions between  $\gamma\delta$ TCRs and their ligands are believed to be distinct from those directing the interaction between  $\alpha\beta$  TCRs and their ligands [8, 78]. There may be two types of TCRy $\delta$ -mediated T-cell stimulation [6]. The first may be stimulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells by antigen-specific ligands that bind to a highly diverse TCR  $\gamma\delta$  site. In this case, ligands would include the antigenic peptide plus a presenting molecule, such as MHC, MHC-like molecule, or CD1, or the protein itself. Primary stimulation would cause monoclonal expansion of  $\gamma\delta$  cells with a unique TCR. The second form of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell stimulation may be through the binding of ligands to an invariant site on distinct TCR  $\gamma\delta$  isotypes [6]. Here, ligands would be more ubiquitous and perhaps highly conserved, such as a heat shock protein (Hsp) peptide [79], that aet as generic immunological distress signals rather than unique pathogen-specific epitopes [35, 42].

Of murine and human  $\gamma\delta$  T cells that have been stimulated by peptides in the context of MHC class I or II molecules, some conventional antigen recognition by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has been shown [80-83]. Yet the majority of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been found to be MHC independent. Murine  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been identified that are under the control of the

MHC class I-like gene Qa-1 within the H-2T locus, with later experiments showing the ability of the Qa-1 molecule to bind Hsp peptides [84-86]. These  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were found to recognize synthetic peptides in a processing-independent fashion [84]. Evidence is indeed increasing that murine  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can recognize surface-expressed proteins directly and independently from antigen-processing and MHC presentation [6]. For example, a herpes virus protein was discovered to stimulate  $\gamma\delta$  T cells directly without need for processing or presentation [87].

Genetic analysis of the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR reveals that the CDR1 and CDR2 regions are highly diverse, unlike that of the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR [8]. With such diversity, it appears that the  $\gamma\delta$ TCR would not accommodate recognition in the context of MHC molecules. Yet, in the past decade, the closely related nonclassical MHC class I molecules T10 and T22 have been identified as ligands for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, two independently isolated clones called KN6 and G8 [88, 89]. Analysis of the T10/T22 recognition by G8 shows it to be clearly different from MHC class I recognition by  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, with T10/T22 not requiring peptide or any other ligand for cell surface expression or recognition by γδ T cells [90, 91]. The T22 or T10 heavy chain need only be associated with  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin ( $\beta_2$ M) in a properly folded and stable heterodimer in order to be recognized by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and in turn stimulate them [91]. There is no evidence that T10 or T22 present antigen to  $\gamma\delta$ TCR. In fact, the primary sequences of these two nonclassical MHC molecules suggest that the necessary structural features to bind peptide are absent [88, 92]. Structural differences found between T22 and classical MHC class I (class Ia) molecules, with the peptide binding groove being narrower and shorter than that of the conventional MHC molecule, further support the idea that  $\gamma\delta$  and  $\alpha\beta$  TCRs recognize antigens differently

and that  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs may in fact be more like immunoglobulins in their recognition properties [91]. Interestingly, it has been found that the affinity of the G8 interaction with T10 and T22 is of higher affinity than most  $\alpha\beta$  TCR-ligand interactions, suggesting that these  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may require TCRs with unusually high on-rates in order to antigenically capture these ligands, which are only expressed transiently at the cell surface [90]. Additionally, the dissociation rate of G8 from T10 or T22 has been found to be significantly lower than that for most  $\alpha\beta$  TCR-peptide-MHC interactions [90, 93]. Thus, the threshold at which  $\gamma\delta$  T cells respond to T10 or T22 may be much higher than that required to trigger  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. Such a mechanism may play a key role in preventing the easy activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells by self antigens inappropriately.

Additional ligands have recently been identified for human  $\gamma\delta$  T cells: distant MHC class I homologues called MICA and MICB [94, 95]. Unlike MHC class Ia proteins, the expression of MIC proteins in normal tissues is restricted mainly to intestinal epithelium [96]. Functionally distinct from classical MHC class I molecules, MICA and MICB seem to play no role in presenting intracellular antigen [95]. The recently determined crystal structure of MICA supports this notion, as it revealed an inverted peptide binding groove facing the cell essentially incompatible with peptide presentation [97]. Rather than antigen-presenting molecules, they may be functioning as self-antigens that can be stress-induced [95]. MICA and MICB have also been implicated as tumor-associated antigens, with expression being shown in carcinomas of the lung, breast, kidney, ovary, prostate, and colon, with significantly increased frequencies of V $\delta$ 1  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [94]. Both MICA and MICB are recognized by cytotoxic V $\delta$ 1+  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [95]. V $\delta$ 1  $\gamma\delta$  T cell lines and clones derived from the tumors were

shown to recognize these molecules on tumor cell lines and on heterologous and autologous tumor cells. Thus, MICA/B may serve as antigens for Vô1 vô T cells in a process of tumor immune surveillance [94]. Though it appears that the recognition of these MHC homologues is mediated via TCR recognition [95], the nature of the interactions is eurious since T cells expressing diverse CDR3 regions are capable of engaging these molecules [95]. It is possible that such a common antigen specificity might enable a subset of V $\delta$ 1 y $\delta$ T cells to respond uniformly to MICA/B, which may act as generic tissue "stress" signals triggered by infection or transformation [94]. No evidence thus far has demonstrated definitive interaction of MICA/B with γδ TCR. More recently, a receptor for MICA has been detected on most  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, as well as on CD8+  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and natural killer (NK) cells, identified as NKG2D [98]. It has been shown that engagement of NKG2D can activate eytolytic responses by γδ T eells and NK cells against epithelial tumor cells and transfectants expressing MICA. Thus, NKG2D reeognition of MICA and MICB may serve to provide enhancement of innate antitumor activities of NK cells and antigen-specific T-eell responses [98]. Though the MICA/B locus is not conserved in the mouse, and thus no murine MICA/B homologues exist, mice express NKG2D, as well as counterpart NKG2D ligands. These NKG2D ligands have been cloned and found to be MHC class I-like molecules of the Rae-1 family and H60 Intriguingly, it has been recently demonstrated that skin cells exposed to [99]. carcinogens express Rae-1 and H60 [100]. These molecules are indeed favorable prospects to be DETC-specific ligands.

#### **Functional Activities of DETC**

DETC comprise one of two populations of leukocytes in the epidermis of adult mice, the other being Langerhans cells. As they reside normally in epithelial tissues, DETC live a rather sessile life in close contact with keratinocytes [101]. The biologic roles of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and DETC in particular, with such curious and marked genetic and anatomic restriction, remain one of the most persistent and obvious questions. Nonetheless, several different functions have so far been described.

#### A. Tissue Maintenance

Given that DETC exclusively colonize the epidermis, it seems probable that their functions are associated specifically with this tissue. In fact, it was found that epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells do indeed support the growth of keratinocytes through secreting a factor indistinguishable from keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), also referred to as fibroblast growth factor VII (FGFVII) [102, 103]. Interestingly, freshly isolated resting DETC do not produce KGF, while DETC activated with anti-TCR MoAb do express KGF. Other types of epithelial/mucosal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, such as activated  $\gamma\delta$  IELs from the gastrointestinal tract, but not lymphoid  $\alpha\beta$  or  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, have been found to produce KGF, demonstrating a likely interdependence between  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and their surrounding epithelial cells [102, 104]. Because KGF is also produced by dermal fibroblasts [103], it is possible that KGF production by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is merely redundant. However, it is more likely that production of this factor by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells becomes important under conditions when fibroblasts are not stimulated, such as in response to signals that are only perceived by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, and possibly through the γδ TCR [21]. Again, the ligand(s) for DETC are not yet known.

Studies have shown that keratinocytes themselves express a ligand for the antigen receptor of DETC. Specifically, Havran et al. (1991) showed that DETC were stimulated to produce lymphokines and to proliferate on contact with freshly isolated skin keratinocytes or a cultured keratinocyte cell line, PAM [105]. Stimulation of DETC could not be detected, on the other hand, after coculture with freshly isolated fibroblasts. splenocytes, or peritoneal exudates cells, showing that DETC can respond to keratinocytes but not to other cells tested. The authors of this study also demonstrated, through antibody inhibition with MoAbs specific for  $V\gamma3$  TCR and CD3 $\varepsilon$  chain, as well as TCR gene transfer experiments, that the responses of DETC to keratinocytes are indeed TCR dependent. With these results showing that DETC TCR can recognize antigens expressed by skin-derived keratinocytes, but with no evidence that DETC are activated in situ in normal skin, Havran et al. (1991) proposed that the antigen is induced by "stress" that is associated with dissociation of the tissue or by in vitro tissue culture. A potential target may be antigens derived from endogenous Hsps, as most mammalian cells in tissue culture can express increased levels of Hsps [106, 107]. Other studies have consistently provided evidence supporting the ability of injured keratinocytes or transformed keratinocyte cell lines to stimulate DETC. It has been shown that keratinocyte damage in situ, caused by contact sensitizing agents, induces localized proliferation of epidermal yo T cells, whereas the same agents do not stimulate the DETC directly [108-110]. These results strongly suggest that DETC recognize keratinocyte damage and function in a form of self-surveillance, allowing such resident invariant y8 T cells to respond to a variety of deleterious agents without the need for diverse TCRs that have specificity for foreign antigens [105]. Indeed, this form of immune recognition may
have arisen as one of the earliest forms of protection against damage and disease. Such stimulation of resident DETC by damaged keratinocytes may in turn be capable of promoting keratinocyte growth and wound healing [111]. The interaction between  $\gamma\delta$ IELs and their epidermal neighbors is in fact bidirectional. DETC depend on the presence of IL-7 for their growth and differentiation, which keratinocytes have been shown to produce [35, 112]. Moreover, IL-7 prevents apoptotic cell death that would ordinarily be induced in DETC when exposed to exogenous corticosteroids [112]. Extension studies of different cytokines expressed by keratinocytes at mRNA and/or protein levels have additionally shown epidermal cytokines to regulate the growth of DETC in three different ways: 1) a paracrine mechanism by which keratinocyte-derived cytokines (including IL-7 and tumor necrosis factor [TNF]- $\alpha$ ) promote the growth of DETC; 2) an autocrine mechanism by which DETC-derived cytokines, including IL-2 and IL-4, support their own growth; and 3) a reciprocal pathway in which DETC-derived interferon (IFN)-y modulates the growth of keratinocytes [112]. Thus, the symbiotic relationship between DETC and their neighboring keratinocytes is clearly demonstrated.

Further evidence for the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in epithelial homeostasis comes from studies of intestinal epithelia of mice. IELs are known to regulate enterocyte turnover in monkeys and in guinea pigs [44] and to express enzymes that regulate lipid and cholesterol metabolism [113]. Furthermore, in mice and humans, specific adhesion molecules, namely  $\alpha E\beta$ 7 integrin on IELs and E-cadherin on enterocytes promote close contact between IELs and intestinal epithelial cells [114, 115]. This adhesion mechanism may not only promote selective immigration into and retention of intestinal IELs in the gut, but also support functional interactions between both cell types [6]. Mice that are

congenitally deficient in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been found to have a reduction in epithelial cell turnover, as well as overall reduced crypt cell numbers and diminished epithelial differentiation [116]. The influence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells on intestinal epithelial differentiation likely not only affects normal homeostasis but also tissue integrity during infections. For example, TCR $\delta$ -/- mice infected with the parasite *Eimeria vermiformis* (a natural coccidian pathogen of the mouse gut) suffer increased intestinal damage with a pathologically exaggerated pro-inflammatory  $\alpha\beta$  T cell response compared to controls, as well as exacerbated intestinal bleeding, which could be suppressed by adoptive transfer of bulk IELs. This finding indeed supports the notion that the contribution of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells lies in tissue preservation and/or the ability to regulate the consequences of the  $\alpha\beta$  T-cell response [117]. The fact that there is a selective increase in intestinal  $\gamma\delta$  IELs in patients with celiac disease lends further support to the idea that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells maintain epithelial integrity [118]. In this disease, a wheat protein allergy causes CD4+  $\alpha\beta$  T cell-mediated erosion of the small intestinal villi. The dramatic expansion of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells into the intestinal epithelium may reflect the IELs response to a pathognomonic change in the enterocytes, with the purpose to suppress tissue infiltration by systemic T cells. In fact, peak  $\gamma \delta$  IEL representation seems to correlate inversely with disease symptoms [118].

## **B.** Immunoprotection

Another role that has been implicated for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is that of recognizing and destroying pathogens directly. Specifically, activated V $\gamma5$ /V $\delta1$ + DETC were found to kill a variety of target cells, including transformed keratinocytes and melanoma tumor

cells [109], as well as to secrete a number of lymphokines [64]. Short-term DETC lines. containing about 95% Vy5+ cells, have been shown to produce small amounts of IL-4 and IFN-y when stimulated with anti-TCR MoAbs, with large amounts of IL-2, while long-term (>1 year) DETC lines produce similar amounts of IL-2 and IFN-y, but no detectable IL-4 [64]. The lymphokine profile of long-term DETC appears to resemble that of CD4+ TCR  $\alpha\beta$ + T<sub>H</sub> cells, which typically promote cell-mediated immunity [2]. Studies that have produced profiles of cytokine mRNA of DETC have confirmed these findings, showing that the short-term DETC lines express mRNA for not only IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$ , but also IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, TNF- $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , and granulocyte macrophagecolony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) [119], further supporting their bias away from  $T_{\rm H2}$ and toward  $T_{\rm H1}$  [20, 120]. On the other hand, other very recent studies (Tigelaar, unpublished observations) of short-term DETC lines have shown that such lines can also express abundant messenger RNA (mRNA) transcripts for the immunoregulatory (downregulatory) cytokines transforming growth factor (TGF)-β and IL-10.

The role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in eradicating transformed epithelial cells *in vivo* leads to the hypothesis that  $\gamma\delta$  cells thereby function to not only promote epithelial integrity, but also to prevent dissemination of infected or malignant cells [42]. In fact, the protective role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells has been implicated in several studies of both infection and malignancy. From early on in the study of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, it has been noted that  $\gamma\delta$  cells are potently stimulated by mycobacteria, in addition to accumulating at certain sites of microbial replication and selectively expanding in peripheral blood or lymphoid organs in patients suffering from various bacterial or protozoal infections as well as in numerous murine infection models [67, 81, 121-129]. Furthermore, experiments using anti-TCR $\gamma\delta$  MoAbs

have been shown to exacerbate experimental infections of mice with various bacterial and protozoal pathogens [130-133]. The availability of TCRB and TCRS gene disruption mutants lacking  $\alpha\beta$  (TCR $\beta$ -/-) or  $\gamma\delta$  (TCR $\delta$ -/-) T cells, respectively, allowed for further insights. For example, in a mouse model of experimental listeriosis, both TCR $\delta$ -/- and TCR $\beta$ -/- mice proved rather resistant to infection [134]. However, when the TCR $\beta$ -/mice were treated with TCR $\gamma\delta$  MoAbs, the mice became susceptible to listeriosis. These findings suggest that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells indeed play a role in antimicrobial immunity; yet, they may be performing primarily compensatory functions that only become salient in the absence of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells [6]. Other studies have suggested an overtly protective function of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. In a study on infection by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (an aerobic, acid-fast bacillus forming exudative and granulomatous lesions), TCR $\delta$ -/- mutants succumbed to the infection while immunocompetent controls did not [135]. Likewise, airway infection of mice by *Nocardia asteroides* (an aerobic filamentous gram-positive bacteria that causes pulmonary infection progressing to abscess and sinus tract formation) leads to 100% fatality in TCR $\delta$ -/- mice, while 100% of wild-type mice clear the infection [136]. As DETC have been found to produce IFN- $\gamma$ , the phenotype exhibited in the TCR $\delta$ -/mice was likely enhanced by the failed recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages by the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells do appear to play a unique immunoprotective role since the presence of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in the TCR $\delta$ -/- infected mice was not sufficient to prevent infection and eventual mortality.

Studies on the immunoprotective functions of  $\gamma\delta$  cells using the *Eimeria vermiformis* infection system on murine intestinal mucosal surfaces have revealed additional interesting observations regarding the biological role of  $\gamma\delta$  cells.  $\alpha\beta$  T cell-

deficient mice revealed a marked susceptibility to primary infection by *Eimeria*, as well as a failure to develop immunity to rechallenge [117]. In contrast,  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-deficient mice did not show any defects in infection or immunity development. Comparison between TCR $\beta$ -/- mice and TCR( $\beta \times \delta$ )-/- mice which lack all T cells showed the latter to be even more susceptible to infection, implying that though they do not seem to be required by  $\alpha\beta$  T-cell competent mice,  $\gamma\delta$  cells do respond to the infection, as well as play a role in pathogen clearance [117]. A further comparison between IFN- $\gamma$ -/- mice and TCR( $\beta X \delta$ )-/- mice showed both models were equally susceptible to infection, lending support to the idea that  $\gamma\delta$  cells may be contributing to infection control through the production of IFN-y. Interestingly, when *Eimeria* infection was studied on mice of different ages, a marked difference in infection susceptibility was found [120]. In young mice, in complete contrast to adult mice, TCR $\beta$ -/- mice show little or no increased susceptibility to primary infection. On the other hand, infection susceptibility is markedly increased in young TCR $\delta$ -/- mice. These results fit together well with the observation that in all vertebrates in which  $\gamma\delta$  cells have been studied,  $\gamma\delta$  cells are disproportionately abundant in young animals, at the body surfaces [120]. Thus, evidence points to an hypothesis of an age-dependent role for  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in which they are more important for controlling primary infections in young animals before  $\alpha\beta$  T cells assume this role [120].

Evidence has shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may also play a role in down-regulating epithelial malignancies. Human intestinal  $\gamma\delta$  IELs have been shown to kill human bowel carcinomas and other intestinal epithelial cell lines [94, 95]. Additionally, TCR $\delta$ -/- mice have been found to be more susceptible to development of colon carcinomas [137]. Most

recently, Girardi et al. (2001) have shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-deficient mice are significantly more susceptible to cutaneous carcinogenesis. Cutaneous malignancy was induced either by inoculation of cell of the squamous cell carcinoma line PDV or by chemical carcinogenesis using intradermal injection of methylcholanthrene (MCA) or applications of dimethylbenz(*a*)anthracene (DMBA) and phorbol ester (12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol; TPA). In all three regimens,  $\gamma\delta$  T cell-deficiency promoted cutaneous tumor development. The susceptibility of  $TCR\delta$ -/- mice indeed indicates that the antitumor effect of  $\gamma\delta$  cells are not simply substituted by that of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and NK cells [100]. Interestingly, comparison of tumor development via PDV cell injection in wild-type mice, TCR $\delta$ -/- mice, TCR $\beta$ -/- mice, and TCR $\beta$ -/- $\delta$ -/- mice showed that 60% of TCR $\delta$ -/- mice developed at least one tumor, compared to <20% of control mice. Meanwhile, ~100% of injected sites developed as tumors in TCR $\beta$ -/- and TCR $\beta$ -/- $\delta$ -/mice, suggesting that  $\alpha\beta$  cells and  $\gamma\delta$  cells each regulate the growth of PDV-caused tumors, but in different manners [100].

In sum,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells appear to exert important effector functions for immunoprotection distinct from that of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. Possible mechanisms include being directly antipathogenic via cytolytic and/or T<sub>H</sub>1 activities, initiating antipathogenic activities in other cells, such as macrophages or neutrophils, via the action of cytokines, and contributing to immunoprotection through their protection and maintenance of epithelial cells via the production of epithelial growth factors [120].

## C. Immunoregulation

Increasing evidence suggests that another biological role  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may play is in the regulation of other members of the immune system. For example, macrophages are normally activated to produce cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , which has multiple biological roles including stimulation of dendritic cell migration to lymph nodes and maturation, hepatocyte activation to synthesize acute-phase proteins, and bone marrow endothelium release of neutrophils [2]. Macrophages appear to have markedly suppressed TNF- $\alpha$ production in mice lacking  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, suggesting that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may play a role in macrophage activation [138]. Additionally, in studies of Gram-negative bacteriuminduced septic shock, it has been shown that TCR $\delta$ -/- mice prove more resistant to developing shock [125]. This finding can be explained in light of the fact that Gramnegative bacterial infections provoke abundant TNF- $\alpha$  production, suggesting that the lack of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may impair TNF- $\alpha$  production and thus allow avoidance of this harmful sequelae [6].

Several studies have specifically demonstrated that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may play a critical role in the regulation of inflammation, both by controlling the response of activated  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and in the resolution of inflammation. For example, immunocompetent mice treated with anti-TCR $\gamma\delta$  MoAbs show markedly increased activation of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells reflected by IL-2 production and target cell lysis *in vitro* [139]. A murine model of infection by *Listeria monocytogenes* (a facultative intracellular bacterium) shows additional evidence. Here, intravenous or intraperitoneal inoculation of healthy immunocompetent mice resulted in a vigorous inflammatory response with the subsequent development of *Listeria*-specific cytolytic  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, leading to a clearance of infection within 7-10 days

[132, 134]. In mice lacking  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, however, resolution of the inflammatory response was much impaired; instead of small granulomatous lesions around infected hepatocytes which are eventually cleared by *Listeria*-specific  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and activated macrophages, severe liver parencymal damage ensued, characterized by large necrotic lesions and *Listeria* not confined to individual hepatocytes [132, 134]. In a separate experiment also involving *Listeria* infection, it was further shown that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells tend to increase simultaneously with or after activated  $\alpha\beta$  T-cell responses, in addition to producing IL-10, an inhibitor of activation and growth of T<sub>H</sub>1 cells [140]. Thus, it was proposed that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells regulate inflammatory responses of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells [141].

Additional studies have implicated that  $\gamma\delta$ + IELs in particular, resident in the skin or the gut, may locally down-regulate  $\alpha\beta$  T cell-initiated inflammatory responses to allergens or pathogens [117, 142-146]. In several studies, the model of contact hypersensitivity to allergens such as 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene (DNFB) has been used, from which data have been consistent with a down-regulating effect of DETC on conventional T cells (reviewed in [147]). Studies have also reported an ability of antigen-specific  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to down-regulate same allergen-induced contact hypersensitivity, possibly by the killing of allergen-specific  $\alpha\beta$  T cells [148, 149].

A model of graft versus host disease (GVHD) has previously demonstrated the integral role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in suppressing autoreactive T cells [145]. In this mouse model, a C57BL/6-derived autoreactive T-cell clone was injected intradermally into the footpad of syngeneic mice. The grafted cells were shown to take residence in the epidermis where they cause histological changes resembling those seen in human cutaneous GVHD [150]. Whereas GVHD in this model is usually self-limiting with spontaneously

recovered epidermis becoming resistant to subsequent induction of GVHD, TCR $\delta$ -/mice developed cutaneous GVHD that lasted longer than in normal controls [145]. Additionally, these mice did not show any resistance to subsequent cutaneous induction of GVHD, even though the presence of a large population of  $\alpha\beta$  T cells was detected in the place of epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. When epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were reconstituted through injections with day 16 fetal thymocytes from normal mice, resistance against GVHD was restored [145]. Such data clearly point to the role of DETC in local epithelial protection and maintenance, such as in the context of autoimmunity.

In these previous studies, none have critically tested the hypothesis that the specific subset of  $V\gamma5+$  DETC down-regulate cutaneous inflammatory reactions, while other  $\gamma\delta$ + cells do not. Recently, Girardi et al. (2002) examined the physiological consequences of DETC deficiency in several different genetic strains of y8 T celldeficient mice, in addition to conducting adoptive transfer experiments in which FVB. $\delta$ -/- (Taconic) mice received either Vy5+ cells or other subpopulations of y $\delta$  cells. The study led to several conclusions. The first observation was that a specific phenotype consisting of a spontaneous cutaneous inflammation of the ears in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice developed by 5-6 weeks of age without any external manipulation. However, only NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice showed this cutaneous phenotype, while NOD wild-type mice did not. Histopathologic examination of NOD. $\delta$ -/- ear skin resembled that of chronic dermatitis: a thickened epidermis, mild intercellular edema, scattered mononuclear inflammatory cells within the epidermis, and a thickened dermis with dilated blood vessels, eosinophils, mononuclear inflammatory cells, and highly increased numbers of mast cells. Baseline ear thickness was shown to be markedly increased.

Intriguingly, this spontaneous dermatitis was strain-dependent. FVB. $\delta$ -/- showed less dramatic but highly significant increases in ear thickness compared to FVB wild-type animals, while C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- and wild-type mice showed no clinical or histologic evidence of the phenotype [147]. The second conclusion was that the spontaneous dermatitis phenotype appeared to have an inheritance pattern consistent with a single autosomal recessive gene controlling the susceptibility of the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice. In an analysis of NOD. $\delta$ -/- and C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- mice, bred to produce F<sub>1</sub>, F<sub>2</sub>, and (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD) backcross (BC) offspring, 24.5% of the F<sub>2</sub> mice and 42% of the BC mice were identified to have the NOD-like phenotype. These incidence rates were consistent with a possible single autosomal recessive gene inheritance, in which case the expected frequency of the phenotype in the  $F_2$  population is 25% and in the BC population 50% [147]. A third conclusion from the study was that allergic and irritant contact dermatitis reactions are enhanced in  $\delta$ -/- mice, but also in a strain-dependent way. FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice showed strikingly augmented ear swelling to both allergic contact dermatitis induced by sensitization and challenge by DNFB and irritant contact dermatitis, induced by application of TPA, while C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- did not. Finally, the authors found that spontaneous and augmented irritant dermatitis responses in  $\delta$ -/- mice require  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, since  $\beta - \frac{-\delta}{-}$  did not show evidence of either, and that V $\gamma$ 5+ DETC are necessary and sufficient for down-regulation of dermatitis. Indeed, FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice reconstituted at 1-3 days old with >98% pure Vy5+ gestational day 17 fetal thymocytes did not show evidence of spontaneous dermatitis, whereas those injected with Vy5- fetal thymocytes had an increased baseline ear thickness comparable to those of FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice [147]. However, because the ears of the Vy5- recipients was found to be only minimally

reconstituted with V $\gamma$ 5–  $\gamma$  $\delta$ + T cells, it could not be concluded that V $\gamma$ 5–  $\gamma$  $\delta$ + cells could in fact play an anti-inflammatory role if they were present in substantial numbers. Yet, in one experiment where it was possible to populate the skin with substantial numbers of  $\gamma\delta$ cells bearing non-DETC TCRs (derived from peripheral lymph nodes of TCR. $\beta$ –/– donors), no down-regulation of  $\alpha\beta$  T cell-induced local inflammation was seen.

The data from this study provide evidence that V $\gamma$ 5+ DETC play a nonredundant, local regulatory role of cutaneous inflammation induced by  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. Yet, there remain many unanswered questions. First, the spontaneous, localized, cutaneous inflammation that develops in particular strains of  $\delta$ -/- mice resembles a chronic dermatitis that may be similar to human atopic dermatitis (AD) [151]. Thus, the phenotype observed in this study may serve as a new animal model for human AD. In fact, a few mouse models have already been proposed for this chronic inflammatory disease, in which many genetic analyses have been undertaken [152-154]. Additional studies evaluating IgE levels and the effects of the environment on development of the dermatitis are needed in order to elucidate the similarities and differences between the spontaneous dermatitis seen in these  $\delta$ -/- mice and human AD. In addition, the need for further detailed genetic analyses is salient in order to clarify any relation between the current model and existing models of chronic cutaneous inflammation mimieking human AD.

## **Relevance of DETC Model to Humans**

The situation in human skin is quite different from that in murine skin. In normal human skin the majority of CD3+ cells (>95%) are localized in the dermis, whereas only 2-5% of CD3+ cells are within the epidermis [155, 156]. Furthermore, in the dermis, up

to 80% of the CD3+ cells possess the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR, whereas only 2-9% bear the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR [155, 157]. Of the 2-5% of CD3+ cells within the epidermis, 60% express the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR and 18-29% the γδ TCR [155, 156, 158]. Some even report a proportion less than 0.1% of CD3+ intraepidermal T cells expressing the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR [157, 159]. In addition to the stark difference in prevalence of intraepidermal  $\gamma\delta^+$  cells, human skin and murine skin also differ in that the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in human skin lack the dendritic shape of DETC [160]. The functions of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in human skin is unknown, and currently, it is generally accepted that a morphologic equivalent of murine DETC does not exist in humans [156, 161]. However, most recently, an analysis of normal human skin has revealed that cutaneous  $\gamma\delta$ T cells express a highly restricted TCR $\delta$  repertoire distinct from that of peripheral blood  $\gamma\delta$  T cells [160]. From separate skin areas, identical dominant TCR $\delta$  rearrangements could be identified. Based on these recent findings, it is indeed conceivable that human cutaneous  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, albeit of a smaller population, represent a functional equivalent of murine DETC.

## **B. GENETICS OF ATOPIC DERMATITIS**

Allergic diseases, both systemic and site-speeifie, affect approximately 20-30% of the general population and constitute a major source of suffering, disability and loss of productivity throughout the world. Atopy refers to the predisposition to develop the group of inflammatory diseases which occur following exposure to antigens that are otherwise innocuous, for example, dust mite, pollen, mould and animal dander [162]. Atopic diseases as many other immunological diseases are multifactorial complex traits with a significant impact of both genetic and environmental factors on the outcome of the

The identification of the multiple genetic and environmental factors is disease. confounded by heterogeneity both within a specific atopic disorder, such as asthma, allergic rhinitis, allergic conjunctivitis, and atopic dermatitis, and between the groups of diseases. Thus, symptoms produced may be phenotypically indistinguishable to the clinician even though the genetic predisposition for a specific disorder may in fact result from distinct sets of susceptibility genes in different individuals. Despite these inherent difficulties, there has been remarkable progress towards the identification of the various factors which contribute to the pathophysiology of atopic diseases. During the past 30 years, much of the focus has been on defining the cells and molecules which mediate the allergic reaction [163]. Further elucidation has been achieved through studies of the nature of allergens and from fundamental investigations of the immune response [164]. Several studies involving both extended-family and twin-study approaches have provided clear evidence that both the atopic condition in general and specific allergic disorders have a strong genetic component. Like other complex genetic diseases, however, there is a clear environmental role, making the estimate of the number of genes contributing to the heritability of the condition not at all clear. While there are certainly major genes that control atopy in general, disease-specific genes that determine which disease an atopic individual develops are also likely to exist [165, 166]. Defining such genetic factors will shed light on pathophysiologic mechanisms, which in turn should lead to better treatment strategies. In the analysis of complex traits, however, the genetic analysis is complicated by genetic heterogeneity, phenocopies, gene interactions, and incomplete penetrance.

The marked increase in the prevalence of AD over the past three decades has led investigators to aggressively pursue elucidation of its pathogenesis [167]. AD is

characterized by complex symptoms including a chronically relapsing course, extreme pruritus, and eczematous skin lesions with typical morphology and distribution, which are associated with IgE hyperresponsiveness to environmental allergens [168]. AD is one of the most common skin diseases in children with a family history of atopy, with the prevalence of atopic eczema peaking in the first 5 years of life [169, 170]. Twin studies have helped to elucidate the genetic component to atopic eczema, showing concordance of disease in monozygotic twins (0.72) compared with dizygotic twins (0.21) [171]. Most atopic diseases have a heritability of between 0.60 and 0.72 [172]. In looking for genetic factors that might predispose an individual to atopy, it is logical to examine the pathophysiologic pathways involved in allergic responses to focus the initial search on a few key genes. Very few studies to date have been done on the genetics of atopic dermatitis, with reported findings often being discordant [166]. The genomic regions of interest in the initial studies include chromosome 5q31 (in the region of the genes coding for IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13, interferon regulatory factor 1, GM-CSF-2, CSF-1 receptor, and platelet-derived growth factor receptor) [173, 174] and chromosome 11q13 (at the locus for the high-affinity Fee receptor 1, FceRI) [175-182]. One linkage study using markers on 11q13 flanking the FceRI locus showed negative findings [182], while a later study showed some evidence for support in a subgroup of families with atopic dermatitis [183]. An association between atopic eezema and the presence of a polymorphic restriction site within the mast cell chymase (MCC) gene on chromosome 14q11.2 has been shown in the Japanese population [184], with a proposed second association with a polymorphism in the promoter of IL-4 on chromosome 5q [185]. Most recently, an association between atopic dermatitis and IL-13, which plays an important role in the

induction of IgE synthesis and in the pathogenesis of allergic diseases [186-188] was investigated. A novel IL-13 coding region variant at 4257 bp was found to have a significant association with both high total serum IgE level and AD [189].

An alternative approach involves performing a genome-wide search to identify novel candidate regions [178]. With this approach, linkage analysis studies are performed using microsatellite markers dispersed at roughly equal intervals throughout the genome. LOD scores (log base 10 of the likelihood ratio under the hypotheses of linkage and non-linkage) are determined, which serve as the major criterion of the likelihood that an atopy gene resides at that location in the genome. To date, two genome-wide screens for atopic dermatitis in humans have been reported. The first of these found linkage of AD to chromosome 3q21 [190]. The second screen found linkage of AD or AD and asthma combined to chromosomes 1g21, 17g25, and 20p [191]. All four linkages correspond to known psoriasis susceptibility loci [191], suggesting that the regions contain clusters of genes with general effects on skin immunity and inflammation. It is clear that both approaches, analyzing candidate genes and using genome-wide mapping studies, have yielded potentially important genes which may contribute to genetic predisposition for atopic disease [165].

Inbred mouse strains have proven very valid for the dissection of such complicated phenotypes as atopic dermatitis in the following ways: (1) phenotypic variance between genetically identical individuals has been shown to be caused solely by environmental and stochastic events; (2) segregation of genomic regions or candidate genes can be investigated in large offspring populations; (3) linked chromosomal segments can be further refined with congenic mouse strains, where parts of the candidate

region are introgressed into an identical genetic background; (4) single and combined functions of candidate genes can be investigated by mutation through gene disruption, transgenesis and cross-breeding of such strains; and (5) random mutations within the genome through chemicals can detect novel candidate genes, which are involved in the critical pathways and networks of these complex traits [192]. While several studies have investigated the genetics of atopy-related phenotypes of the respiratory tract in inbred mouse strains [192], mouse models for atopy-related phenotypes of the skin have been rare to date.

Thus far, two genome-wide linkage screens for susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis have been performed in two different mouse models. The Naruto Research Institute Otsuka Atrichia (NOA) mouse is a mutant mouse strain recently discovered in 1997, having originated from a spontaneously sparsely coated mutant male mouse obtained in 1982 by cross breeding between a female C3H/He mouse and a male ddY (hairy strain) mouse [193]. The NOA mouse is characterized by becoming completely hairless and smooth-skinned in adulthood until the spontaneous development of severe ulcerative skin lesions from the tenth week of age. The animals are housed under barriersystem conditions, periodically subjected to microbiological monitoring, and confirmed to be free of categories A, B, C, and E of microbes and parasites specified for monitoring in mice and rats by the ICLAS Monitoring Center (Asia) [194]. Prevalence rates of these ulcerative skin lesions are 30% by the tenth week of age, increasing to 90% by the 20<sup>th</sup> week of age. In severe cases, the lesions extend to cover almost 20% of the body surface area. Histologically, the ulcerative skin lesions show epidermal desquamation, thickened dermis with a proliferation of inflammatory cells and collagen bundles, and a striking

accumulation of mast cells in and around the lesions [193]. Additionally, NOA mice with ulcerative skin lesions show a significantly increased level of serum IgE compared to NOA mice without ulcerative skin lesions, HRS/J mice (a standard hairless mutant mouse), and two strains of hairy mice, all housed in the same conditions [193]. Analysis of NOA backcross progeny of five different mouse strains revealed a significant association between ulcerative skin lesions and markers in the middle of chromosome 4 [153]. Interestingly, the genetic background of the five parental strains used in the backcross breeding to susceptible NOA mice appeared to have a significant impact on the incidence of skin lesions in the progeny: atopic dermatitis developed three times more often in progeny derived from T<sub>H</sub>2 responder mice (BALB/cByJ and DBA/2J) than from T<sub>H</sub>1 responder mice (C3H and C57BL6/J). A search for the modifier genes revealed two chromosomal regions with candidate genes suppressing the development of the NOA atopic dermatitis-like skin disease: in the middle of chromosome 7 and in the telomeric region of chromosome 13 [154]. Both loci correspond to regions of syntemy to human chromosomes where linkage to different atopic phenotypes has previously been described (chromosome 5q13 and 11q13). In addition, both regions contain candidate genes for atopic dermatitis. The region on chromosome 7 encodes the gene for IL-16, the mRNA of which has been shown to be upregulated in acute atopic dermatitis and is associated with increased numbers of CD4+ T cells at the site of inflammation [195]. The chromosome 13 region contains the possible candidate gene of phosphoinositide-3-kinase regulatory subunit, polypeptide 1 (Pik3r1), which belongs to a family of enzymes involved in the generation of lipid mediators, which in turn activate a series of intracellular kinases [196].

A second mouse model for human atopic dermatitis is an inbred strain called NC/Nga [152]. NC/Nga mice were originated from Japanese fancy mice (Nishiki-Nezumi) and established as an inbred strain in 1955 [197]. Some Japanese researchers noticed development of spontaneous dermatitis just before or after weaning, but the cause and pathogenesis remained unclear [198]. Upon further investigation, it was observed that these mice spontaneously suffer severe dermatitis in the presence of nonspecified environmental factors. The spontaneous dermatitis developed in NC/Nga mice housed only in air-uncontrolled conventional rooms. In contrast, no skin lesions were detected clinically in mice maintained in specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions consisting of a laminar filter-air flow enclosure in a bioclean room [198]. Prevalent symptoms of the spontaneous dermatitis included itching, erythema, hemorrhage, edema, crust, drying, and excoriation/erosion hyperplasia of the epidermis region in the face, neck, and/or back, which are all exacerbated by aging. Furthermore, NC mice showed characteristic features of human AD by histopathological examination, such as macrophages and eosinophils invading the dermis, increases and activation of mast cells and lymphocytes, reduction of ceramide, appearance of activated mast cells, and lesional CD4+ T cells [152]. Intriguingly, similarly aged BALB/c mice maintained with conventional NC/Nga mice in the same cage from 7 to 17 weeks of age showed no significant clinical signs or symptoms, suggesting that the dermatitis seen in conventional NC/Nga mice was due not simply to the presence of an environmental factor but also to specific factors intrinsic to the NC/Nga background. Detailed genome-wide mapping studies of NC/Nga backcross mice were subsequently performed in order to identify the genetic loci responsible for human AD using the NC/Nga mouse model. The most significant linkage result was
found on chromosome 9, termed Derm1. Several candidate genes are located near Derm1, including thymus cell antigen 1, theta (Thy1), IL10r, IL18, and cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase (Csk). IL-18 and IL-10 receptor might present the best candidate genes in this region as both have been shown to be important for the propagation of atopic dermatitis, being strongly downregulated in acute lesions of atopic dermatitis in humans [199, 200].

Though the chromosomal regions found in the genome-wide screens for atopic dermatitis in humans do not correspond to the regions identified in the above-mentioned mouse models, further studies may indeed reveal regions corresponding to those found in the human system and will undoubtedly contribute largely to the elucidation of the genes involved in human AD.

### C. ATOPIC DERMATITIS AND IgE

As previously mentioned, patients with atopic eczema often have personal or family histories of atopic respiratory disease (asthma and allergic rhinitis) [201-203] and are often characterized by heightened IgE responsiveness [204]. Overwhelming evidence does assert that atopy is indeed a  $T_H2$ -mediated disease [165]. The well-known mechanism involves individuals being sensitized to a certain allergen, followed by synthesis of allergen-speeific IgE molecules which bind to the high-affinity IgE receptor on mast cells and basophils [2, 37, 165]. Upon re-exposure to allergen, membrane-bound IgE molecules are cross-linked and signals are transduced through antigen-recognition activation motifs, which are found in multiple receptors such as the TCR-CD3 complex, and the Fc receptors [205]. These signals then mediate degranulation of the cells and preformed mediators of allergic inflammation found in the granules are released.

Receptor cross-linking additionally results in the activation of cytokine gene transcription as well as the synthesis of a large panel of newly formed mediators [206]. Atopy could theoretically result from an abnormal regulation of this process at several control points.

The total serum IgE level is highest in patients with atopic eczema compared with patients with asthma, perennial rhinitis, and hay fever [172]. Patients with atopic eczema and atopic respiratory disease often show high serum IgE levels [207], blood eosinophilia [208], increased deposition of eosinophil granule major basic protein in skin lesions [209], and increased number of mast cells in skin lesions [210]. However, patients without personal and family histories of atopic respiratory disease tend to show normal IgE concentration [211-213], normal eosinophil count [208], scant deposition of major basic protein in skin lesions [209], and a normal number of mast cells in skin lesions [210]. Additionally, it has previously been shown that a significant difference exists in the genotype distribution of mast cell chymase, a serine protease secreted by mast cells, between patients with normal IgE concentration and patients with very high IgE concentration [214]. Yet these two groups of patients did not show any difference in the morphological appearance of the skin lesions and the clinical course. Thus, the genetic background of atopic eczema might be heterogeneous and IgE responsiveness may be controlled separately from actual development of the atopic dermatitis phenotype. Further study is indeed needed to clarify the dominant factor determining IgE responsiveness in patients with atopic eczema, as well as the actual role of IgE in the development of atopic dermatitis.

In the proposed mouse models for human AD, the skin lesions that appear in mouse skin are associated with increased IgE levels. Plasma levels of total IgE in

NC/Nga mice are markedly elevated from 8 weeks of age, when mild dermatitis is clinically evident, and increase significantly by 10 weeks, plateauing at 17 weeks, thus correlating with clinical severity of dermatitis [198]. In NOA also, severe ulcerative skin lesions are associated with a significantly increased level of serum IgE [193].

#### D. GOALS OF PRESENT STUDY

Although great attention has been focused on the pathogenesis of human AD, the exact etiology remains unclear. Establishment of a suitable animal model is of great importance in elucidating the pathogenesis of this chronic inflammatory skin disease. Girardi et al. (2002) demonstrated a spontaneous, localized, cutaneous inflammation that developed in particular strains of  $\delta$ -/- mice resembled a chronic dermatitis resembling human AD. Thus, the phenotype observed may serve as a new animal model for human AD. As higher IgE levels have been found in human AD patients, the present study sought to determine similarities and differences between the spontaneous dermatitis observed in susceptible NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice and human AD by measuring serum IgE levels in these mice. When compared to IgE levels of mice lacking clinical signs of spontaneous dermatitis, including NOD. $\delta$ -/- housed in SPF conditions, NOD wild-type (w.t.), C57BL/6 (B6) (non-susceptible), and (NOD X B6)F<sub>1</sub> mice, NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice exhibiting spontaneous dermatitis is expected to show significantly higher total serum IgE levels if IgE indeed plays a primary role in the pathogenesis of the spontaneous dermatitis. Likewise, if genotypically identical mice, such as (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice, which show high levels of inflammation are eompared to those showing low or absent levels of inflammation, it is expected that higher serum IgE levels will be found among mice with higher levels of inflammation.

As Girardi et al. (2002) showed that the spontaneous dermatitis phenotype is strikingly strain-dependent, existing in NOD but not C57BL/6 mice, a second goal of the present study was to elucidate the genetic role governing the susceptibility to spontaneous dermatitis. Analysis of NOD and B6 simple sequence length polymorphisms at specific loci was performed to clarify the relation between the current model and existing mouse models of human AD, namely NOA and NC/Nga mice. It is hypothesized that the current NOD model will show linkage of spontaneous dermatitis to either of the two major determinant quantitative-trait loci already identified through genome-wide searches to be responsible for atopic dermatitis-like skin lesions in the NOA and NC/Nga mice.

Finally, in the search of ultimately defining the ligand(s) for the DETC-specific V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR, a third goal of the present study was to develop a bioassay in which activation of the V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR could be assessed. A very useful strategy entails isolating the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR in a heterologous cell type. Such  $\gamma\delta$  TCR transfectants have been developed using the rat basophil luekemia (RBL) cell line, using a specific clone called RBL-2H3. This cell line presumably does not express NKG2D, CD8, or other receptors expressed by  $\gamma\delta$  cells, and theoretically avoids the problem of cell activation through an accessory molecule. The background on the development of a RBL bioassay to test TCR activation is briefly discussed below.

#### **Research Design**

# Development of a bioassay to assess activation through the $\gamma\delta$ TCR *FceRI vs. TCR* $\zeta$ *signal transduction pathways*

The RBL-2H3 clone [215] is a subclone from the original Rat Basophil Leukemia cell line [216], and has been widely used to study the signal transduction pathway of the

high affinity receptor it bears for IgE, FccRI. The FccRI structure and signaling cascade resemble those of the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR complex. The FccRI complex is composed of an IgEbinding  $\alpha$  chain, a four-transmembrane  $\beta$  chain, and two disulphide-linked  $\gamma$  chains [217]. Each  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunit contains a single immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM), resulting in a total of three ITAMs per FccRI receptor complex. Upon IgE/antigen binding, the  $\beta$  chain-associated Src family tyrosine kinase Lyn phosphorylates the tyrosine residues on the  $\gamma$  chain. Another protein tyrosine kinase called Syk then binds to the phosphorylated ITAMs in FccRI $\gamma$ , resulting in Syk phosphorylation by Lyn. Activated Syk subsequently phosphorylates the membraneassociated cytoplasmic adaptor protein LAT, initiating downstream pathways including phospholipase C- $\gamma$  (PLC- $\gamma$ ) and sphingosine kinase, leading to degranulation.

The signaling cascade utilized by the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR parallels that of the FccRI receptor. As previously described, the  $\alpha\beta$  TCR is a ligand-binding heterodimer closely associated with a CD3 signaling complex [3]. The CD3 signaling complex consists of  $\delta/\epsilon$  and  $\gamma/\epsilon$ heterodimers, in addition to a disulphide-linked TCR $\zeta$  homodimer [4, 218]. TCR $\zeta$  is highly homologous to the FccRI $\gamma$  chain [219], with the significant difference that each TCR $\zeta$  contains three ITAMs compared to a single ITAM on FccRI $\gamma$ . Upon TCR ligation by MHC-presented antigen, the three ITAMs are phosphorylated by the Src family kinases Lck or Fyn [4]. A kinase homologous to Syk, ZAP-70, then binds to the phosphorylated ITAMs and itself is phosphorylated by Lck/Fyn. Activated ZAP-70 subsequently phosphorylates LAT, leading to activation of downstream pathways including PLC- $\gamma$ , ultimately resulting in transcription of specific genes.

The signaling capacity of TCR $\zeta$  and FceRI $\gamma$  has been studied in detail in RBL cells as well as in T cell lines. Early studies showed that  $\zeta$  and  $\gamma$  were each sufficient for full activation of cells [205, 220]. Furthermore, through studies involving the fusion of the transmembrane domain and cytoplasmic tail of  $\zeta$  and  $\gamma$  to the extracellular domains of cell surface antigens such as CD4 and CD8 [205, 220], in addition to studies involving fusion to the extracellular domain of the receptor IL-2R $\alpha$  [221], with expression in T cell lines, the cytoplasmic tail of  $\zeta$  was shown to deliver a more potent signal than  $\gamma$  when expressed in the BW5147 T cell line. When tested in the RBL-2H3 line, ζ fusions were found to elicit a stronger response in this system as well. As each  $\zeta$  chain contains three ITAMs compared to one on each  $\gamma$  chain, the stronger response of the  $\zeta$  fusions may be explained by increased strength of signaling due to the greater number of phosphorylated ITAMs in the  $\zeta$  signaling complex. Indeed, it has been shown that the intensity of the response to signaling by recombinant ITAM-containing polypeptide chains is dependent on the number of ITAMs present [222].

#### Serotonin Release Assay

RBL cells have the ability to release endogenous mediators such as histamine from intracellular granules, in addition to incorporating exogenous molecules and storing them in intracellular granules. Upon binding of antigen/IgE complexes to FceRI, they are activated to release the content of their secretory granules. The original RBL lines secreted very low levels of histamine upon antigen/IgE complex binding to FceRI [216]. While some subclones, including RBL-2H3, did release histamine upon stimulation as detected by ELISA, the histamine content was significantly lower than that of normal

mast cells. A more sensitive degranulation assay was subsequently developed [223]. In this assay system, RBL-2H3 cells incorporate <sup>3</sup>H 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) into their secretory granules via incubation with the radioactive substance overnight. The activated cells release the content of their secretory granules, including their endogenous histamine and the exogenously loaded <sup>3</sup>H serotonin. The percentage of released radioactivity is easily measured by scintillation counting.

#### TCR Expression in the RBL System

The RBL-2H3 line was used in early attempts to produce a soluble  $\alpha\beta$  TCR for crystallographic analysis and measurements of the affinity between TCR  $\alpha\beta$ , MHC, and antigen [224]. The extracellular domains of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains of the T cell hybridoma 2B4 TCR were fused with the transmembrane and cytoplasmic tail of the TCR  $\zeta$  chain, and were stably expressed as  $\alpha$ - $\zeta$  and  $\beta$ - $\zeta$  chains on the cell surface. The cytoplasmic domain of  $\zeta$  induces cell activation when attached to heterologous proteins that are crosslinked by antibody [205, 220, 221]. Thus, the ability of an  $\alpha$ - $\xi/\beta$ - $\xi$  heterodimer to bind antigen-MHC could be tested by exposure of the cells that expressed this heterodimer to antigen-pulsed presenting cells. In addition, the  $\zeta$  transmembrane domain induces disulfide dimerization when attached to heterologous proteins [205, 220]. The  $\zeta$ constructs, even in the absence of the CD3 complex, demonstrated the ability to signal upon exposure of the transfectants to cells that presented the appropriate antigen-MHC complex, with activation measured by release of  ${}^{3}$ H serotonin [224]. Engel et al. (1992) also demonstrated efficient transport to the cell surface of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains that was dependent on disulfide-linked heterodimer formation induced by the  $\zeta$  chain [224].

With the evidence of strong signaling capacity through the cytoplasmic tail of  $\zeta$ , along with previous studies demonstrating the ability to stably and efficiently express functional  $\zeta$  fusion constructs on the RBL cell surface, the RBL system provides an attractive method for studying  $\gamma\delta$  TCR specificity. In this system, the TCR can presumably be isolated in order to search for its ligand(s) since rat basophil cells should not express molecules that could bind ligands on mouse target cells. Additionally, the serotonin release assay is a simple yet highly sensitive method in which to measure activation through the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR. While traditional T cell activation assays measure proliferation or IL-2 release after 24 hours of activation or more [205, 220], serotonin release has the additional advantage of allowing measurement after only 45 minutes of activation. Once stably expressed on the RBL cell surface, Vy5 TCR $\zeta$  and V $\delta$ 1 TCR $\zeta$ chimeric constructs co-transfected into RBL-2H3 cells should have the ability to stimulate signal tranduction upon TCR engagement with ligand, leading to degranulation and serotonin release, thus providing a system through which the DETC TCR ligand(s) can be identified.

### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### A. TOTAL SERUM IGE MEASUREMENTS

#### 1. Animals

C57BL/6 (B6) wild-type ( $\delta$ +/+, containing normal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells) and non-obese diabetic (NOD/LtJ) wild-type mice purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA) have been maintained at the animal facilities of Yale University. B6 mice deficient in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (TCR. $\delta$ -/-) (The Jackson Laboratory; Bar Harbor) were backcrossed to NOD mice 14 generations to produce NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice used in this study. For genetic analyses, (NOD X B6)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- and (B6 X NOD)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- offspring were used, produced by mating NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice with B6. $\delta$ -/- mice using both sexes in each strain. In addition,  $F_2.\delta$ -/- offspring generated by intercrossing  $F_1.\delta$ -/- mice, as well as ( $F_1$  X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice produced by backcrossing F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice to NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice (again using both sexes), were used. Mice were kept in two different housing conditions from birth. Conventional, non-ventilated cages (CNVC) were filtertopped cages with sterilized food and water, along with autoclaved corncob bedding, changed at least once a week. Individually-ventilated cages (IVC) were also filter-topped cages with sterilized food, water, and corncob bedding, but in such cages room air is changed ~17 times per hour. In such a setting, bedding remains substantially drier and requires changing only every 10-14 days. Repeat testing of mice in both housing conditions failed to identify known bacterial pathogens, mites, or pinworms on the skin.

Serum IgE samples were collected from the following (number of) mice in the specified housing environments: (10) B6 wild-type housed in CNVC, (31) B6. $\delta$ -/- housed in CNVC, (6) NOD wild-type housed in CNVC, (7) NOD wild-type housed in

IVC, (40) NOD. $\delta$ -/- housed in CNVC, (26) NOD. $\delta$ -/- housed in IVC, and (24) (B6 X NOD)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X B6)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- housed in CNVC. The number of samples for each type of mouse and housing environment was determined by the number of mice available within the same age range at the time of testing and from which at least 50 µl of serum was able to obtained. Additionally, serum was collected from (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, in order to compare total IgE levels in (32) mice with a high level of inflammation with (33) mice showing a low level of inflammation. High inflammation mice were defined by selecting the first 15 males and first 17 females from a list in which all mice (121 males and 114 females) were ordered from highest to lowest according to their mean baseline ear thicknesses (inches x 10<sup>-3</sup>) measured by an engineer's micrometer. Low inflammation mice were defined by selecting the last 16 males and last 17 females from the same list.

## 2. Serum collection

Sera were collected from mice at age 11-16 weeks. Mice were anesthetized by placement in an anesthetic jar containing Metofane on gauze squares under screening. Blood was collected from the retro-orbital sinus by gently inserting and twisting the tip of a glass capillary Pasteur pipette below the eye between the globe and lower eyelid. Blood was transferred into a labeled 1.5 ml plastic microcentrifuge Eppendorf tube using a pipette bulb to carefully blow out the sample. A volume of approximately 0.25 ml was obtained from each animal. Gentle manual pressure with a gauze pad was applied to the site of collection on each mouse for a few seconds until bleeding was completely stopped. For some mice, blood was collected via cardiac puncture as a terminal collection method using a 1 ml syringe and 22 gauge, 1-inch needle, inserted through the

left thoracic wall at the point where heartbeat was felt. Blood collection was followed by immediate euthanization of the animal by cervical dislocation while under anesthesia as outlined by the Yale University Animal Resources Center [225]. Blood samples were allowed to clot for 4-6 hours at 4°C, were then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 rotations per minute (rpm), and sera were collected into separate clean 1.5 ml plastic Eppendorf tubes using a 1000  $\mu$ l pipetman (Gilson), transferring minimal amounts of cellular product. Samples were centrifuged for another 5 minutes at 1200 rpm. Sera were then transferred into elean 1.5 ml plastic Eppendorf tubes and stored at -4°C until use, at which time samples were thawed at room temperature and kept on ice.

Ear phenotypes and baseline thicknesses of the specific animals used for the measurement of serum IgE levels were assessed on the day of serum collection by Robert Tigelaar, M.D., in which presence/absence of dermatitis was recorded, as well as baseline ear thicknesses using an engineer's micrometer.

#### 3. Antibody measurement by Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbant Assay (ELISA)

For determination of total serum IgE levels, 96-well microtiter plates (Nalge Nunc International, Rochester, New York, USA) were eoated with sheep anti-mouse IgE (15.9 mg/ml, 1:000 dilution; The Binding Site, Birmingham, United Kingdom) in boratebuffered saline (pH=8) at 4°C overnight. The following steps were performed, with plates being washed 2 times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS)/0.05% Tween-20 (20mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% tween) and 1 time with PBS between each step. Blocking was performed with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in borate saline (BSA-BS) for 1 hour at 37°C, after which sera were diluted serially (starting at a 1:10 dilution) in 1% BSA-BS in replicate (two for each dilution) wells and incubated for 2 hours at

37°C. This was followed by incubation for 1 hour at 37°C with an optimal dilution of biotin-labeled secondary rat anti-mouse IgE antibody (1 mg/ml, 1:2000 dilution; Clone LO-ME-3, BioSource International). Streptavidin-conjugated horseradish peroxidase (1.25 mg/ml, 1:5000 dilution; Zymed Laboratories, San Francisco, California, USA) was added for a 30-minute incubation at 37°C, followed by addition of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution (DAKO Corp., Carpinteria, California, USA) and termination of the reaction with 6N HCl. Color change was read at 450 nm on a microplate ELISA reader (Bio-Tek Instruments Inc., Winooski, Vermont, USA). Antibody concentrations were calculated using DeltaSoft<sup>™</sup> software by comparison to a mouse IgE standard (starting concentration 100 ng/ml; Monoclonal Anti-dinitrophenyl (DNP) Clone SPE-7 Purified Mouse Antibody, Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri, USA).

#### 4. Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was determined using a standard Student's unpaired twotailed *t*-test [226]. A *p*-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

# **B. GENETIC ANALYSIS**

#### 1. Animals

To understand better the genetics governing the susceptibility to spontaneous dermatitis (SpD), the (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice produced by backcrossing F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice to NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice (using both sexes as described above) were used in the analysis of NOD and B6 simple sequence length polymorphisms (SSLPs) at certain loci. As described in the study by Girardi *et al.* (2002), susceptible ("NOD-like") mice were identified by an increased baseline ear thickness of  $\geq$  5 SDs above the average

means for "resistant" B6. $\delta$ -/- and F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice; i.e., BC females with an ear thickness of > 14.0 (in. X 10<sup>-3</sup>), and BC males with an ear thickness > 15.5 were classified as susceptible. A total of 99 of 235 (42%) BC mice had the NOD-like phenotype using these criteria.

#### 2. DNA Extraction

Livers were removed from euthanized donors (using either cervical dislocation or Metofane anesthesia overdose) from each of the 99 (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X  $F_1$ )BC. $\delta$ -/- mice identified to have obvious SpD by the above criteria. Using the DNeasy protocol for animal tissues (DNeasy® Tissue Kit, QIAGEN Inc.; Valencia, California, USA), approximately 25 mg of tissue was cut up into small pieces, placed into a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, and incubated with proteinase K and tissue lysis buffer at 55°C until tissue was completely lysed, with occasional vortexing to disperse the sample. Complete digestion was achieved with overnight incubation, i.e. typically 15-18 hours. Samples were subsequently treated with 1 µl of RNAse A (100 mg/ml) and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. Direct cell lysis was performed using the optimized buffer system as outlined by the QIAGEN protocol, and lysates were loaded onto the DNeasy mini column. During a brief centrifugation, DNA was selectively bound to the DNeasy silicagel membrane as contaminants passed through. Remaining contaminants and enzyme inhibitors were removed in two efficient wash steps and DNA was then eluted in Buffer AE, provided in the QIAGEN DNeasy® Tissue Kit, and was ready for use.

DNA yield was determined for each sample by measuring the concentration of DNA in the eluate by its absorbance at 260 nm using a spectrophotometer. An  $A_{260}$  of 1 (with a 1 cm detection path) corresponds to 50 µg DNA per milliliter water. Water was

used as a diluent when measuring DNA concentration since the relationship between absorbance and concentration is based on extinction coefficients calculated for nucleic acids in water [227]. The spectrophotometer was always calibrated with distilled water. An example of the calculations involved in DNA quantification is shown below:

Volume of DNA sample	=100 µl	
Dilution	= 20 $\mu$ l of DNA sample + 180 $\mu$ l distilled water	
	(1:10 dilution)	
Measure absorbance of diluted s	sample in a 0.2 ml cuvette:	
A <sub>260</sub>	= 0.2	
Concentration of DNA sample	= 50 $\mu$ g/ml X A <sub>260</sub> X dilution factor	
	= 50 µg/ml X 0.2 X 10	
	$= 100 \ \mu g/ml$	
Total amount	= concentration X volume of sample in ml	
	= 100 µg/ml X 0.1 ml	
	$= 10 \ \mu g \text{ of DNA}$	

The ratio of the readings at 260 nm and 280 nm ( $A_{260}/A_{280}$ ) was calculated for 46 random samples to provide an estimate of the purity of DNA with respect to contaminants that absorb UV, such as protein. When absorbance is measured in 10mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5, pure DNA has an  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratio of 1.8-2.0. The  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratio is influenced considerably by pH, and since water is not buffered, the pH and resulting ratio can vary greatly (DNeasy® Tissue Kit Handbook, QIAGEN Inc.). Of the samples whose absorbances were all measured in water, the  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratios ranged from 1.35 to 3.41. With the exception of 4 samples, all samples had ratios within the 1.5-2.0 range.

#### 3. Primers

As previously discussed, genome-wide microsatellite mapping studies in two other distinct mouse models of "atopic dermatitis-like" disease have recently mapped major susceptibility intervals controlling dermatitis to a region on chromosome 9 in NC/Nga mice [152] and on chromosome 14 in NOA mice [153]. In the NC/Nga (NC) model, linkage disequilibrium between dermatitis and various chromosome-specific microsatellite markers was examined in backcross progeny between (NC X MSM/MS)F1 and NC, MSM/MS being an inbred strain from Japanese wild mice, Mus musculus molossinus. To map major quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for dermatitis, genotyping data on each marker were analyzed by the  $\chi^2$  test.  $\chi^2$  results were evaluated by the values for suggestive linkage ( $\chi^2 \ge 8.7$ ) and for significant linkage ( $\chi^2 \ge 15.2$ ) [228, 229]. The analysis revealed that the locus of the major determinant was tightly linked to D9Mit163, D9Mit72, D9Mit143, D9Mit103, D9Mit207, and D9Mit209, as indicated by these markers showing the highest and most significant  $\chi^2$  values ( $\chi^2 = 16.4$ ). The position of the six reported loci was at 33.0 centiMorgans (cM) and 34.0 cM. Therefore, in order to determine if susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ –/– mice is controlled by a locus in the same interval, the D9Mit105 locus at position 33.9 cM was chosen to be analyzed in the ( $F_1 X$ NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice. A PCR primer set which distinguishes NOD from B6 SSLPs specific for this locus (Map Pairs) was synthesized at Yale University Howard Hughes Medical Institute/Keck Oligonucleotide Synthesis Facility (Oligoz-R-Us). The primer sequences were as follows: 5'-ACA GAG AAA GGA CAG AGA TCC TG-3' and 5'-TAT CAA ATT GGG AGT CAT TTA TGG-3'. The expected size of the PCR product was 145 base pairs (bp) in the B6 genome and 116 bp in the

Locus	Genetic Position (cM)	C57BL/6	NOD	Difference (bp)
D9Mit105	33.9	145	116	29
D14Mit262	37.2	124	154	30

NOD genome, i.e. a size difference of 29 bp between the two PCR products (see Table 1) capable of readily being visualized after electrophoresis through a 3% agarose gel.

Table 1. Expected size (in bp) of PCR product using primer sets (Map Pairs) distinguishing B6 from NOD SSLPs. *D9Mit105* was selected based on the results by Kohara *et al.* (2001) demonstrating significant linkage between dermatitis in NC/Nga mice and markers on chromosome 9 at loci in positions 33.0-34.0 cM. *D14Mit262* was selected based on the results by Natori *et al.* (1999) showing linkage between ulcerative skin lesions in NOA mice and markers on chromosome 14 in the vicinity of 32.5-40.0 cM.

In the NOA model, linkage analysis was performed in NOA backcross progeny, generated by first crossing NOA mice with five other murine strains (B6, IQI, C3H/HeJ, DBA/2J, and BALB/cByJ) and then breeding backcross animals. Using microsatellite markers selected at 10- to 20-cM intervals, Natori et al. (1999) scanned the entire genomes of 559 backcross offspring from the five parental strains. Linkage analysis revealed a significant association between ulcerative skin lesions and markers on murine chromosome 14. Statistical analysis revealed that the critical region was assigned to the vicinity of D14Mit236, at position 32.5 cM ( $\chi^2 = 86.89$ ; P < 0.001), and D14Mit160, at position 40.0 cM ( $\chi^2 = 86.62$ ; P < 0.001). To determine if susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice is controlled by a locus in the vicinity of these identified loci, the D14Mit262 locus at position 37.2 cM was chosen to be analyzed as this locus is approximately in the center of the interval between D14Mit236 and D14Mit160. A PCR primer set distinguishing NOD from B6 simple sequence length polymorphisms (SSLPs) at D14Mit262 was identified (Map Pairs) and synthesized as follows: 5'-CAG AAG

GGA AAT CTT AAA ATG AGG-3' and 5'-CAA CTT AGA TGC ATA CAC AGT TTG C-3'. The expected size of the PCR product was 124 bp in the B6 genome and 154 bp in the NOD genome, i.e. a size difference of 30 bp between the two PCR products (see Table 1).

#### 4. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Amplifications

Genomic PCR amplifications were performed on all 99 ( $F_1 X NOD$ )BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- samples, each sample in two separate reactions, one with primers for D9Mit105 and one with primers for D14Mit262. PCR amplifications were performed in 50-µl reaction mixtures, consisting of 80 ng of genomic DNA, 25 pmol of each primer, 5 µl of 10X PCR Reaction Buffer (Roche Diagnostics Corporation, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA), 5 µl of 1mM dNTPs, 0.5µl of *Taq* Polymerase (5 units/µl, Roche), and 31.5 µl of double-distilled water (ddH<sub>2</sub>O). PCR conditions included amplification at 94°C for 5 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of melting at  $94^{\circ}$ C for 60 seconds, annealing at  $54^{\circ}$ C for 60 seconds, and an extension of  $72^{\circ}$ C for 60 seconds. A final extension for 7 minutes at 72°C ended the process. All PCR reactions were performed in a DNA Thermal Cycler 480 (Perkin Elmer Cetus, Norwalk, Connecticut, USA). PCR products were electrophoresed on 3% agarose gels in 1X TAE (0.04 M Tris-acetate, 0.001 M ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid {EDTA}) buffer run at 60-80 volts, stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized under ultraviolet irradiation.

#### 5. Statistical analysis

The number of recombinant genotypes (heterozygous, NOD/B6, versus homozygous, NOD/NOD) for each marker locus was calculated. Genotyping data on

each marker were analyzed by the  $\chi^2$  test. Suggestive linkage was defined by a  $\chi^2$  value of  $\geq 8.7$  and significant linkage by a  $\chi^2$  value of  $\geq 15.2$  [228, 229].

# C. CONSTRUCTION OF V5-J1-Cγ1/V1-D2-J2-Cδ T-CELL RECEPTOR

# 1. Generation of Expression Construct

# a. DETC cDNA production from mRNA

Messenger RNA (mRNA) was extracted from dendritic epidermal T cell (DETC) clones previously established by Julie Lewis, Ph.D. and Robert Tigelaar, M.D. (Departments of Dermatology and Immunobiology at Yale University). Clones #7 (named 30E12), #9 (30B9), #12 (3G8), #15 (30F4), #16 (10F1), and #18 (210C11) were used, all of which were established by limiting dilution of interface epidermal cells from C57BL/6-TdT transgenic mice, stimulated initially with 10 U/ml IL-2 + 2  $\mu$ g/ml concanavalin A (ConA) + 1  $\mu$ g/ml indomethacin, followed by expansion and twiceweekly feeding with 5 U/ml IL-2 (Lewis, personal communication). All DETC clones had previously been sequenced by Tigelaar, with clones #7, #9, and #12 shown to have the canonical V $\gamma$ 5 chain, and clones #15, #16, and #18 shown to have the canonical V $\delta$ 1 chain (Tigelaar, personal communication). Using reverse-transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR), DETC copy DNA (cDNA) was generated from the mRNA by Tigelaar, as outlined by the QIAGEN OmniScript RT kit protocol (QIAGEN Inc.; Valencia, California, USA). Briefly, 2 µl of Oligo-dT primer (10 mM) was added to 3 µl of each RNA sample and incubated for 7 minutes at 68°C in the DNA Thermal Cycler 480. To each sample, 15 µl of the following mix was added: 2 µl of 10X Buffer RT, 2 µl of 5mM dNTPs, 1 µl of RNase inhibitor (10 units/µl), 1 µl of OmniScript RT, and 9 µl of RNase-free water.
Each 20  $\mu$ l reaction was carried out at 37°C for 60 minutes, followed by placement on ice when reactions were done.

### b. Amplifying V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains from DETC cDNA

Three  $\mu$  of cDNA from clone #7, #9, and #12 were pooled together. Similarly, 3 µl of cDNA from clone #15, #16, and #18 were pooled together. Using 2 µl of pooled cDNA for each reaction, the extracellular domains of V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 from the DETC TCR were amplified using the primers below (see Figure 2A). The 5' primers added an Xho I restriction site immediately before the leader sequence of V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1. The 3' primers added a Bgl II restriction site directly after the cysteines involved in the interchain disulphide bond, allowing for fusion to the thrombin linker region and CD3 $\zeta$  (see Figure 2B). Briefly, the PCR amplifications were performed in 50-µl reaction mixtures, consisting of the following: 2 ul of pooled DETC cDNA (5 ng/ul), 25 pmol of each primer, 5 µl of 10X Pfu Reaction Buffer (Roche Diagnostics Corporation, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA), 5  $\mu$ l of 1mM dNTPs, 0.5 $\mu$ l of *Pfu* Polymerase (2.5 units/ $\mu$ l, Roche), and 33.5 ul of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. PCR conditions included amplification at 94°C for 3 minutes, followed by 34 cycles of melting at 94°C for 45 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 60 seconds, and an extension of 72°C for 5 minutes. A final extension for 5 minutes at 72°C ended the process. All PCR reactions were performed in a DNA Thermal Cycler 480.  $V\gamma 5$  and  $V\delta 1$  cDNAs were purified from 1% agarose 1X TAE gels using the protocol from the QIAEx®II Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN Inc.; Valencia, California, USA). Vy5 and V $\delta$ 1 cDNAs (80 ng in a 24  $\mu$ l volume reaction) were then sequenced to confirm the correct sequence for each chain.

**Figure 2A. Primers used to generate TCR-**ζ **fusion constructs.** Restriction sites added and start codons are shown as labeled. The consensus Kozak sequence CCACC was added before the ATG.

5' Vy5 primer

Xho I site Start Codon

5'- CCG CTC GAG CCA CCA TGT CAA CCT CTT GGC TTT TTC -3'

3' Vy5 primer

Bgl II site

5'- CCA GAT CTC CGC AAG TTG TAG GCT TGG TAC TC -3'

5' Vô1 primer

Xho I site Start Codon

5'- CCG CTC GAG CCA CCA TGC TTT GGA GAT GTC CAG TC -3'

3' Vô1 primer

Bgl II site

# 5'- CCA GAT CTC CGC AAG GCT CTG AAA TTT GTG TG -3'

**Figure 2B. Thrombin linker region and fusion to**  $\zeta$ **.** Thrombin cleavage site is shown in bold and italics. Bgl II restriction site is shown as indicated. The cysteines involved in the interchain disulfide bonds in  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  or  $\zeta$  in bold. The terminal end of the 3' primers are shown to demonstrate their action in creating fusion of the  $\gamma$  or  $\delta$  gene to the thrombin linker region.



#### c. pCDL-SRa296 Vector

The pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector was kindly provided by Carrie Steele, Ph.D. and Adrian Hayday, Ph.D. (Peter Gorer Department of Immunobiology of the Guy's King's St. Thomas' School of Medicine at Guy's Hospital, London, England). The construct encoded a TCRV $\delta$ 5 gene linked to a mouse TCR $\zeta$  gene and contained the SR $\alpha$  promoter from Simian virus 40 (SV40), which expresses in all cell types. The pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector contains a Pst I restriction enzyme site, which can be utilized to linearize constructs for transfection.

#### d. Digestion Reactions

In order to remove TCRV $\delta$ 5, pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 was digested with Bgl II and Xho I enzymes. Reactions were performed in 20 µl volumes, with 1 unit Bgl II (10,000 units/ml, New England BioLabs), 1 unit Xho I (20,000 units/ml, New England BioLabs), 1X BSA (100 µg/ml; New England BioLabs), 1X Buffer 3 (50 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM 2,3-dihydroxy-1,4-dithiobutane {DTT}, pH 7.9 at 25°C; New England BioLabs), and 5-10 µl pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296, with the rest of volume made up with ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The digested pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector excluding the TCRV $\delta$ 5 gene was purified from 1% agarose 1X TAE gels using the protocol from the QIAEx®II Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN Inc.; Valencia, California, USA).

#### e. Ligation Reactions

The V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 cDNAs were cloned into the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector already containing a thrombin linker and CD3 $\zeta$ , through the Xho I and Bgl II restriction sites for linkage. As a consequence, the extracellular domains of TCR $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains are fused

directly to the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains of CD3 $\zeta$  (see Figure 3). Twenty-µl ligation reactions were set up in 0.5 ml microcentrifuge Eppendorf tubes, consisting of 15.5-16.25 µl of V $\gamma$ 5 or V $\delta$ 1 purified DNA, 0.75-1.5 µl pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector, 1 µl T4 DNA Ligase (400,000 units/ml, New England BioLabs), and 2 µl 10X T4 Ligase buffer (New England BioLabs), such that the insert:vector concentration ratio was in the range of 10-20:1. Reactions were performed at 16°C for 2 hours, followed by heatinactivation of T4 Ligase at 65°C for 10 minutes. Samples were placed on ice after reactions were completed.

**Figure 3.** Completed constructs. TCR V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains were ligated into pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 using Xho I and BgI II sites. pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 contains a Pst I site, which was used to linearize constructs for transfection. Amp<sup>R</sup> indicates the ampicillin resistance gene contained in the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector.



#### f. Plasmid Transformations

Plasmids were transformed into MAX Efficiency® DH5 $\alpha^{TM}$  Competent Cells (competent E-coli, Invitrogen; Carlsbad, California, USA). One, 4, or 15 µl of ligation product were gently mixed into 50 ml of DH5 $\alpha^{TM}$  competent cells and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were then heat-shocked in a 42°C water bath for 45 seconds, followed by a 2-minute incubation on ice. Nine-hundred µl of SOC medium (2% Bacto®tryptone {Difco Laboratories, Detroit, Michigan, USA}, 0.5% Bacto®yeast extract {Difco}, 10mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 10mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 20 mM Glucose) were added at room temperature. Vials were then shaken horizontally at 37°C for 1 hour at ~225 rpm.

#### g. Plasmid Isolation

Newly-transformed DH5 $\alpha^{TM}$  competent cells were plated onto freshly prepared Luria-Bertani (LB) agar plates with 100 µg/ml ampicillin using a flame-sterilized glass rod to spread cells in a circular motion until dried onto plate. Plates were placed liddown in a plate incubator at 37°C overnight.

Five ml LB + 100  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin cultures of transformed DH5 $\alpha^{TM}$  cells selected by individual colonies were grown in a horizontal shaker ~245 rpm at 37°C overnight. Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 2250 rpm (Sorval RT7plus). The supernatant was discarded, and the bacterial pellet was resuspended in 250  $\mu$ l of Buffer P1, provided in the QIAprep® Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN Inc.; Valencia, California, USA), by repeated pipetting. Resuspended bacteria were transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge Eppendorf tube. DNA was isolated from bacteria as directed by the QIAprep® Spin Miniprep Kit manufacturers with the following

modifications. After the wash step with Buffer PE, samples in mini-columns were spun for 1 minute at 13,000 rpm. Samples were centrifuged for an additional 3 minutes to remove residual Buffer PE before proceeding to the elution step. At the elution step, 30  $\mu$ l of Buffer EB was added to the mini-column, followed by a 5-minute incubation at room temperature. Samples were then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 minutes. A second elution with 20  $\mu$ l of Buffer EB was then performed, with an additional 5-minute incubation at room temperature, followed by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 2 minutes. The eluates were combined in the same tube. These modifications were found to optimize DNA yield and concentration.

Digestion reactions with Xho I and Bgl II enzymes were set up for DNA obtained from each transformed colony to ensure that the proper V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains were present in addition to the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector. Single-enzyme digestions were set up as a control alongside double-enzyme digests. For double-enzyme digests, the reactions were performed in 20 µl volumes, consisting of the following: 5 µl of DNA, 2 µl of Buffer 3 (New England BioLabs), 0.2 µl 100X BSA (10 mg/ml; New England Biolabs), 0.5 µl of Xho I (20,000 units/ml; New England BioLabs), 0.5 µl of Bgl II (10,000 units/ml; New England BioLabs), and 11.8 µl of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Single-enzyme digests consisted of the following, also in 20 µl total volumes: 5 µl of DNA, 2 µl of Buffer 2 (10 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 50 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT, pH 7.9 at 25°C, New England BioLabs), 0.2 µl of 100X BSA, 0.5 µl of Xho I, and 12.3 µl of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Reactions were performed at 37°C for 2 hours. Digestion products were electrophoresed on 2% agarose 1X TAE gels, stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized under ultraviolet radiation.

To verify that correct sequences of the V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains had been ligated into the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector, samples of V $\gamma$ 5- and V $\delta$ 1-containing plasmid DNA (700 ng in 24 µl volume reactions) were sent to the Keck DNA Sequencing Facility at Yale University for sequencing prior to their being used for transfection into heterologous cells.

# 2. Transfection into Rat Basophil Leukemia (RBL) Cells

#### a. RBL-2H3 Cell Line

The rat basophil leukemia cell line (RBL-2H3) was kindly provided by Carrie Steele, Ph.D., and Adrian Hayday, Ph.D. The RBLs were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) with Earl's Salts (Gibco Life Technologies), 10% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS, Gibco Life Technologies), 1% Non-Essential Amino Acids (Gibco Life Technologies), 2 mM L-Glutamine, 100 units/ml Penicillin, and 100 µg/ml Streptomycin. MEM with the stated added ingredients is referred to as complete MEM (CMEM).

#### **b. Transfection Protocol**

For stable transfection, V $\gamma$ 5 pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 and V $\delta$ 1 pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 were linearized with Pst I (100,000 units/ml, New England BioLabs). Reaction concentrations were 40 units of Pst I, 38 µg of plasmid constructs, 1X Buffer 3 (New England BioLabs), and rest of volume made up with ddH<sub>2</sub>O. To provide the neomycin resistance gene required for selection of transfectants, a plasmid called pCiNeo was linearized with Xho I (20,000 units/ml, New England BioLabs). Reaction concentrations were 25 units of Xho I, 21 µg of pCiNeo, 1X BSA, 1X Buffer 2 (New England BioLabs), and rest of volume

made up with ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Linearized DNA was extracted with phenol:chloroform:isoamylalcohol (25:24:1, Merck), ethanol precipitated, and resuspended in 10-20  $\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O, giving a final concentration of ~1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l for each linearized construct.

The following steps were performed by Carrie Steele, Ph.D. at Guy's King's St. Thomas' School of Medicine Guy's Hospital in London, England. RBL-2H3 cells were trypsinized and resuspended in 0.25 ml of Dulbecco's Modified Essential Media (DMEM), with 16% FCS, 20 mM Hepes (Gibco Life Technologies), 2 mM L-Glutamine, 100 units/ml Penicillin, 100 µg/ml Streptomycin, and 150 µg/ml Gentamicin (Gibco Life Technologies) at a concentration of  $4 \times 10^7$  cells/ml. The cell suspension was transferred to a 0.4 cm gap cuvette with 9  $\mu$ g linearized Vy5 pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296, 9  $\mu$ g V $\delta$ 1 pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296, and 2 µg pCiNeo. A charge of 260 V and 500 mF was applied with a gene pulser (Bio-Rad) at room temperature. Following a 10-minute recovery at room temperature, the cells were transferred back into CMEM for culture. Forty-eight hours after transfection, cells were selected in 0.5 mg/ml G418 sulfate (Gibco Life Technologies), with selection increasing to 1 mg/ml after another 48 hours. G418 is an aminoglycoside active against aerobic and facultative aerobic gram-negative bacilli as well as some gram-positive bacteria [230]. In general, this antibiotic is used for selection of transfectants expressing an aminoglycoside-modifying enzyme, one of which is conferred to the RBL transfectants used in this experiment by the co-transfection with pCiNeo containing the neomycin resistance gene. Control transfectants were generated by transfection of RBL cells with pCiNeo alone to generate the RBLneo line.

#### 3. Selection of Individual RBLγδ Clones

Individual RBL $\gamma\delta$  clones were isolated in cloning wells through two methods. The first method entailed limiting dilutions, in which transfected RBL cells that had been selected by 1 mg/ml G418 were trypsinized and diluted to a concentration of ~1 cell/300 µl. In a 96-well flat-bottomed plate, 100 µl of cells at this concentration were transferred to each well and allowed to grow in CMEM at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. With such a strategy, individual clones would each have to be tested for the presence of the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR. The second method was utilized after a population of RBL $\gamma\delta$ + transfectants was identified by monoclonal antibody staining and flow cytometry (described below), from which RBL $\gamma\delta$ + cells were single-sorted into individual wells of a flat-bottomed 96-well plate. With this method, any clone that proliferated would be expected to express the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR.

# a. Antibodies

The monoclonal antibodies (MoAb) to murine proteins used in this project were acquired from PharMingen unless otherwise stated. The following antibodies were used to stain RBL transfectants: phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated hamster anti-C $\delta$  TCR (PE-GL3), fluorescein isothiocynate (FITC)-conjugated hamster anti-C $\delta$  TCR (FITC-GL3), PE-conjugated anti-hamster IgG (isotype-matched control antibody), FITC-conjugated anti-hamster IgG (isotype-matched control antibody), rat IgM (control antibody), and FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM (as secondary antibody to detect 17D1). 17D1 MoAb specific for DETC V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR [64] was kindly provided by Lewis and Tigelaar (Yale University, Department of Dermatology).

### b. Flow Cytometry

Approximately 1 X 10<sup>6</sup> cells were incubated with the appropriate MoAb on ice for 30-60 minutes, then washed twice in staining buffer (1X PBS/1% FCS) by centrifuging sample at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes, with staining buffer being discarded between washes. Cells were resuspended in 1 ml staining buffer and placed into Falcon® 2058 polystyrene tubes (Becton Dickinson; Sunnyvale, California, USA). Isotypematched control antibodies were used at the same concentrations as test antibodies. Analysis was performed with a FACScan<sup>™</sup> (Becton Dickinson) with electronic gates set on live cells by a combination of forward and side light scatter. A minimum of 10<sup>4</sup> live events was collected per sample and data were analyzed with CellQUEST<sup>™</sup> software.

# c. Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)

RBL transfectants were incubated with PE-GL3 on ice for 30-60 minutes, then washed in staining buffer, all under sterile conditions. Cells were resuspended in 1 ml staining buffer and placed into sterile Falcon® 2058 polystyrene tubes. Transfectants were then analyzed by flow cytometry, and GL3 positive cells were subsequently sorted using Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) technology. FACS was performed with the generous help of staff at the Guy's King's St. Thomas' School of Medicine Guy's Hospital in London, England, using a Mo Flo high speed cell sorter (Cytomation). The V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1+ RBL cells were cultured in 10% FCS/CMEM at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. This "enriched" population was allowed to proliferate until re-analysis with PE-GL3, FITC-GL3, and 17D1 with FITC-anti-rat IgG + IgM at a later time point determined by rate of proliferation. The percentage of V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR+ RBL transfectants was expected to be significantly higher in any population in which such "enrichment" was performed.

# 4. RBL-3H Serotonin Release Assay Protocol

The RBL transfectants were removed from culture flasks using Versene (EDTA), counted, and pelleted by centrifugation. The cells were then resuspended in 10%FCS/MEM + 1 mg/ml G418 media to a concentration of 3 X  $10^4$  cell/100 ul, and 100 ul added to multiple wells of a flat-bottomed 96-well plate. Transfectants were loaded overnight at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 5-[1,2-<sup>3</sup>H(N)] hydroxytryptamine binoxalate (<sup>3</sup>H serotonin), at a concentration of 4 µCi/ml, or 0.4 µCi/well. The next day, cells were washed twice with ice-cold DMEM containing 2% FCS to remove excess serotonin that had not been incorporated into cells. Four testing conditions were set up in triplicate wells for an assay. First, GL3 hybridoma cells were used as effector cells in order to determine whether the transfectants would release serotonin in response to cell-bound ligand. In addition to secreting antibody specific for the constant (C) region of the  $\delta$  gene, the GL3 hybridoma expresses surface anti-TCR $\delta$  antibody which has been found to successfully cross-link the TCR on RBLy& transfectants, signaling for serotonin release in a dosedependent fashion (Steele and Hayday, unpublished data). Second, transfectants were incubated with supernatant collected from cultures of 17D1 hybridoma cells, which contains soluble 17D1 antibody specific for the Vy5/Vô1 TCR [64]. To determine if transfectants would release serotonin in response to as-yet unidentified ligands on keratinocytes, skin keratinocytes from the PDV line were used as target cells. Finally, phorbol myristate acetate (PMA)/ionomycin was used at a concentration of 0.5 µg PMA + 5 X  $10^{-5}$  umoles of ionomycin per 50 µL in each well. PMA/ionomycin causes a rise in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> resulting in degranulation, thus allowing it to be an appropriate positive

control to demonstrate ability of RBL $\gamma\delta$  transfectants to release serotonin upon stimulation, albeit not through the  $\gamma\delta$  TCR.

Effector cells were prepared at a concentration of 3 X 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well, i.e. a 1:10 RBL transfectant:effector cell ratio. Effector cells were reconstituted in a volume of 50 µl/well, using 2% FCS/complete DMEM (DMEM with added 2 mM L-Glutamine, 100 units/ml Penicillin, and 100 µg/ml Streptomycin). For the 17D1 supernatant, 50 µl were added directly to the RBL cells. The plate was incubated for 45 minutes at 37°C. Supernatants were harvested and transferred to a UniFilter<sup>TM</sup> 96-well microplate with a built-in filter (PerkinElmer Life Sciences). Cells were then lysed in 1% Nonidet P-40 detergent in PBS (20mM Tris pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 0.2% sodium azide, 1% NP-40 detergent), and lysates were transferred to the same UniFilter<sup>TM</sup> microplate in separate wells. The UniFilter<sup>TM</sup> microplate was incubated at 37°C until all wells were dried. To each well, 25 ml of scintillation fluid was then added, and UniFilter<sup>TM</sup> plate was placed in a Microplate Scintillation & Luminescence Counter (Packard) to quantitate <sup>3</sup>H content. Percentage <sup>3</sup>H serotonin release was calculated using the following formula:

% <sup>3</sup>H serotonin release = counts per minute (cpm) in supernatant

cpm in supernatant + cpm in lysate

Triplicate wells were averaged to obtain a mean % <sup>3</sup>H serotonin release for each testing condition.

# III. RESULTS

### A. TOTAL SERUM IGE MEASUREMENTS

# 1. Lack of correlation between total IgE levels and SpD in C57BL/6 and NOD mice

Total serum IgE levels in wild-type (w.t.) and  $\delta$ -/- mice on C57BL/6 and NOD backgrounds were measured by ELISA. All B6 mice regardless of genotype were housed in CNVC. In contrast, groups of NOD w.t. and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice were housed in different environmental settings, some in CNVC and others in IVC. As described in the Girardi et al. study (2002), the development of a spontaneous, chronic, localized dermatitis in  $\delta$ -/miee, manifested by erythema, edema, and pruritus, along with a thickened epidermis showing histopathologic features typical of chronic dermatitis, was previously found to be strikingly genotype- and strain-dependent. Unmanipulated NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice developed a spontaneous cutaneous inflammation of the ears, while normal NOD controls did not. Additionally, both C57BL/6 w.t. and C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- mice showed no clinical or histological evidence of spontaneous dermatitis. This SpD phenotype was further found to be environmentally-dependent, as NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice raised from birth in CNVC developed obvious dermatitis by 6 weeks of age, while age-matched NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice raised from birth in IVC failed to develop clinical or histologic evidence of dermatitis [231].

Based on these findings, with the hypothesis that IgE plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of this inflammatory dermatitis, it was expected that total serum IgE levels would correlate positively with the presence of SpD. In other words, NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, which presumably contains the appropriate environmental triggers

necessary to provoke an inflammatory process within the epidermis, would have significantly higher IgE levels than NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in IVC and NOD w.t. mice in either environment. In addition, it was expected that NOD. $\delta$ -/- would show higher IgE levels than both B6 w.t. and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice, which did not exhibit skin inflammation despite being housed with the same environmental triggers as the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice which showed inflammation.

As previously mentioned, ear phenotypes and baseline thicknesses of the specific animals (age 11-16 weeks) from which serum IgE levels were sampled were assessed on the day of serum collection. As expected, B6 w.t. mice housed in CNVC did not show any signs of cutaneous inflammation. In addition, B6. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC did not develop signs of spontaneous dermatitis (SpD), having a mean baseline ear thickness of 11.9 + 0.2 in. X  $10^{-3}$  (Figure 4A). No signs of SpD were found in NOD w.t. mice housed in CNVC, which had a mean baseline ear thickness measurement of 11.9 + 0.5in. X 10<sup>-3</sup>. Also as expected, NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in IVC had a comparable level of baseline ear thickness of 11.8 + 0.4 in. X  $10^{-3}$ . Meanwhile, NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC showed a baseline ear thickness of 19.9 + 0.7 in. X  $10^{-3}$ , significantly higher than NOD w.t. mice and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in IVC ( $p < 10^{-7}$ ). These results were consistent with previous findings showing that such spontaneous, chronic cutaneous inflammation is dependent on several factors: 1) type of strain, developing in the NOD background and not the C57BL/6; 2) the presence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, developing only in  $\delta$ -/mice: and 3) the presence of appropriate environmental antigenic stimulation, developing only in mice housed in the CNVC environment [147, 231].



Figure 4A. Spontaneous dermatitis (SpD) developed only in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in conventional non-ventilated cages (CNVC). None of the mice housed in individually-ventilated cages (IVC) showed signs of SpD. Of the mice housed in CNVC, only NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice exhibited erythema and pruritus, as well as ear swelling manifested by an increase in baseline ear thickness. Ears were measured using an engineer's micrometer and are expressed as in. X 10<sup>-3</sup> ± standard error of the mean (SEM). \* $p < 10^{-7}$ 



Figure 4B. Serum total IgE levels and presence of SpD do not correlate. Total IgE levels (determined by ELISA) within a given strain did not differ based on the presence/absence of SpD or  $\gamma\delta$  cells, nor on the environment in which they were housed. IgE levels were significantly higher in both NOD w.t. and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice than in similarly housed B6 w.t. and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice. \*p < 0.05 vs. C57BL/6 w.t. and C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/-; \*\*p < 0.001 vs. C57BL/6 w.t. and C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/-

Surprisingly, however, total serum IgE levels did not correlate with presence of SpD, nor with the environment in which they were housed. Total serum IgE levels of NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC and those housed in IVC did not differ (Figure 4B). Furthermore, total serum IgE levels did not differ based on the presence or absence of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. NOD w.t. mice, housed either in CNVC or in IVC, had levels of total serum IgE comparable to NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice (CNVC: 204 ± 59 (SEM) ng/ml; IVC: 349 ± 112). In contrast, total serum IgE levels were significantly strain-dependent. B6 w.t. mice housed in CNVC had an average total serum IgE level of 70 ± 42 ng/ml (p < 0.05 versus NOD w.t. housed in CNVC and in IVC), while B6. $\delta$ -/- mice had an average level of 51 ± 22 ng/ml (p < 0.001 versus NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC and in IVC).

Among (B6 X NOD)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, no clinical signs of spontaneous dermatitis developed, and baseline ear thickness was indistinguishable from that seen in age- and sex-matched B6. $\delta$ -/- mice, consistent with results found by Girardi et al. (2002). Interestingly, the mean total serum IgE level found in (B6 X NOD)F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice was also indistinguishable from that seen in B6. $\delta$ -/- mice, having a mean concentration of 82 ± 24 ng/ml, suggesting that recessive gene(s) are responsible for the high total serum IgE levels in NOD (w.t. and  $\delta$ -/-) mice.

# 2. Lack of correlation between total IgE levels and SpD among (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X F<sub>1</sub>)BC. $\delta$ -/- mice

Of 235 ( $F_1 X NOD$ )BC. $\delta$ -/- and (NOD X  $F_1$ )BC. $\delta$ -/- mice, all housed in CNVC, 32 animals with the highest level of inflammation and 33 animals with the lowest level of inflammation were selected from which to obtain total serum IgE measurements. Individual ear measurements ranged from 11.00 to 28.50 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup>. The mean baseline

ear thickness of BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with high level of inflammation ("presence of SpD") was 22.5 ± 2.7 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup>, while that of BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with lack of inflammation ("absence of SpD") was 11.9 ± 0.7 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup> ( $p < 10^{-26}$ ) (Figure 5A). Again, contrary to the expected finding that animals with signs of SpD would show higher IgE levels than those which did not, no correlation was found between serum IgE concentration and the presence of SpD in BC. $\delta$ -/- mice. The mean total serum IgE level of BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with obvious inflammation was 249 ± 48 ng/ml, while that of BC. $\delta$ -/- mice without inflammation was 229 + 48 ng/ml (Figure 5B).

These findings, therefore, do not lend support to the hypothesis that IgE antibodies play a primary role in the pathogenesis of SpD in genetically susceptible and appropriately housed mice. However, they do not formally exclude a role for IgE or other antibodies in the mechanism(s) accounting for the development of this phenotype.

### 3. Total IgE levels higher in females versus males

In an analysis of BC. $\delta$ -/- mice segregated by sex, Girardi et al. (2002) had found that 48% (55/114) of females and 36% (44/121) of males were NOD-like. These differences between the male and female incidences of the susceptible phenotype were not statistically significant. Likewise, the frequency of phenotypically susceptible mice was similar in groups of BC animals segregated according to the sex of the NOD parent [147]. In sum, there was no statistically significant evidence for sex-linked genes affecting the development of spontaneous dermatitis. In this same study, it was found that baseline ear thickness in males tended to be higher than age-matched female counterparts. Such results are not surprising given the larger overall size of male animals



(F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC. $\delta$ -/-Presence of SpD Absence of SpD

Figure 5A. (B6 X NOD)F<sub>1</sub> X NOD backcross (BC). $\delta$ -/- mice categorized as "presence of SpD" showed significant inflammation, as shown by significantly higher increased ear thickness measurements, compared to those with "absence of SpD." Thirty-two (of 235) BC mice were identified to have the highest measurements of ear thickness ("presence of SpD"), while 33 BC mice were selected for their lowest ear thickness measurements ("absence of SpD"). The difference in mean baseline ear thicknesses was statistically significant. \* $p < 10^{-26}$ 



(F<sub>1</sub> X NOD)BC.δ–/– Presence of SpD Absence of SpD

Figure 5B. The presence of SpD in (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD) BC. $\delta$ -/- mice was not associated with higher lgE levels. Thirty-two (of 235) BC mice were identified to have the highest measurements of ear thickness ("presence of SpD"), while 33 BC mice were selected for their lowest ear thickness measurements ("absence of SpD"). There was no difference in IgE levels despite the difference in SpD development.
compared to females. In the present analysis, among the BC. $\delta$ -/- mice showing the lowest level of inflammation, measurements ranged from 11.00 to 11.75 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup> (mean=11.3 ± 0.1) for females, and 12.25 to 13.00 (mean=12.5 ± 0.1) for males (  $p < 10^{-13}$ ). Interestingly, however, among the BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with obvious SpD, female mice had a mean baseline ear thickness of 23.7 ± 0.7 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup> (ranging from 20.25 to 28.50), while male mice had a mean ear thickness of 21.2 ± 0.5 in. X 10<sup>-3</sup> (ranging from 16.75 to 24.00; p < 0.005) (Figure 6A). More intriguing was the finding that the total serum IgE level in female BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with inflammation was significantly higher than that of males with inflammation (348 ± 78 ng/ml vs. 137 ± 34 ng/ml: p < 0.03) (Figure 6B). Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice which lacked signs of SpD, there was no difference in mean total serum IgE levels between males and females.

Female mice were also found to have higher IgE levels than their male counterparts in three other groups, all of which were mice deficient in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and housed in CNVC (Figure 6C). In NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, which were the only animals showing evidence of spontaneous dermatitis, there was no difference in mean baseline ear thickness of females versus males. However, mean total IgE concentration was significantly higher in females compared to males (p < 0.05). In B6. $\delta$ -/- and F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, no animals developed spontaneous inflammation. Nonetheless, curiously, females compared to males were found to have significantly higher total IgE levels (p < 0.05), whereas no significant difference in total serum IgE concentration was found between males and females among  $\delta$ +/+ mice or among  $\delta$ -/- mice housed in IVC.



Figure 6A. Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice showing SpD, female mice had a greater mean baseline ear thickness compared to male mice. Among BC. $\delta$ -/- without SpD, male mice had a greater mean baseline ear thickness compared to females, consistent with their larger overall size. In BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with SpD, on the other hand, female mice had a significantly higher mean baseline ear thickness than male mice. \**p* < 0.005



(F₁ X NOD)BC.δ–/– Presence of SpD Absence of SpD

Figure 6B. Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice showing SpD, female mice had higher total serum IgE levels compared to male mice. This finding was in contrast from that seen among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice lacking signs of SpD, in which there was no difference in mean total serum IgE levels between males and females. \**p* < 0.03





# **B. GENETIC ANALYSIS**

# 1. Genetic interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice are distinct from those found for other mouse models of AD

Genome-wide microsatellite mapping studies in two other distinct mouse models of "atopic dermatitis-like" disease have recently mapped major susceptibility intervals controlling dermatitis to a region on chromosome 9 in NC/Nga mice and on chromosome 14 in NOA mice [152, 153]. With primers which distinguish NOD from B6 simple sequence length polymorphisms approximately in the centers of the previously described susceptibility intervals on chromosomes 9 (D9Mit105) and 14 (D14Mit262), analysis was performed of the DNA obtained from the 99 BC mice with obvious SpD using the criteria described in the previous chapter. If there were *no* linkage between the loci and the SpD phenotype, the expected number of samples exhibiting the NOD-specific SSLP on both chromosomes (NOD/NOD) would be exactly half the total number of samples tested, i.e. of 60 total samples, 30 would show NOD/NOD and 30 NOD/B6. Such a finding would lead to a  $\chi^2$  value of 0. A suggestive linkage, on the other hand, is defined by a  $\chi^2$  value of  $\geq$  8.7, while significant linkage is defined by a  $\chi^2$  value of  $\geq$  15.2 [228]. The similar frequencies of homozygous (NOD/NOD) versus heterozygous (NOD/B6) genotypes for the D9Mit105 and D14Mit262 clearly indicate that the interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD.8-/- mice are not the same as those found for the NC/Nga or NOA mice (Table 2). The genetic interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD.8-/- mice are indeed distinct from intervals previously described for susceptibility to AD-like disease in other mouse models established to date.

	Chromosome 9 (D9Mit105)		Chromosome 14 (D14Mit262)	
Genotype	Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected
NOD/NOD	50	49.5	28	30
NOD/C57BL.6	49	49.5	32	30

Table 2. The genetic interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice are distinct from those found for other mouse models of AD.  $\chi^2$  analyses of the frequencies of homozygous (NOD/NOD) versus heterozygous (NOD/B6) genotypes for two specific genetic loci. Genome-wide microsatellite mapping studies in two other distinct mouse models of "atopic dermatitis-like" disease have recently mapped major susceptibility intervals controlling dermatitis to a region on chromosome 9 in NC/Nga mice and on chromosome 14 in NOA mice. With primers which distinguish NOD from B6 simple sequence length polymorphisms in the approximate centers of the previously described susceptibility intervals on chromosomes 9 and 14, analysis of the DNA (by PCR amplification and gel electrophoresis) obtained from the 99 BC. $\delta$ -/- mice with obvious SpD was done. The similar frequencies of homozygous versus heterozygous genotypes for these loci clearly indicate that the interval(s) controlling susceptibility to SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice are not the same as those found for the NC/Nga or NOA mice.

# C. CONSTRUCTION OF V5-J1-Cγ1/V1-D2-J2-Cδ T-CELL RECEPTOR

# 1. Generation of Expression Constructs

# a. V<sub>Y</sub>5 and V<sub>8</sub>1 genes and chimeric constructs

V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 cDNA were amplified from DETC cDNA produced by RT-PCR from freshly-isolated DETC mRNA. Primers were designed such that the PCR product would be flanked at its 5' end by an Xho I restriction site just before the leader sequence, and at its 3' end by a Bgl II restriction site. The Bgl II restriction site was added strategically to truncate the V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 genes directly after the cysteine residues involved in the interchain disulfide bond. Such placement of the Bgl II site allowed for the direct fusion of the extracellular domains of V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 to the thrombin linker region and CD3 $\zeta$ . TCR $\zeta$  provides the transmembrane domain for both chains. The V $\gamma$ 5 cDNA amplification showed the expected size of 779 bp, while the V $\delta$ 1 cDNA amplification showed the expected size of 767 bp. TCR $\gamma$  and TCR $\delta$  cDNAs were then purified from 1% agarose 1X TAE gels using QIAEXII® gel extraction and gene sequences were confirmed by fluorescence based DNA sequence analysis on an ABI 377 automatic sequencer (performed on a fee-for-service basis in Yale University's Keck Center facilities).

The V $\gamma$ 5 sequence was found to have a conservative single point mutation at position 823, substituting a thymine base (T) for a cytosine base (C). The triplet sequences of CCT and CCC both code for proline, thus allowing for conservation of amino acid sequence. The V $\delta$ 1 sequence also showed a conservative single point mutation, this time at position 616, substituting a guanine base (G) for an adenine base (A). In this case, the triplet sequences of AAG and AAA both code for lysine, thus again allowing for conservation of amino acid sequence. Therefore, the sequences of both V $\gamma$ 5

and  $V\delta 1$  were confirmed to encode the proper sequence of amino acids to form the DETC TCR.

#### b. pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector

The pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector was kindly provided by Carrie Steele, Ph.D. from the laboratory of Adrian Hayday, Ph.D. (Guy's Hospital, London, England) as a construct containing a V $\delta$ 5 gene linked directly to a mouse TCR $\zeta$  gene through a region encoding a thrombin cleavage site. The V $\delta$ 5 gene was removed by digestion with the Xho I and Bgl II restriction enzymes, followed by purification of the digested pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector using QIAExII® gel extraction.

### c. Ligation Reactions

The V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains were ligated into the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector through the Xho I and Bgl II restriction sites. The measured concentrations of the purified V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 cDNAs were 4.69 ng/µl and 2.35 ng/µl, respectively. The concentration of the purified pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector was 14 ng/µl. In order to set up reactions with an insert:vector concentration ratio of 10-20:1, 15.5 µl of V $\gamma$ 5 and 16.3 µl of V $\delta$ 1 purified DNA were ligated into 1.5 µl and 1 µl of pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector, respectively. After the ligation reactions were completed at 16°C, samples were incubated at 65°C for 10 minutes to heat-inactivate the T4 ligase, followed by placement on ice and storage at - 20°C until used for transformation.

### d. Plasmid Transformations and Isolation

The complete plasmids were transformed into MAX Efficiency DH5 $\alpha^{TM}$ Competent Cells and individual colonies were isolated and grown. Digestion reactions with Xho I and Bgl II enzymes were set up for DNA obtained from each transformed colony to ensure proper V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains were present in addition to the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector. Figure 7 shows single-enzyme and double-enzyme digests of two transformed colonies for V $\gamma$ 5-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 and two transformed colonies for V $\delta$ 1pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 (other colonies not shown). Each of these transformed colonies showed evidence of the appropriately-sized V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chain, along with the pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector, confirming successful transformation of the *E. coli* cells.

Approximately 700 ng of plasmid DNA from one colony transformed with the V $\gamma$ 5-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 plasmid and 700 ng of plasmid DNA from one colony transformed with the V $\delta$ 1-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 plasmid were sent for sequencing before being used in electroporation of the heterologous cell type RBL-2H3. Each of these colonies indeed showed the same sequence for the V $\gamma$ 5 and V $\delta$ 1 chains as those found for the chains before ligation into the vector and transformation of the *E.coli* cells (data not shown). Thus, conservation of correct sequences was confirmed.

## 2. Transfection of RBL-2H3

#### a. Electroporation

RBL-2H3 cells were transfected by electroporation with both V $\gamma$ 5-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 and V $\delta$ 1-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 constructs, linearized by digestion with Pst I, along with linearized pCiNeo. Cells were transferred back to CMEM for culture, then selected in



Figure 7. Xho I single-enzyme and Xho I/Bgl II double-enzyme digests of V $\gamma$ 5-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 and V $\delta$ 1-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 transformed colonies. Each of the transformed *E.coli* colonies showed evidence of the appropriately-sized V $\gamma$ 5 or V $\delta$ 1 chain and the digested pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 vector, confirming successful transformation of the bacteria with the V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296 plasmids.

0.5 mg/ml G418 sulfate forty-eight hours after transfection, with selection increasing to 1 mg/ml after another 48 hours. The parent line of RBL-2H3 cells was also successfully transfected with pCiNeo only (RBL-Neo), allowing these cells to be used later as a negative control.

## 3. Transfectants Expressing Vγ5/Vδ1

# a. Enrichment of Bulk Transfectants

Approximately 4 X  $10^7$  RBL-2H3 cells were transfected simultaneously with V $\gamma$ 5pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296, V $\delta$ 1-pCDL-SR $\alpha$ 296, and pCiNeo plasmids. Selection with 0.5 mg/ml G418, followed by selection with 1.0 mg/ml G418, was carried out over 4 days. On posttransfection day 10 (PTD-10), the  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants that had been growing in a 10-ml pctri dish were analyzed by flow cytometry, after staining the cells with PE-conjugated anti-C $\delta$  antibody (PE-GL3). Of the cells analyzed, 0.3% stained positive for GL3 (data not shown). As expected, C $\delta$  was not detected on RBL-Neo negative control transfectants (Figure 8A). Using FACS technology, 192 of the GL3-positive cells were sorted into 2 separate 96-well flat-bottomed plates, one cell per well, in order to develop clonal populations. Approximately 900 GL3-positive cells remained, which were then transferred in bulk to a 10-ml petri dish with normal culture media CMEM. Such "enrichment" was expected to show a significantly higher percentage of GL3-positive cells upon future analysis.

These "bulk" transfectants were allowed to grow in CMEM + 1.0 mg/ml G418 for an additional 10 days, at which point they were re-analyzed with PE-GL3. Approximately 1.76 X  $10^6$  cells were counted, of which 10-12% were found to be GL3-





Panel:

positive (Figure 8B). After analysis,  $1.2 \times 10^6$  cells were transferred into a mediumsized (T50 ml) flask to continue growing in culture.

Curiously, the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants at this point, after transfer to a 50-ml flask, did not show steady growth. In fact, a large proportion of cells quickly died, indicated by their floating in culture versus remaining attached to the bottom of the flask. The remaining cells that survived (exact percentage or number unknown) continued to appear attached to the flask bottom but did not exhibit visible proliferation. Discrete groups of cells began to grow in clumps, i.e. cells appearing to divide but accumulating on top of each other; however, the cultured cells did not reach confluence. Two weeks after having transferred the cells to a 50-ml flask (PTD 34), the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants were trypsinized and transferred to a flat-bottomed single well in a 6-well plate. Growth of the cells was soon visible, and on PTD 38, confluence of the cells in the well allowed for transfer of the cells to a 25-ml flask. On PTD 39, cells had reached confluence and were thus transferred to a larger 50-ml flask. Ten days later, on PTD 49, cells were reanalyzed with PE-conjugated GL3 antibody, at which point 18.5% of the cells were found to be GL3-positive (Figure 8C).

Cells were transferred to a 75-ml flask in order to allow proliferation, with the intention to freeze cells as stock for future sorting and culturing. Immediately prior to freezing, on PTD 59, FACS analyses showed that 16-17% of the RBL transfectants were GL3-positive, with a similar percentage (16%) of cells staining positively with 17D1 MoAb, detected by consequent staining with FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM (Figure 9A and 9B).



indicates the population of cells analyzed. The other ungated population represents dead cells. Gate I in panel 2 surrounds the RBL cells staining positive for GL3. PE-GL3 fluoresces in the FL2 channel. Gate D in panel 4 indicates the RBL cells that fluoresce positively with PE-GL3, from which the percentage of cells positive for TCR Cô was determined. C) On the 49<sup>th</sup> day since the initial transfection (post-transfection B) Approximately 0.3% of the RBL-2H3 iransfectants were initially PE-GL3 positive (data not shown). GL3-positive cells were further enriched by sorting using FACS technology. After 0 additional days of culture in selection (1.0 mg/ml G418) media, ~10-12% of RBL transfectants was found to be GL3-positive. Gate A in panel day, or PTD, 49), this "enriched" population was re-analyzed and found to contain ~18.5% GL3-positive cells. Figure 8B & C. Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched bulk" RBL Vy5/Vô1 transfectants.



Figure 9A & B. Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched bulk" RBL Vy5/Võ1 transfectants on PTD 59. A) TCRô of the RBL-2H3 transfectants was stained with PE-GL3. By PTD 59, the "enriched bulk" transfectants showed ~16% to be GL3-positive, shown in Panels 2 and 4. B) Cells of this same population were stained for the Vy5/Võ1 TCR (specific for DETC) with the MoAb 17D1 (anti-Vy5/Võ1), then with FITC-conjugated anti-rat lgG + lgM. A similar percentage of ~16% was found to be 17D1-positive. FITC-conjugated 17D1 fluoresces Gate C in panel 3 indicates the RBL cells that fluoresce positively for 17D1, from which the percentage of cells positive for TCR Vy5/V01 was determined. in the FL1 channel, shown in Panel 2.

# b. Clonal Populations

Of the 192 GL3-positive cells that were single-sorted into two 96-well plates, a total of approximately 23 clones on one 96-well plate and 20 clones on the other 96-well plate eventually grew into visible colonies. Approximately 50 of these colonies total were allowed to proliferate, being transferred only after they reached a minimum size (approximately 1 mm in diameter) and cultured into increasingly larger volumes of When colonies had expanded to approximately 6 X  $10^5$  cells (reaching media. confluence in a single well of a 6-well plate), they were each analyzed by FACS to determine percentage of cells positive for GL3. Several colonies showed 0.1% GL3positive cells, while others showed approximately 4% to 11%. Only one colony (#45) showed a substantially higher percentage of GL3-positive cells compared to the other colonies tested (Figure 10A). This colony was 28% GL3-positive when first analyzed 17 days after being picked from the 96-well plate (PTD 38). Staining with 17D1 MoAb on the cells of this colony on the same day showed the cells to be 18% positive, a slightly lower percentage than that found of GL3-positive cells (Figure 10B). On day 24 after being picked from the 96-well plate (PTD 45), clone #45 was analyzed again and the GL3-positive cells sorted by FACS. Of 7.63 X 10<sup>6</sup> cells total, approximately 400,000 cells were GL3-positive. The GL3-positive cells were cultured for three days and then re-analyzed by double-staining, i.e. initial staining with PE-GL3, followed by incubation with 17D1 MoAb, and finally by staining with FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM in order to detect 17D1. FACS analysis revealed cells to be 81% GL3-positive and 65% 17D1-positive (Figure 11).



Figure 10A & B. Flow cytometric analysis of RBL V<sub>Y</sub>5/Vδ1 transfectant colony named Clone #45. A) Of the 192 GL3-positive cells percentage of GL3-positive cells, ~28% (shown in Panels 2 and 4), compared to the other colonies. B) Clone #45 cells were also stained for the Vy5/Võ1 TCR with 17D1, then with FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM. A slighter smaller percentage of 18% was found to be single-sorted from the original RBL transfectant population, ~50 colonies were chosen for proliferation. Several colonies showed 0.1% of One colony, Clone #45, analyzed on PTD 38, showed a markedly higher cells to be GL3-positive, while others showed ~4-11%. 17D1-positive cells, shown in Panels 2 and 3.



Figure 11. Flow cytometric analysis of "enriched" Clone #45 transfectants. On PTD 45, Clone #45 cells were sorted by FACS into only GL3-positive cells. Staining of the TCR with both PE-GL3 and FITC-detected 17D1 three days later found cells to be 81% GL3-positive and 65% 17D1-positive.

## 4. Serotonin Release Assay

With the isolation and identification of a single RBL V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR-positive clone, the salient question was to determine if the RBL transfectants would release serotonin in response to ligand. Clone #45 GL3-positive enriched cells (84% GL3positive and 21% 17D1-positive) and RBL-Neo controls were cultured separately overnight in the presence of <sup>3</sup>H serotonin. Activation was induced by incubating the plated cells in four different testing conditions. PMA/ionomycin was used to stimulate the RBL cells in order to show that the transfectants could indeed be activated to release pre-loaded <sup>3</sup>H serotonin. PMA/ionomycin causes a rise in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, bypassing signal transduction and resulting in degranulation. Stimulation by PMA/ionomycin did indeed induce an 18-fold increase in serotonin release over control cells cultured only in media (Figure 12). There was no statistical difference in activation between Clone #45 and RBL-Neo control cells. Soluble 17D1 antibody specific for the V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR was used to determine if the RBL transfectants could be activated by this monoclonal antibody targeting the specific TCR. Supernatant collected from 17D1 hybridoma cells was added directly to the RBL transfectants in a volume of 50 µl. This sterile but unpurified supernatant containing 17D1 MoAb has been shown to successfully activate DETC lines (Lewis, personal communication), in which over 95% of cells express the identical V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR [64]. In this assay, incubation of the RBL transfectants with 17D1 supernatant did not induce increased serotonin release compared to controls. To determine whether the transfectants would release serotonin in response to cell-bound ligand, GL3 hybridoma cells were used as target cells. The GL3 hybridoma expresses surface anti-TCR $\delta$  antibody, which cross-links TCR on the RBLs, leading to signaling for
serotonin release. GL3 hybridoma cells were incubated with RBL transfectants at a 1:10 RBL transfectant:effector cell ratio. In this assay, induced serotonin release was minimal, with no significant difference compared to controls. Activation by GL3 hybridoma in a dose-dependent fashion was not tested.

Lastly, an epithelial cell line was tested for expression of a ligand for the V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ I TCR. Mouse PDV keratinocytes, which had been harvested from culture in a flask by scraping and were not heat-shocked or infected, were incubated with RBL transfectants. Upon activation, transfectants released preloaded serotonin at levels approximately 3-fold greater than that of RBL-Neo controls (see Figure 12), releasing up to 28% of preloaded <sup>3</sup>H serotonin. Of the three replicate wells, there was one low outlying point which increased the standard deviation, making it fairly large (9%). Nonetheless, the percentage of serotonin release in response to activation by PDV keratinocytes was significantly greater for Clone #45 cells compared to RBL-Neo controls (p < 0.05).



Figure 12. Clone #45 RBL transfectants show induced serotonin release by PMA/ionomycin and PDV keratinocytes. RBL-Neo and Clone #45 cells were plated at a concentration of 3 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in 50 µl of 10% FCS/MEM containing 4 µCi/ml <sup>3</sup>H serotonin and cells in 2% FCS/DMEM, at a ratio of effector:transfectant cell of 1:4 for PDV keratinocytes and 1:10 for GL3 hybridomas. PMA/ionomycin Cells were then lysed in 1% NP-40 in PBS, and the lysate content of <sup>3</sup>H serotonin was measured. The percentage of released <sup>3</sup>H was cultured overnight at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with 2% FCS/DMEM, and then incubated for 45 minutes at 37°C with 50 µl of effector was used at a concentration of 0.5 µg PMA + 5 X 10<sup>-5</sup> mmoles of ionomycin per 50 µl. Cell supernatants were harvested and counted calculated. The percentage release shown is an average of triplicate wells ± with 1 standard deviation.

# **IV. DISCUSSION**

# A. SPONTANEOUS DERMATITIS AND IgE

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a common, chronic relapsing inflammatory skin disease, characterized by typically distributed eczematous skin lesions and intense pruritus, often associated with elevated levels of total and antigen-specific IgE and a personal or family history of atopic diseases [232-234]. Research into AD over the last 40 years has been dominated by exploration of the cellular and molecular mechanisms [151]. This work has indeed produced breakthroughs in elucidating the etiology and pathogenesis of this complex chronic disease. For example, skin lesions in AD consistently exhibit a mononuclear cell infiltrate, predominantly in the dermis, consisting of activated memory CD4+ T cells and macrophages [232], implicating a major role for both these types of cells in the pathogenesis of AD. Several findings indicate eosinophil involvement in AD, including the occasional presence of eosinophils in the dermis and the common finding of eosinophil-derived major basic protein and eosinophil cationic protein, which are associated with eosinophil degeneration [208, 235, 236]. Skin lesions in AD are also characterized by highly increased numbers of infiltrating, fully granulated mast cells [237], as well as increased numbers of dermal dendritic cells (CDs) and epidermal Langerhans cells [238, 239]. A reduction of ceramides in atopic skin, leading to a disrupted skin barrier has also been described as an etiologic factor [240]. Finally, the acute skin lesions of AD show a significant increase in the number of cells expressing the T<sub>H</sub>2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 [241, 242], while in later stages of the disease, IL-12 expression increases and T<sub>H</sub>2 switches to T<sub>H</sub>1 immune responses, characterized by

the expression of such  $T_H$ l-type cytokines as IFN- $\gamma$  in chronic lesions [243]. Yet, despite these recent advances, the etiology and pathogenesis of AD are still not precisely understood. Various names have been assigned to this condition, including atopic eczema, neurodermatitis constitutionalis, endogenous eczema, eczema flexurarum, Besnier's prurigo, asthma eczema, and hay fever eczema, reflecting the uncertainty in the understanding of the exact pathophysiology of this disease [244, 245]. To further explore the pathogenesis and treatment of AD, suitable animal models are indeed required.

## SpD Similar to Human AD

The spontaneous dermatitis (SpD) phenotype that developed in unmanipulated NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice of the present study has several similarities to features of human AD. The SpD was characterized by the clinical signs of erythema, edema, and pruritus, as well as the histopathologic features typical of chronic dermatitis, including a thickened epidermis with intercellular edema, mononuclear inflammatory cells scattered throughout the epidermis, and a thickened dermis with infiltrating mononuclear inflammatory cells, eosinophils, and highly increased numbers of mast cells [147]. The SpD shares other features with human AD as well, including: genetic predisposition [166, 183, 185, 246-248], appearing in  $\delta$ -/- mice on some (e.g. NOD and FVB), but not other (e.g. C57BL/6) genetic backgrounds; dependence on  $\alpha\beta$  T cells [249], appearing in  $\delta$ -/- mice but not in  $\beta$ -/- $\delta$ -/- mice; skin localization to areas commonly exposed to environmental irritants and/or allergens [168], developing only on the ear skin of these mice; and increased expression of contact dermatitis [250], showing strikingly augmented ear swelling to the allergen DNFB and the irritant TPA when compared to reactions induced in  $\delta +/+$  mice.

Thus, the SpD induced in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in the appropriate environment (conventional non-ventilated cages) may provide a novel animal model for studying the pathogenesis of human AD.

## The Role of IgE in Atopic Dermatitis

The specific question addressed in the present study was the role of IgE antibodies in the pathogenesis of SpD. It is now widely accepted that IgE mediates immediate hypersensitivity, also called type I allergy [251]. The first step in an allergic reaction is the binding of a certain allergen to allergen-specific IgE molecules bound to the high-affinity IgE receptor (FceRI) on mast cells, resulting in prompt release of a series of chemical mediators, such as histamine and serotonin, in addition to a variety of enzymes, including mast-cell chymase, tryptase, and serine esterases, which play important roles in initiating allergic-type and anaphylactic-type responses [165]. Upon activation, mast cells also secrete large amounts of cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-4, and IL-13, chemokines, including MIP-1 $\alpha$ , which attracts monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils, and lipid mediators such as leukotrienes and platelet-activating factor (PAF), all of which act in concert to orchestrate an inflammatory cascade that is amplified by the recruitment of eosinophils, basophils, and T<sub>H</sub>2 lymphocytes [252-254]. In contrast to the widely accepted role of IgE in immediate hypersensitivity, the pathologic role of IgE in chronic allergic inflammation as seen in atopic diseases, such as asthma and atopic dermatitis, is controversial [255]. It has been generally considered that chronic allergic inflammation is mediated mainly by T cells as opposed to IgE and mast cells [256]. Several lines of evidence point to an importance of T cells and other endogenous

cutaneous cells in AD. T cells comprise an important component of the histologic findings in chronic AD lesions, which feature the T cells in hyperplastic epidermis, often associated with GM-CSF production [257]. In the dermis, significant mononuclear cell aggregates are frequently observed in the perivascular space, reflecting the high degrees of trafficking of leukocytes, including macrophages, Langerhans' cells, dendritic cells, and lymphoid cells. Edema is another feature in the perivascular area of atopic skin. which is believed to be T-cell dependent [257]. Edema and pruritus in both acute and chronic lesions are associated with an abnormal pattern of epidermal infiltration by activated T cells and macrophages. Immunohistochemistry shows these T cells to be indeed activated, as demonstrated by HLA-DR expression [257]. Furthermore, empirically, therapies that inhibit T cells, through the suppression of T-cell activation, cytokine production, or migration, have been shown to ameliorate AD. Clinical studies using topical FK506 or tacrolimus, oral cyclosporine A, ASM 981, and photopheresis provide compelling evidence that T cells play a key role in the pathomechanism of AD [257].

If cell-mediated immune reactions are considered the predominant player in the pathomechanism of this disease, the atopic context manifested by increased IgE and IgE-mediated allergic reactions in the blood and skin of AD patients creates confusion. To further complicate the understanding of AD pathogenesis, high concentrations of total and allergen-specific IgE in the blood and skin are in fact not a consistent finding among AD patients. Two forms of AD have recently been proposed based on this discrepancy. The "allergic" or "extrinsic" form of AD (EAD) is associated with elevated levels of IgE and appears to comprise the majority of AD patients [258]. In the "nonallergic" or

"intrinsic" form (IAD), also known as nonallergic atopiform eczema or nonallergic atopiform dermatitis [259], which has been reported to represent 10-30% of all AD patients, patients have normal total serum IgE levels and no allergen-specific IgE, although they exhibit the same clinical phenotype [260]. This suggests that elevated allergen-specific IgE levels are not a prerequisite in the pathogenesis of IAD and key mechanisms contributing to this subtype of AD are still unknown. Conversely, however, recent studies have shown the ability of anti-IgE MoAb (omalizumab) to attenuate both immediate and delayed inflammatory responses, specifically in the treatment of allergic respiratory disorders [261, 262]. Such results suggest that IgE might indeed mediate allergic reactions beyond type I allergy. Though it is generally accepted that an immunological dysregulation of biphasic  $T_H 1/T_H 2$  activity plays a central role in the pathogenesis of AD [263, 264], the specific role of IgE in the development of AD remains to be elucidated.

#### Proposed Mouse Models of Human Atopic Dermatitis

Total serum IgE levels found in mice of the present study did not correlate with presence of SpD, nor with the environment in which they were housed. While NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC were the only group to exhibit signs of SpD, their total serum IgE levels did not differ from those of NOD. $\delta$ -/- housed in IVC or of NOD w.t. mice housed in either CNVC or IVC. Additionally, (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD) BC. $\delta$ -/- mice which showed obvious SpD did not demonstrate elevated total IgE levels compared to BC. $\delta$ -/- mice without SpD. These results do not support a primary role of IgE in the pathogenesis of SpD. If IgE antibodies played a predominant role in the development of SpD, one would expect

not only to see significantly elevated IgE levels in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, which showed SpD, but also to see a direct correlation between IgE level and severity of clinical dermatitis, as measured, for example, by thickness of ear skin.

The findings from this study are also not consistent with those found in other mouse models of AD. For example, though similarities exist between the present findings and that of Matsuda et al. (1997) for the NC/Nga mouse model, one of the key differences is the finding of markedly increased total serum IgE levels in the latter. The atopic dermatitis-like lesions exhibited in NC/Nga mice are similar to those of the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice in several ways. As in the present study, the development of spontaneous dermatitis occurred only in mice raised in conventional housing as opposed to a specific pathogen-free (SPF) environment consisting of a laminar filter-air flow enclosure in a bioclean room [198]. Clinical signs and symptoms seen in conventional NC/Nga mice were similar to those of NOD. $\delta$ -/-, albeit of a higher degree of severity and affecting areas not confined to the ears. The dermatitis was characterized by itching, erythema and hemorrhage, followed by edema, superficial erosion, deep excoriation, scaling and dryness of the skin, and alopecia in the face, ears, neck and dorsal skin, as well as growth retardation. Clinical severity of the dermatitis, examined in mice from 7 to 17 weeks of age, was minimal at 7 weeks old and steadily increased with age. Histological features of dorsal skin from conventional NC/Nga mice showed significant changes similar to those found in conventional-housed NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice and human AD lesions. These changes were apparent as early as at 7 weeks old and increased in degree with age, characterized by a thickened epidermis with moderate hyperplasia and prominent hyperkeratosis, intercellular edema, and increased numbers of mast cells and

eosinophils with degranulation [198]. Interestingly, Matsuda et al. (1997) also found that age-matched BALB/c mice maintained in the same conventional housing as NC/Nga mice from 7 to 17 weeks of age did not show any significant clinical signs or symptoms, similar to the findings that mice of the C57BL/6 background did not exhibit signs of SpD. In contrast to the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice, conventional NC/Nga mice were found to have high levels of IgE (~25 µg/ml) at 8 weeks of age, when mild dermatitis was clinically evident. By 10 weeks, IgE levels were markedly increased (~70 µg/ml), and plateaued at 17 weeks, thus correlating with clinical severity of dermatitis. In contrast, plasma IgE levels in SPF NC/Nga and BALB/c mice remained at levels <0.5 µg/ml. The direct correlation between IgE levels and clinical severity of dermatitis in conventional NC/Nga mice was similar to that reported in AD patients with IgE hyperproduction [265, 266].

The Naruto Research Institute Otsuka Atrichia (NOA) mouse is another strain that has served as a mouse model of human AD, as these mice develop severe ulcerative skin lesions that are associated with accumulation of mast cells and scratching behavior [193]. In NOA mice, high levels of serum IgE are found as well. NOA mice with ulcerative skin lesions show significantly higher serum IgE levels compared to NOA mice without skin lesions (~2,900 ng/ml *vs.* 400 ng/ml at 16 weeks of age; ~11,000 ng/ml *vs.* 450 ng/ml at 32 weeks of age), while control hairy mouse strains maintain very low levels of serum IgE (0-200 ng/ml) [193].

More recently, another mouse strain has been introduced as mice with naturally occurring dermatitis similar to human AD. DS-Nh originated from a mutant male mouse with deficient hair growth in an inbred DS strain colony at Aburahi Laboratories (Shionogi & Co., Ltd., Shiga, Japan) in 1976 [267]. The hairless phenotype of this

104

other well-known hairless phenotypes [268-270]. Heterozygous mutant DS Ng/+ mice housed under conventional conditions, assessed from ages 5 through 24 weeks old, were shown to develop skin symptoms similar to those of AD, including erythema, edema, excoriation, erosion, dry skin and desquamation of the forehead, lateral face, perioral area, neck, anterior chest and joint areas of their forelegs [267]. Early clinical symptoms, such as erythema, edema, excoriation, and dry skin, appeared in all mice at 9 weeks of age. Clinical severity increased steadily until the mice were 25 weeks old, at which time it remained stable. In contrast to conventionally housed DS-Nh mice, DS-Nh mice raised under SPF conditions, as well as conventionally housed DS mice, did not show any significant signs of spontaneous dermatitis. Notably, the authors found that NC/Nga mice housed in the conventional conditions used in their study failed to develop dermatitis over 30 weeks of observation. Significant histologic changes, including hyperkeratosis, acanthosis, slight intercellular edema of the epidermis, and infiltration of inflammatory cells, were observed in the skin lesions of all DS-Nh mice at 9 weeks or older, concurrent with the appearance of the clinical symptoms. Such histologic changes became more apparent with age. In facial skin tissue, conventional DS-Nh mice showed significantly higher numbers of degranulated mast cells and eosinophils compared to SPF DS-Nh and conventional DS mice [267]. Among DS-Nh mice raised under SPF conditions or in DS mice raised in SPF or conventional housing, no significant histopathological changes were observed throughout the 29-week observation period. Again in contrast to the findings in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice of the present study, the level of total serum IgE was significantly increased only in conventionally housed DS-Nh mice and

not in DS-Nh mice raised under SPF conditions. Interestingly, serum IgE levels were not detected until 17 weeks of age (~200 ng/ml), but from that point on, levels subsequently increased with age (~2500 ng/ml  $\pm$  2000 at 20 weeks, ~4000 ng/ml  $\pm$ 1200 at 25 weeks, and ~4500 ng/ml  $\pm$  1700 at 30 weeks).

### Comparison of NOD. $\delta$ -/- Mice with Other Mouse Models

A few key observations can be made in comparing the findings from the present study with those from the previously proposed mouse models of AD. First, all the proposed mouse models, in addition to NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice, are similar in exhibiting a naturally occurring, spontaneous dermatitis, presenting AD-like symptoms and histopathological changes. Second, the spontaneous dermatitis occurs only in conventional conditions, as opposed to specific pathogen-free or ventilated housing conditions, implying the necessity of environmental triggers in initiating the chronic cutaneous inflammatory process. As described in these first two comparisons, the clinical and histopathologic features, as well as the dependence on environmental triggers, of the dermatitis exhibited in these mice all lend support to their validity in serving as mouse models for human AD. A third comparison between NC/Nga, NOA, and DS-Nh mice and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice reveals an obvious difference between NOD. $\delta$ -/mice and the first three mouse models. NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice do not exhibit elevated total serum IgE levels in association with the spontaneous dermatitis phenotype when compared to mice that do not exhibit the SpD phenotype. Though there was a lack of correlation between IgE levels and presence of dermatitis, a role for IgE in the

pathogenesis of SpD cannot be formally excluded in this study. The findings of this study can be interpreted in at least two ways.

# 1. NOD. $\delta$ -/- as a Model for Atopiform Dermatitis

One hypothesis explaining the lack of correlation between IgE levels and SpD is that the dermatitis observed in the present study is in fact not of an atopic nature. It is quite possible that the triggers for the SpD phenotype are as-yet unidentified factors found in the conventional non-ventilated cages that act on the skin as an irritant, and not an allergen. Because these mice do not demonstrate elevated levels of total serum IgE levels compared to controls, it is conceivable that the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice may represent a novel model for "intrinsic" AD, or more accurately "atopiform dermatitis" [259]. It has been proposed that atopy should be defined as the genetically determined and environmentally influenced syndrome in which the primary immunological abnormality is the production of allergen-specific IgE [259]. Accordingly, the term "atopiform dermatitis" should be used to describe the condition, which affects 20% of patients with presumed AD, that is clinically identical to atopic dermatitis, but lacks the AD hallmark of allergen-specific and elevated levels of IgE. Recent evidence provides support for the hypothesis that patients with intrinsic AD display characteristics that differ from the phenomena typically seen in atopic disease. A hallmark of IAD is a lower FcERI expression of CD1a+ epidermal dendritic cells [271]. Additionally, it has been shown that skin derived T cells from EAD give effective B cell help for IgE production, while T cells from IAD patients do not [212]. In a recent study on the phenotype of monocytes and serum levels of cytokines regulating the IgE production from nonatopic individuals

and patients with extrinsic and intrinsic dermatitis, the authors found the surface expression of the high- and low-affinity receptor for IgE (Fc $\epsilon$ RI and Fc $\epsilon$ RII/CD23) and the IL-4R $\alpha$  chain to be significantly elevated in monocytes from patients with EAD compared to those with IAD. Serum levels of IL-13 were significantly increased in patients with IAD, while levels of IL-5 were increased in patients with EAD. Furthermore, the frequency of the IL-4R $\alpha$  polymorphism C3223T and the IL-4 polymorphism C590T, which have been previously shown to play a relevant part in atopic diseases [272, 273], tended to be higher in EAD than in IAD. Thus, IAD patients with EAD or other atopic disorders [274], supporting the idea that these two forms of AD may have different pathogenic mechanisms.

If the SpD observed in the NOD. $\delta$ –/– housed in CNVC of the present study is in fact representative of an atopiform dermatitis, rather than a true atopic dermatitis, one may expect to see the phenotypic and immunologic features characterizing IAD patients in contrast to EAD patients. Indeed, further studies including serum measurements of cytokines such as IL-13 and IL-5 are feasible and warranted to further elucidate the pathogenesis of SpD. The characterization of FceRI or FceRII receptors on the monocytes and epidermal dendritic cells of the mice would also be useful in order to assess similarities or differences between this model and findings which characterize IAD. Intriguingly, however, studies to date have shown that murine epidermal Langerhans cells in fact do not express FceRII at all [275], while the presence of FceRI also has not been demonstrated. This finding suggests that murine Langerhans cells in

mice may hold a pathogenetic in spontaneous dermatitis distinct from that of their counterparts in human AD.

It is worth noting an interesting finding from a recently-established mouse line using the NC/Nga mouse model of AD. STAT6-deficient (STAT6-/-) NC mice were created in order to address the functional relevance of IgE and T<sub>H</sub>2-mediated immune responses in NC mice to the development of AD-like skin lesions [276]. STAT6 is a critical transcriptional factor that regulates IL-4-mediated immune responses. Phosphorylated and activated through an IL-4R-mediated signal, STAT6 translocates as a phosphorylated homodimer and subsequently regulates IL-4-mediated transcriptional events, including  $T_{\rm H}2$  differentiation, expression of cell surface markers, and Ig class switching to IgE [277, 278]. STAT6-/- NC/Nga mice are unable to mount the T<sub>H</sub>2 cytokine production required for serum IgE response. Unexpectedly, these mice were observed to still elicit AD-like skin lesions at equivalent frequency and time of onset compared with normal NC/Nga littermates. Histological features of the lesions were consistent with the pathogenesis of AD, characterized by infiltration of eosinophils and mast cells. However, these mice failed to produce IgE and T<sub>II</sub>2 cytokines. The lymph nodes proximal to the skin regions with lesions showed massive enlargement elicited by the accumulation of activated IFN-y-secreting T cells. In addition, IL-18, IL-12, and IFN- $\gamma$  were found to be highly expressed at the skin lesions, along with elevated expression of eotaxin 2, a newly identified potent chemoattractant for eosinophils, and its receptor, CCR3. This study demonstrates that the T<sub>H</sub>2-mediated immune response is not necessary for the development of AD-like skin disease in NC/Nga mice. It is possible that the skin microenvironment, that of affected skin regions, which favors IFN-y and

IL-18 production and associated infiltration of eosinophils, may be more important than  $T_H2$  cytokines in the development of AD in NC/Nga mice [276]. This study lends further support to the idea that the SpD in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice may not be atopic in nature, but have a mechanism that is independent of  $T_H2$  cells and IgE antibodies.

# 2. NOD. $\delta$ -/- Mice as a Model for True Atopic Disease

A second interpretation of the results from this study may be that the SpD in NOD.8-/- is a form of true atopic disease, associated with elevated IgE levels, but the elevation was simply not detected at the time of serum collection. For example, in the DS-Nh mice discussed above, serum IgE levels did not become elevated until after 17 weeks of age, incongruent with the much earlier development of clinical symptoms, such as erythema and excoriation, at 9 weeks of age. The reason for an 8-week lag in IgE elevation is unclear. Yet based on this finding, it is indeed conceivable that if serum IgE levels are measured in the NOD mice serially starting from at least 5-6 weeks of age, when clinical symptoms first appear, for a longer time period, e.g. 30 weeks, a significant increase in IgE levels may in fact be detected, in a manner not necessarily coordinated with the appearance of clinical symptoms. This observation is in contrast to the finding in NC/Nga mice of the direct temporal correlation between IgE elevation and clinical development of dermatitis, and raises the question of the direct role of IgE in causing the AD-like lesions in these mice. Perhaps an additional factor driving the IgE synthesis is missing or blocked, even temporarily, and the pathogenesis of the disease is due primarily to non-IgE-mediated mechanisms, such as cytokines like IL-13 directly or indirectly driving the disease by the stimulation of eosinophils, interactions with B cells, or alterations of certain signal transduction pathways, like that of IL-13R, whose role has

previously been implicated in atopic diseases [279]. After the production of serum IgE begins to increase, IgE antibodies may begin to play a more direct role in the propagation of the disease. Mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils are certainly not the only cells of IgE-mediated action. Monocytes and dendritic cells such as Langerhans cells or the recently described inflammatory dendritic epidermal cells [280] have been shown to perform IgE-mediated antigen focusing, i.e. IgE increases their presenting capacity up to 100-1000 fold *in vitro* [281, 282]. Additionally, FceRI has been found to be significantly upregulated on lesional epidermal dendritic cells of AD [280]. Three different IgEbinding structures have in fact been detected on epidermal antigen presenting dendritic cells; these include: (1) the low affinity IgE-receptor CD23/FccRII [283]; (2) the high affinity IgE-receptor FceRI [284, 285]; and (3) the IgE-binding protein Galectin  $3/\epsilon$ BP [286]. The expression of such IgE-binding structures on these epidermal dendritic APCs emphasize the importance of these cells in the pathogenesis of IgE-mediated processes, even in chronic inflammatory diseases.

## **Further Studies**

The study by Girardi et al. (2002) showed that not only NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice, but also FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice developed spontaneous inflammation of the ears as shown by highly significant but less dramatic differences in baseline ear thickness relative to age-matched FVB controls. The increased ear thickness was associated with qualitatively similar, albeit less intense, histologic differences as described for NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice. Interestingly, such changes developed in FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice in the absence of overt clinical signs of spontaneous dermatitis, i.e. pruritus or erythema [147]. It would be of interest to measure

serum levels of IgE in mice of the FVB background, and to compare measurements between FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC, FVB. $\delta$ -/- housed in IVC, FVB w.t. housed in CNVC, and FVB w.t. housed in IVC, just as was done for NOD mice of the present study. It is curious that FVB. $\delta$ -/- mice exhibit histopathologic features of AD of lesser degree than NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice but of larger degree than C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- mice, which developed neither clinical nor histologic evidence of spontaneous dermatitis compared to age-matched C57BL/6 controls. Perhaps serum IgE measurements would demonstrate levels that lie in between those found for NOD. $\delta$ -/- (average ~300 ng/ml) and C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- mice (average ~50 ng/ml). Such a finding would suggest that perhaps mean baseline IgE levels are correlated with presence and/or severity of spontaneous dermatitis, despite not seeing a correlative increase in IgE levels with the development of SpD.

It is intriguing that among the proposed mouse models for AD, there is a markedly wide range in total serum IgE levels found among the different strains. In the NC/Nga mice, serum IgE levels were detectable starting at 6 weeks of age, as high as 3000 ng/ml. At 10 and 12 weeks of age, IgE levels were as high as 70 and 90 µg/ml, or 70,000 and 90,000 ng/ml. Such levels of total IgE are almost 300 times greater than those found for NOD mice. Similarly, but to a lesser degree, serum IgE levels of DS-Nh mice were also reported to be significantly higher than those found in NOD mice, with averages of 2500, 3800, and 4500 ng/ml at 20, 25, and 30 weeks of age, respectively [267]. These levels are approximately 8 to 15 times higher than those found in NOD mice. In a transgenic mouse line expressing epidermal IL-4, established on the CByB6 strain and mated with non-transgenic BALB/cBy strain mice, IgE levels of affected mice

were found to be in the average range of 4000 to 5000 ng/ml, approximately 13 to 17 times higher than those of NOD mice [287]. Interestingly, in all these mouse models of AD-like dermatitis, the clinical signs and symptoms of the spontaneous, chronic inflammatory dermatitis were markedly more severe than those reported for the NOD.8-/- and FVB.8-/- mice. Conventionally-housed NC/Nga mice showed severe dermatitis with hemorrhage, edema, erosion, dryness and alopecia in the face, ears, neck and dorsal skin [198]. DS-Nh mice showed the early clinical symptoms of erythema. edema, excoriation, and dry skin, with increasing severity with age, associated with habitual scratching of their cheeks, eyelids, and neck [267]. In the IL-4 transgenic mice, skin lesions initially occurred at the mice's ears and subsequently extended to the neck, mouth, around the eyes, tail, and legs [287]. There was severe dermatitis of the head and neck with areas of crusting, hair loss, and bacterial pyoderma as well as destruction of external ears. Eyelid dermatitis, blepharitis, and conjunctivitis resulted in corneal and conjunctival scarring, leading to blindness. In contrast, the spontaneous dermatitis exhibited in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC was very mild in comparison, consisting simply of pruritus, erythema, and edema, with visible lesions restricted to the ears. Indeed, the total IgE levels of ~300 ng/ml of these NOD mice are comparatively miniscule to those of the previously described mice. The comparisons described here support the idea that serum IgE levels are correlated with clinical severity of dermatitis, not only within a specific strain, but perhaps also across mouse strains. It is possible that genetic constraints exist which determine the potential of IgE production, even in response to appropriate environmental triggers. In turn, low levels of IgE production, i.e. a genetic "inability" or suppressive factor in producing high IgE responses to triggers,
would prevent the development of atopic dermatitis-like disease in the mice of such genetically-designed strains. Genetic studies are currently underway to elucidate such factors, as will be discussed in the next section.

Although the data of the present study do not appear to support a primary role of IgE in the pathogenesis of SpD in NOD. $\delta$ –/– mice, the requirement for immunoglobulins and/or B cells can be definitively determined by analyzing mice that are "double knockout" NOD. $\delta$ –/– Ig  $\mu$ -null mice [288]. If indeed such NOD. $\delta$ –/– Ig  $\mu$ -null mice which were exposed to the appropriate environmental triggers, i.e. CNVC housing, failed to exhibit signs of SpD, the necessity of immunoglobulins and/or B cells for the development of SpD would be revealed. On the other hand, if such mice continued to exhibit signs of spontaneous dermatitis, the conclusion could be made that immunoglobulins and/or B cells are not absolutely necessary for the initiation of this chronic cutaneous inflammatory process, and that other non-Ig-mediated processes are primarily responsible for the pathogenesis of this phenotype.

## Total IgE Levels Higher in Females versus Males

In the present study, comparison of total serum IgE levels in female mice with those of male mice revealed an interesting observation. Among BC. $\delta$ -/- mice exhibiting obvious SpD, female mice compared to males showed a higher baseline ear thickness. Intriguingly, total serum IgE level in the females were also found to be higher than that of the males. When comparison of total serum IgE levels between females and males was done in all groups, significantly higher IgE levels were, in fact, found in three other groups of mice, all of which were  $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC. Two of these groups

were B6. $\delta$ -/- mice and (B6 X NOD) F<sub>1</sub>. $\delta$ -/- mice, which did not even exhibit signs of SpD. The explanation for this finding is unclear, but readily suggests a possible femalespecific factor that is contributing to increased IgE responsiveness to the environmental trigger(s) causing SpD. A review of literature did not reveal previous reports of higher total IgE levels in female AD patients compared to males, or in female mice compared to males in other mouse models of AD. However, there are several reports of slightly increased prevalence of AD in females, with a male to female ratio of 1:1.5 [219, 289]. Additionally, several studies have reported maternal atopy to cause a greater risk of atopic disorders in the offspring than paternal atopy [219, 288, 290-296]. Though the reasons for this phenomenon is still unclear, genetic studies have shown specifically maternal patterns of transmission at certain loci associated with AD. For example, Cookson et al. (1992) found significant sharing of maternal alleles of chromosome 11q13, on which a gene for atopy has been assigned [297], in sibling-pairs with atopic IgE responsiveness (defined by higher than normal total serum IgE levels) [175]. The excess sharing of maternal alleles occurred whether or not the mother was herself overtly atopic, which points to the possibility of genomic imprinting. It was noted that human 11q13 is syntenic to mouse chromosome 7F1-ter, in one of only seven areas recognized to show genomic imprinting [298]. Such linkage of atopic IgE response to chromosome 11q13 maternally derived alleles was found in a separate study of Japanese families, providing support for a maternal inheritance pattern [299]. A specific examination of gene polymorphisms for the  $\beta$  chain of the high affinity receptor for IgE (FceRI- $\beta$ ), which is a candidate accounting for the chromosome 11q13 effect on atopy, found that all 13 children in the study who had inherited the polymorphisms Leu181/Leu183

maternally were atopic. Leu181/Leu183 had previously been found to be associated with atopy [299]. By contrast, the eight children who had derived the variant paternally had negative skin prick and radioallergosorbent test results and did not have increased bronchial responsiveness. Thus, the authors concluded that these polymorphisms of Fc $\epsilon$ RI- $\beta$  identified a genetic risk factor for atopy and bronchial hyperresponsiveness when inherited maternally [300]. More recently, two more polymorphisms within the FcεRI-β gene, namely allele 2 of RsaI intro 2 and allele 1 of RsaI exon 7, were found to be strongly associated with AD [301]. Furthermore, transmission of these alleles was significantly associated with AD when maternally-inherited. Though these studies do not directly parallel the observation of higher total serum IgE levels in females over males in the present study, they do lend support to a female bias in both atopy prevalence and atopic IgE responsiveness. Further studies are warranted both to confirm these findings among the B6. $\delta$ -/- and NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice and to elucidate the mechanism by which this is occurring. Perhaps, for example, the females in these mouse strains possess a gene that codes for increased expression of the high-affinity IgE receptor, FceRI, which would lead to increased IgE responsiveness to environmental allergens. Examination of genes associated with atopy or AD may in fact reveal differences in polymorphisms between females and males.

## Role of DETC in Atopic Dermatitis

From the observation that NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice developed spontaneous signs of SpD, while NOD. $\delta$ +/+ mice housed in the same CNVC conditions did not, it is apparent that the deficiency of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, presumably DETC, contributed to the pathogenesis of SpD.

In fact, Girardi et al. (2002) showed through reconstitution of  $\delta$ -/- mice specifically with  $V\gamma5+$  fetal thymocytes (DETC precursors) that  $V\gamma5+$ , but not  $V\gamma5-$ , cells had the ability to down-regulate both spontaneous and irritant dermatitis in the  $\delta$ -/- mice. These results provide a novel demonstration that a local functional impairment at an epithelial interface can be attributed to the specific absence of the local yo cell subset constitutively resident within that tissue, and that DETC provide local, nonredundant regulation of cutaneous inflammation [147]. In considering the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice as a possible mouse model for AD, the question is raised of the role of DETC specifically in allergic disease. In a study of Brown Norway rats, tolerized to OVA by repeated aerosol exposure [302],  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were found to produce high levels of IFN-y in response to ovalbumin (OVA) stimulation in vitro, suggesting a mechanism for the inhibition of T<sub>H</sub>2-type antigen responses, and therefore for the selective suppression of IgE antibody production.  $\gamma\delta$  T cells also exhibited the unique potential of selective IgE antibody suppression in response to mucosal antigen exposure; thus, it was further proposed that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells may play an important role in protection against primary allergic sensitization *in vivo* [302]. The same experiment was carried out in C57BL/6 mice [302], which showed small numbers of γδ T cells from OVA-tolerized mice selectively suppressing T<sub>H</sub>2-dependent IgE antibody production, without affecting parallel IgG responses. Challenge of these cells in vitro also resulted in high levels of IFN-y production. The mechanism of the tolerogenic effect seemed to be either through the inhibition of the expansion of pre-existing OVA-specific Th2 cells or of the development of OVA-specific  $T_{\rm H2}$  cells [21]. Based on these studies, it is possible that DETC may help in either preventing atopic dermatitis or suppressing the propagation of AD-like lesions in the skin through the production of IFN- $\gamma$  and

consequently the suppression of IgE production. The fact that the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice housed in CNVC of the present study showed the same levels, as opposed to higher levels, of IgE compared to those of the NOD. $\delta$ +/+ mice housed in CNVC does not support the notion that  $\gamma\delta$  T cells contribute to the prevention of AD-like disease through any significant suppression of IgE production.

Though the pathogenesis of AD is not completely known, almost every kind of cell has been implicated as playing a role, including T cells, keratinocytes, mast cells, and Langerhans cells. The roles of mast cells and Langerhans cells, in particular, have been increasingly implicated and elucidated as part of the pathomechanism in AD. Mast cells are known to be effector cells in IgE-mediated immediate hypersensitivity reactions [303]. Moreover, mast cells have been reported to play an important role in eosinophil infiltration into the lung after allergen challenge [304]. In addition, it has been recently documented that histamine, through stimulation of H2 receptors, suppresses IL-12 production and stimulates the generation of IL-10 [305, 306]. Such an alteration of local cytokine levels could shift the  $T_H 1/T_H 2$  balance toward  $T_H 2$  dominance, thus augmenting eosinophil recruitment and allergic inflammation. More recently, in a study on OVAinduced skin inflammation in mast cell-deficient (W/W') mice, IFN- $\gamma$  mRNA expression was found to be significantly increased in sensitized skin of W/W' mice but not in that of wild-type controls. Additionally, total serum IgE levels were significantly increased after OVA epicutaneous sensitization in W/W' mice compared to controls [307]. The results suggested that mast cells regulate IFN-y expression in the skin and IgE levels in the circulation. In light of these findings, it can be postulated that damage to or deficiency of mast cells could lead to increased activity of DETC, such as in overexpressing IFN-y. As

IFN- $\gamma$  can damage keratinocytes [307], it is possible that DETC may contribute not only in down-regulation of cutaneous inflammation, but also in damage to local epithelia in some cases.

Among professional antigen-presenting cells (APC), dendritic cells (DC) show the unique capacity to initiate primary immune responses [308]. Immature DC are characterized by their high capacity for antigen uptake and play primary roles in the immune system in peripheral tissues. The prototype of immature DC are Langerhans cells. Human Langerhans cells variably express a trimeric form of the FceRI receptor, containing one  $\alpha$ - and two  $\gamma$ -chains, but lacking the  $\beta$ -chain characteristic for tetrameric FceRI on mast cells and basophils [284, 285, 309]. In contrast to the latter, ample evidence exists that implicates the role of FccRI+ APC in IgE-mediated delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions in atopic diseases. First, patients with AD exhibit enhanced surface expression of FceRI on Langerhans cells [310]. Second, FceRI has been shown to allow Langerhans cells/DC and monocytes to take up, process, and present antigens to T cells more efficiently [282, 311]. Recently, the engagement of the FccRI was shown to stimulate the production of IL-16 in Langerhans cell-like dendritic cells [312]. The functional role of IL-16 in inflammatory processes is only beginning to emerge, but evidence has shown that IL-16 could be involved in autoimmune disorders [313-315], as well as in the pathogenic aspects of allergic asthma, including production of allergenspecific IgE, recruitment of inflammatory cells to the bronchial mucosa, and development of airway hyper-responsiveness [316-318]. Thus, IL-16 released from Langerhans cells after allergen-mediated activation through FcERI may link IgE-driven and cellular inflammatory responses in diseases such as AD [312]. Kraft et al. (2002) have also

recently shown that NF- $\kappa$ B, known to regulate genes essential for inflammatory responses and DC differentiation and function, is activated upon FceRI ligation in primary human monocytes and DC [319]. Their study also showed that NF-κB activation in Langerhans cells isolated from the epidermis was restricted to donors expressing high FceRI amounts. Additionally, FceRI ligation on monocytes and DC led to synthesis and release of TNF- $\alpha$  and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), which is decreased by two distinct inhibitors of NF-kB activation. Thus NF-kB activation represents a novel mechanism by which FceRI on monocytes and DC potentially controls inflammatory reactions [319]. As DETC have been shown to secrete several cytokines, including IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, IL-3, and IL-4, as well as the potential to express mRNA for IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-6, IL-7, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\beta$ , GM-CSF, and MIP-1 $\alpha$  [119], it is obvious that the interplay between DETC, mast cells, and Langerhans cells, as well as other cells of the immune system, must be quite intricate and complex. With the local, non-redundant regulatory role in cutaneous inflammation recently implicated for DETC, it would be interesting to investigate the condition, i.e. number, morphology, cytokine secretion, of DETC in the different mouse models proposed for human AD. Perhaps one would find varying degrees or ways in which DETC are damaged. Ultimately, defining the role of DETC in AD-like disease in mice may lead to understanding the possible defect that lies in the as-yet undefined, functionally equivalent epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  T cells found in human AD patients.

## **B. SPONTANEOUS DERMATITIS AND GENETICS**

Research into AD over the last 40 years has been dominated by exploration of the cellular and molecular mechanisms. Much of this work has indeed produced breakthroughs in the understanding of this enigmatic disease, such as the discovery of the role of different T-lymphocyte cell subsets, mast cells, Langerhans cells, eosinophils, immunoglobulins, and cytokines. However, much is still unknown particularly regarding the genetic basis for AD, though family aggregation and twin studies provide evidence of a considerable genetic component of this disease [151, 166].

Genetic analyses sought to elucidate the genetic control of the spontaneous dermatitis observed in NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice of the present study. The spontaneous dermatitis that occurs in  $\delta$ .-/- mice housed in conventional, non-ventilated cages is strikingly strain-dependent, strongly pointing to a component of heritability in this phenotype [147]. Clinical and histopathologic signs of dermatitis, as well as increased baseline ear thickness, were found in  $\delta$ .-/- mice of the NOD background, while C57BL/6. $\delta$ -/- and wild-type mice showed no clinical or histologic evidence of the phenotype. When  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$ , and (F<sub>1</sub> X NOD) BC. $\delta$ -/- offspring of NOD. $\delta$ -/- and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice were analyzed, the incidence rates of SpD appeared to be consistent with a single autosomal recessive gene inheritance [147]. Interestingly, a genetic analysis for dermatitis performed on NC/Nga and BALB/cA (BALB) strains demonstrated similar results [320]. As mentioned earlier, Matsuda et al. (1997) discovered that NC/Nga mice reared under non-sterile, conventional conditions developed spontaneous signs and symptoms of dermatitis, while BALB mice under the same housing conditions did not. NC/Nga mice were paired with BALB mice to produce  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$ , and  $(F_1 \times NC/Nga)$  backcross progeny. In the  $F_1$ 

generation, no animals expressed dermatitis, with no difference shown between reciprocal matings (NC female X BALB male *vs.* NC male X BALB female). The  $F_2$  generation revealed 89 mice to have dermatitis, while 232 mice did not, showing ~25% dermatitis affected rate. Lastly, in the BC generation, 92 mice displayed dermatitis, while 105 animals did not, showing ~50% affected rate. The authors concluded that these incidence rates were consistent with an autosomal recessive gene [320]. Though original analysis of the genetic data for the NOD. $\delta$ -/- and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice was consistent with a single locus as the major determinant for susceptibility, microsatellite mapping studies based on NOD and B6 SSLPs have since revealed a more complex picture. Three candidate *Nod* recessive chromosomal intervals have recently been identified and are presently under investigation [231].

Genome-wide linkage analyses for susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis have already been performed in two mouse models. As a logical starting point in the genetic analysis of NOD. $\delta$ -/- and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice, the intervals of susceptibility identified from these previous genome-wide studies were used to assess possible linkage to susceptibility in the NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice as well. In the NC/Nga model [152], the locus of the major determinant was tightly linked to six markers in a locus region (termed *derm1*) on chromosome 9. When genomic DNA from NOD. $\delta$ -/- and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice were analyzed for linkage of SpD susceptibility to the *D9Mit105* locus, which had a position close to the loci described for NC/Nga mice, no linkage was found. In fact,  $\chi^2$  value was essentially equal to 0. Analysis in the NOA model [153] found significant association between ulcerative skin lesions and two markers on chromosome 14. Locus *D14Mit262*, whose position is approximately in the center of the interval of the two markers, was chosen to

be analyzed in the NOD. $\delta$ -/- and B6. $\delta$ -/- mice. Again, no linkage to SpD susceptibility was found, with another  $\chi^2$  value  $\approx 0$ . These results clearly indicate that the loci linked to SpD susceptibility are distinct from those found in the previous two mouse models. The findings of the current investigation mentioned above on the three candidate Nod recessive chromosomal intervals will indeed contribute significantly to our understanding of this disease, and potentially to that of human AD. It will be interesting to determine which functional candidate genes are located near the susceptibility regions identified. For example, in the NC/Nga mice, seven candidate genes were found to be near the derm1 locus, including thymus cell antigen 1  $\theta$  (Thy1), CD3 antigen  $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , and  $\gamma$ polypeptide ( $Cd3\delta,\varepsilon,\gamma$ ), IL-10 R $\alpha$  (*II10r\alpha*), IL-18 (*II18*), and C-terminal Src kinase (Csk), all of which are involved in T-cell functions [152]. In the NOA mouse model, no specific candidate gene was located near the identified regions on chromosome 14 [153]. However, in a subsequent analysis, the authors identified two candidate loci that could modify the gene responsible for the NOA phenotype, one in the middle of chromosome 7, and the other in the telomeric region on chromosome 13 [154]. The gene for IL-16, which plays a crucial role in recruiting CD4+ cells to sites of inflammation during the acute phase of AD [195], is located near the identified locus on chromosome 7. In the vicinity of the identified locus on chromosome 13, there is a murine gene encoding PIK3R1 (phosphoinositide-3-kinase regulatory subunit, polypeptide 1 [ $p85\alpha$ ]). PIK3R1 regulates the signaling events that lie downstream of the FceRI-mediated activation of tyrosine kinases [321], implicating its role in the degranulation of mast cells and basophils, which initiate the allergic response. Additionally, each of the candidate modifier loci identified in the NOA mouse is syntenic to human chromosomal regions

11q13 and 5q13 [322, 323]. These regions are known as consensus areas of linkage to asthma, atopy, or related phenotypes such as serum IgE level [178, 301, 324, 325]. Indeed, the identification of genes underlying shared human and mouse linkages may provide important insights into the etiology of atopic dermatitis. Particularly in the analysis of NOD mice, it will be of interest to investigate any relation of loci identified for SpD susceptibility to those identified for the pathogenesis of the autoimmune diabetic phenotype found in these mice, such as *Idd3*, *Idd10*, *Idd17*, and *Idd18* on mouse chromosome 3 [326].

Apart from the observation of susceptibility of the NOD background to the SpD phenotype, the results from the present study show a distinctly higher level in baseline total serum IgE concentration in NOD mice, regardless of genotype, compared to B6 mice. Curiously,  $F_1$  progeny showed levels similar to those of B6 mice, while ( $F_1$  X NOD) BC animals had IgE levels similar to those of NOD mice. Such results suggest a possible genetic component to the IgE levels seen in these strains, such as an autosomal recessive gene in the NOD background that leads to higher IgE production. Genetic studies, in fact, indicate that different genes regulate the presence of increased levels of serum total IgE and specific IgE. The genetic variance of serum IgE has been reported to constitute about 50% of the phenotypic variance [151, 327]. To date, several research groups have been involved in attempting to isolate the genes responsible for total serum IgE. In 1994, Marsh et al. were the first to report linkage between serum total IgE levels and chromosome 5q in an American Amish population [173]. A study of Dutch families that same year replicated this finding of linkage to chromosome 5q [174]. Since then, additional studies have replicated linkages to chromosome 5, while others could not

[328]. Recently, Liu et al. (2000) found a significant association between a novel IL-13 coding region variant and both high total serum IgE level and presence of atopic dermatitis [329]. Overall, linkages to chromosomes 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16 have all been reported, with replication of significant linkage to chromosomes 5, 11 and 12 [327]. In sum, studies suggest that higher than normal total IgE and specific IgE levels in some atopic individuals are genetically controlled. With the finding that NOD mice, regardless of phenotype, have higher total serum IgE levels, compared to B6 mice, it would be of interest to identify possible genes that may be controlling total IgE levels in NOD mice. Though total IgE does not appear to correlate directly with clinical dermatitis in these mice, the genes controlling their circulating levels may in fact be tightly linked to those conferring susceptibility to SpD.

Notably, results of genetic studies have also suggested genetic linkage of atopic IgE responsiveness (increase in IgE levels) to environmental factors. For example, genetic linkage of atopic IgE response to chromosome 11q13 [330] has been replicated by several groups [297, 299, 331]. The gene for the  $\beta$  chain of the high affinity receptor for IgE (FccRI- $\beta$ ) is a candidate for the chromosome 11q13 effect [177]. FCcRI- $\beta$  polymorphisms called Leu181/Leu183 have been found to be significantly associated with atopy as well as bronchial hyperrresponsiveness [300]. Such genetic influences on IgE responsiveness to environmental triggers, and not just on total serum IgE levels at baseline, may be responsible for the marked differences seen in IgE levels among the different mouse models discussed in the previous section. For example, NOD. $\delta$ -/- mice may be reacting to appropriate environmental allergens as manifested by spontaneous dermatitis, but are not mounting a robust IgE response due to a genetic constraint

compared to NC/Nga mice or DS-Hd mice. Thus, their total IgE levels and associated clinical manifestation of allergic cutaneous inflammation remain of lower severity compared to the other mice.

The study of genetics offers a structured means of investigating complex diseases with a genetic component. A number of advancements can be made through the elucidation of the genetic factors [248]. First, improvements can be made in the definition of disease. For example, various genetic polymorphisms may correlate with specific disease characteristics and may be used to define subgroups of the disease, such as particular responses to particular treatments. Genetic studies will also provide results that will help to define targets of therapeutic intervention and offer a rational means of choosing targets in the pathogenetic pathway of allergic inflammation. Finally, genetic studies can help to define people at risk, leading to rational strategies for the prevention of disease in genetically susceptible children. The understanding of the etiology and heritability of human atopic dermatitis will indeed be accelerated with the use of appropriate mouse models, through which the identification of genes is much more feasible and will help to dissect this incredibly complicated disease.

## C. γδ TCR LIGAND

The overall goal of this project was to develop a Rat Basophil Leukemia (RBL) bioassay in order to test activation through the  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$ , DETC-specific TCR. Constructs comprised of TCR  $V\gamma 5$  and  $V\delta 1$  chains ligated into pCDL-SR $\alpha 296$  vector using Xho I and Bgl II sites were developed. The extracellular domain of  $V\gamma 5$  and  $V\delta 1$ 

were directly fused to the thrombin linker region and CD3 $\zeta$ , which provides the transmembrane domain for both chains. The constructs were successfully transfected into the RBL-2H3 line, which should not express NKG2D, CD8, or other receptors expressed by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, and theoretically avoids the problem of cell activation through a receptor apart from the isolated transfected  $\gamma\delta$  TCR. Stably transfected cells were demonstrated by positive staining with either GL3 antibody, detecting the C $\delta$  portion of the V\delta1 chain, or 17D1 MoAb, which recognizes the Vy5 and Vo1 chains expressed together. One clone which showed a relatively high percentage of GL3-positive cells (28%) upon initial analysis was subsequently sorted into GL3-positive-only cells and "enriched" into a population eventually showing cells that were 81% GL3-positive and 65% 17D1-positive. These percentages showed a ratio of 17D1 to GL3 positive cells equal to 0.8:1, i.e. 80% of cells staining positively for GL3 were also detected by 17D1. Staining of the RBL transfectants revealed no interference in the binding of one MoAb by the other. In other words, clone #45 cells exhibited 84% of cells to be GL3-positive when stained only with PE-GL3, and 80% of cells to be GL3-positive when cells were stained with PE-GL3, followed immediately by 17D1 and FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM, demonstrating only a negligible difference in percentages of positively-stained cells. Likewise, clone #45 cells before they were "enriched" were analyzed by staining with MoAbs and FACS, also showing no interference in the binding of the MoAbs to the cells. In this case, cells showed 29% to be GL3-positive when stained with PE-GL3 alone, 21% to be 17D1-positive when stained with the 17D1 MoAb alone, and 29% and 23% positive cells for GL3 and 17D1, respectively, when stained with PE-GL3 first, followed immediately by 17D1 and FITC-conjugated anti-rat IgG + IgM. Notably, the

same percentages of positive cells were found when the cells were stained in different order, i.e. 17D1 first, followed by PE-GL3, and then anti-rat IgG + lgM. This observation indicates that there is no preferential binding of one particular antibody over the other to the TCR, which would prevent one from accurately detecting the presence of its target, namely the C $\delta$  or V $\gamma$ 5/V $\delta$ 1 TCR. These findings are consistent with previous results of DETC cell analyses using these MoAbs together, where the same percentages of GL3-positive and 17D1-positive cells are found regardless of staining cells separately or concurrently with the Abs (Tigelaar and Lewis, personal communication). Importantly, analysis of clone #45 cells before they were "enriched" revealed the exact same 17D1 to GL3 positive cell ratio as that found in clone #45 sorted and "enriched" cells, i.e. 23% 17D1-positive of 29% GL3-positive is equal to a 0.79:1 ratio, which is essentially the same as a ratio of 0.8:1.

The percentage of GL3-positive cells was consistently higher than that of 17D1positive cells. The small discrepancy between these percentages can be explained in two different ways. One is that the V $\delta$ 1 chain, as detected by the staining of C $\delta$  by GL3, is indeed expressed alone in 20% of the RBL transfectants of clone #45, without the necessity of being associated with another chain, namely the V $\gamma$ 5 chain. It is unclear if the same finding of GL3-positive cell predominance would be revealed in other clones as well. Such a trend would indicate that the V $\delta$ 1 chain is either more efficiently transfected into the RBL cells compared to the V $\gamma$ 5 chain, or that the V $\delta$ 1 chain is more stably expressed on the RBL cell surface. The reason for such findings would be unclear. An adjunctive study would include staining the clonal population with F536 MoAb (PharMingen), which is an antibody specific for the V $\gamma$ 5 protein, in order to determine if

the  $V\gamma 5$  chain alone could be expressed. It would make a useful comparison to assess the percentage of F536-positive cells that are also 17D1-positive.

Alternatively, the reason for a higher percentage of GL3-positive cells compared to 17D1-positive cells could be that only 80% of all RBL  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  transfectants, indeed expressing both chains of the TCR, are folded in the proper 3-dimensional conformation to be recognized by the 17D1 MoAb. The two chains of a T-cell receptor fold in an intricate way, in much the same way as those of a Fab fragment of an immunoglobulin with some distinct differences in the way the domains are formed and interact [76, 332]. It is conceivable that the y and  $\delta$  chains, after transfection into RBL cells, are in fact expressed at the cell surface, but do not always fold together into the proper formation to be recognized by the 17D1 MoAb. The antigen receptor conformation of this TCR is underlined by the finding that epidermal  $\gamma\delta$  cells, similar to most B cells and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, may be associated more with an antigen receptor conformation than with simple linear epitopes specifically encoded by the V $\gamma$  and V $\delta$  gene segments normally used by DETC [73]. The 17D1 MoAb, thought to react only with cells expressing both V $\delta$ 1 and V $\gamma$ 5, has been found to recognize  $V\gamma 1/V\delta 1$  TCRs in the absence of  $V\gamma 5+$  cells. Therefore, just as the 17D1 MoAb appears to recognize TCRs of a particular conformation regardless of particular gene segments used, it would also fail to recognize TCRs that do not express the proper conformation despite having the  $V\gamma 5$  and  $V\delta 1$  genes. Indeed, it would be advantageous to clarify if the 20% of GL3-positive, 17D1-negative cells are indeed F536positive, which would imply that both the  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains are being expressed but in a conformation unrecognizable by 17D1. A salient question is whether such a TCR not in the same conformation as that which the majority of DETC share, as detected by 17D1, is

still functional in recognizing the DETC-specific ligand(s), becoming activated, and successfully transmitting signals to the cell in order to carry out DETC-specific activities. Further experiments will indeed be needed to elucidate the requirements for function of the DETC TCR, such as the specific  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  gene segments used or the folding of the  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains to produce a certain TCR conformation.

Clone #45 "enriched" (81% GL3-positive and 65% 17D1-positive) cells were used in an experimental <sup>3</sup>H serotonin release bioassay in an attempt to demonstrate that the expressed TCR was able to induce signal transduction through TCR $\zeta$ , and thus to activate the transfectants. This first assay showed mixed results. First, the experimental conditions of incubation with GL3 hybridomas and 17D1 soluble antibody failed to induce serotonin secretion by the RBL transfectants, implying a lack of TCR activation. Both GL3 hybridomas and 17D1 soluble antibody were designed to act as positive controls, assuming that these antibodies would bind the  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR and induce activation. Other studies (Steele, unpublished data) have shown the effective stimulation and release of <sup>3</sup>H serotonin-loaded  $V\gamma7/V\delta5$  RBL transfectants by the GL3 hybridoma in a dose-dependent fashion. A ratio of 10:1 of GL3 hybridomas to RBL cells was found to induce up to 20% serotonin release (Steele, unpublished data). Although a 10:1 ratio of GL3 hybridomas to RBL cells was also used in the assay of the present study, no serotonin release was induced. Because GL3 MoAb detects the C\delta chain, with no constraining need for recognition of a particular conformation, it is expected that the GL3 hybridomas in sufficient concentration should stimulate the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants. Future assays can incorporate varying ratios of GL3 hybridomas to RBL cells and to determine if there is a dose-dependent effect. It is conceivable that the manner in which the TCR is

expressed on the RBL transfectant causes the GL3 hybridoma to bind inefficiently to the TCR, perhaps enough to be detected as seen in FACS analysis, but does not cross-link the TCR strongly enough to stimulate activation and release. A higher GL3 hybridoma to RBL cell ratio may result in functional activation through the TCR. GL3 may also have varying binding affinities to different specific receptors, perhaps being lower for  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  in comparison to  $V\gamma 7/V\delta 5$  (a receptor characterizing murine intestinal cells) [333]. In future assays, GL3 free antibody, as well as bead-bound GL3, such as to PGS beads, can be used to provide a direct comparison between intercellular engagement of ligand with TCR and that of soluble antibody with the TCR. It may be found that the assay is more suitable for detection of activation via one particular method over another.

Finally, it is possible that the physical constraints of GL3 antibody surface expression on the hybridoma cell are preventing efficient cell-cell interaction and antibody-TCR engagement. In theory,  $F(ab')_2$  fragments of the GL3 antibody could be used to assess activation through the TCR. The  $F(ab')_2$  fragment is produced by the digestion action of the protease pepsin on the carboxy-terminal side of the disulfide bonds of the immunoglobulin. The two antigen-binding arms of the antibody molecule remain linked, retaining the same antigen-binding characteristics as the original antibody [2]. Using such fragments of the antibody to activate cell-surface TCR would bypass the potential physical constraints of antibodies expressed on the surface of another cell.

Clone #45 RBL transfectants also did not show stimulation by 17D1 MoAb. Several different explanations can account for this finding. One, the concentration of 17D1 MoAb in the unpurified supernatant collected from cultures of 17D1 hybridoma cells is unknown (Lewis, personal communication). In this study, 50 µl of the
supernatant was added directly to the well containing the Clone #45 cells. It is conceivable that the concentration of 17D1 MoAb in the supernatant is in fact rather low such that 50 µl alone did not contain adequate amounts of antibody to activate the TCR on the RBL transfectants. In future assays, both higher volumes or concentrations of 17D1 MoAb in the supernatant can be used to assess activation via this antibody. Logically, use of purified supernatant, containing a concentrated amount of 17D1 MoAb alone, would have a much higher likelihood of demonstrating TCR activation. An alternative explanation for the lack of transfectant cell stimulation by 17D1 is that the MoAb could not induce detectable activation via the TCR on the RBL cells. It is possible that the  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR is expressed on the RBL cell surface in such a way that 17D1 MoAb does not bind accurately enough to induce activation through CD3<sup>2</sup>, i.e. does not effectively cross-link the TCR. Additionally, staining of the RBL transfectants with FITC-conjugated anti-17D1 showed 65% of the "enriched" Clone #45 cells to be 17D1positive. This percentage is lower than the ideal percentage of >99% purity of 17D1positive cells in a clone. Any of these factors may have contributed to the finding of failure of activation by 17D1 MoAb, or activation at a level below detectable using this assay system.

Though the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants failed to show activation by the GL3 hybridomas and 17D1 soluble MoAb, they did demonstrate serotonin release in response to PDV keratinocytes. This result is intriguing. One possible interpretation is that the V $\gamma5$ /V $\delta1$  TCR was in fact activated by the keratinocytes. DETC have been proposed to recognize a unique set of molecules that may be expressed by "stressed" neighboring cells [33], such as keratinocytes in the epidermis with which DETC are in intimate

contact. In fact, Havran et al. (1991) demonstrated that DETC may be stimulated to produce lymphokines by interaction with transformed keratinocytes in vitro [105]. The stimulation was mediated through the DETC receptor and did not appear to be subject to MHC restriction. This finding provides support for the hypothesis that DETC can recognize self-antigens and may participate in immune surveillance for cellular damage rather than for foreign antigens [105]. In addition, this proposed functional role of DETC is consistent with the extraordinary homogeneity in the TCR  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  gene utilization, which implies a very limited repertoire for the antigen(s) recognized by the receptor [42]. Thus, it is possible that the TCR on the RBL transfectants successfully engaged with ligand on the keratinocytes, induced activation through CD3<sup>\zeta</sup>, and stimulated serotonin release. The nature of the ligand is unclear and cannot be elucidated from this assay. The keratinocytes used in this assay were neither heat-shocked nor infected, or otherwise manipulated to cause purposeful damage. Yet, they had been removed from culture in a flask by scraping just prior to incubation in the assay with the RBL transfectants. Therefore, it is conceivable that this kind of physical "stress" and manipulation caused expression of a molecule which was recognized by the DETC TCR.

An alternative explanation is that the RBL transfectants were stimulated to release serotonin through a mechanism not related to TCR activation. Several different stimuli have been found to transduce cell activation signals in DETC. Such signals include: a) mitogenic lectins [58, 334]; 2) coculturing with a transformed keratinocyte line, Pam 212 [105], as described above; 3) epicutaneous application of irritant chemicals [110]; and 4) epidermal injury caused by injected autoreactive cytotoxic T-cells [335]. The mechanism through which these cell activation signals act on the DETC is not clear. Activation leads

to production of IL-2, the expression of IL-2 receptor, and vigorous proliferation [58]. It is hypothesized that the same signals also lead to the "maturation" of DETC that then exhibit "killer leukocyte" activity towards tumors or otherwise transformed cells. IL-7 produced locally by keratinocytes has been found to promote the growth of DETC in vitro [112, 336]. Thus, IL-7 from keratinocytes may also contribute to this maturational process of DETC into "killer cells" [109]. It is possible that the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  TCR transfectants are receiving as-yet unidentified cell activation signals from the keratinocytes through a non-TCR-related mechanism and are likewise transformed into a cell of "increased" activity. Such activity could lead to serotonin release.

It is also conceivable that the RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants were activated through an alternative receptor molecule aside from the  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR. For example, NKG2D is a receptor for the distant MHC class I homologue called MICA [98]. NKG2D has recently been detected on most  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, as well as on CD8+  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and NK cells. Engagement of NKG2D can activate cytolytic responses by γδ T cells and NK cells against epithelial tumor cells and transfectants expressing MICA [98]. Interestingly, the NKG2D ligands of the MHC class I-like molecules called Rae-1 and H60 have been found on skin cells exposed to carcinogens [100]. It is not definitively known whether RBL cells possess the NKG2D receptor. It is possible that Rae-1 and H60-like molecules are being expressed on the keratinocytes, which are recognized by NKG2D or other asyet unidentified receptor on the RBL cell, thus causing activation and release of serotonin through a non-TCR-dependent mechanism. Recently, a monoclonal antibody specific for murine NKG2D has been generated [337]. This anti-NKG2D MoAb could be used to stain and analyze the RBL cells for detection of this receptor. One could also use the

MoAb as a testing condition in the RBL bioassay, in which serotonin release may indicate the presence of this receptor on the RBL surface. Additionally, RBL  $\gamma\delta$  transfectants pre-blocked with NKG2D MoAb could be incubated with the keratinocytes to assess any difference in serotonin release. Failure of RBL cells to release serotonin in this condition would highly suggest the presence of NKG2D receptor.

Several steps can be taken to optimize the RBL bioassay. One of the first steps would be to further "enrich" the Clone #45 cell line into an ideally pure, >99% 17D1positive clone. Though it is not certain whether GL3-positive cells do in fact possess both the  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains and are not being detected by 17D1 due to conformational differences, such cells would ideally not be included in the purified clone until such clarification is made. Testing conditions with GL3 hybridomas and 17D1 soluble MoAb can be adjusted as discussed above to optimize the sensitivity of the bioassay. A suitable target to effector cell ratio of possible ligand-bearing cells and transfectants would need to be determined. An alternative method is to use homogenates of potential ligandbearing cells, in which the proteins in the homogenates could be used to attempt activation of RBL cells in the bioassay. Finally, in order to definitively demonstrate that activation is indeed occurring through engagement of a particular ligand with the TCR, production of soluble  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR (sTCR) will play a key role [338]. Once a particular type of cell is shown to activate the RBL  $V_{\gamma}5/V\delta1$  transfectant, sTCR can be used to attempt blocking of activation. If such blocking is achieved, characterization of the activating molecule on the ligand-bearing cell can begin. Ultimately, this RBL bioassay with TCR transfectants has the exciting potential to help identify the ligand(s) for the

strikingly homogeneous  $V\gamma 5/V\delta 1$  TCR-bearing dendritic epidermal T cell. Surely, the elucidation of such ligand(s) will radically increase the understanding of the physiologic and functional roles of this intriguing subset of epidermis-restricted T cells.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Hedrick, S.M., *T lymphocyte receptors*, in *Fundamental Immunology*, W.E. Paul, Editor. 1989, Raven Press: New York. p. 291-313.
- 2. Janeway, C.A., Travers, P., Walport, M., and Schlomchik, M., *The Immune System in Health and Disease*. 5th ed, ed. P. Austin, and Lawrence, E. 2001, New York: Garland Publishing.
- 3. Weissman, A.M., *The T-cell antigen receptor: a multisubunit signaling complex.* Chem Immunol, 1994. **59**: p. 1-18.
- 4. Wange, R.L. and L.E. Samelson, *Complex complexes: signaling at the TCR*. Immunity., 1996. **5**(3): p. 197-205.
- 5. Ashwell, J.D., and Klausner, R.D., *Genetic and mutational analysis of the T-cell antigen receptor*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1990. **8**: p. 139-167.
- 6. Kaufmann, S.H.E.,  $\gamma/\delta$  and other unconventional lymphocytes: what do they see and what do they do? Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1996. **93**: p. 2272-2279.
- 7. Kronenberg, M., Antigens recognized by gamma delta T cells. Curr Opin Immunol, 1994. 6(1): p. 64-71.
- 8. Chien, Y., Jores, R., and Crowley, M.P., *Recognition by gamma/delta T cells*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1996. **14**: p. 511-532.
- 9. Morita, C.T., Mariuzza, R.A., and Brenner, M.B., *Antigen recognition by human gamma delta T cells: pattern recognition by the adaptive immune system.* Springer Semin Immunopathol, 2000. **22**(3): p. 191-217.
- 10. Raulet, D.H., *The structure, function, and molecular genetics of the*  $\gamma/\delta$  *T cell receptor*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1989. **7**: p. 175-207.
- 11. Brenner, M.B., McLean, J., Lialynas, D., Strominger, J., Smith, J.A., et al., *Identification of a putative second T cell receptor*. Nature, 1986. **322**: p. 145-149.
- 12. Bank, I., DePinho, R.A., Renner, M.B. Cassimeris, J., Alt, F.W., et al., *A functional T3 molecule associated with a novel heterodimer on the surface of immature human thymocytes.* Nature, 1986. **322**: p. 179-181.
- 13. Weiss, A., Newton, M., and Crommie, D., *Expression of T3 in association with a molecule distinct from the T-cell antigen receptor heterodimer*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1986. **83**: p. 6998-7002.

- Moingeon, P., Ythier, A., Goubin, G., Faure, F., Nowell, A., et al., A γ-chain complex forms a functional receptor on cloned human lymphocytes with natural killer-like activity. Nature, 1987. 325: p. 723-726.
- 15. Littman, D.R., Newton, M., Crommie, D., Ang, S.L., Sedman, J.G., et al., *Characterization of an expressed CD3-associated Ti γ-chain reveals Cγ domain polymorphism.* Nature, 1987. **326**: p. 85-88.
- Hedrick, S.M., Cohen, D.I., Nielsen, E.A., and Davis, M.M., *Isolation of cDNA clones encoding T cell-specific membrane-associated proteins*. Nature, 1984. 308: p. 149-155.
- 17. Yanagi, Y., Yoshikai, Y., Leggett, K., Clark, S.P., Alksander, I., et al., *A human T cell-specific cDNA clone encodes a protein having extensive homology to immunoglobulin chains*. Nature, 1984. **308**: p. 145-149.
- 18. Chien, Y.-H., Iwashima, M., Kaplan, K., Elliott, J.F., and Davis, M.M., *A new T-cell receptor gene located within the* α *locus and expressed early in T cell differentiation*. Nature, 1987. **327**: p. 677-682.
- 19. Haas, W., Pereirra, P., and Tonegawa, S., *Gamma/delta T cells*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1993. **11**: p. 637-85.
- 20. Hayday, A.C., *γδ cells: a right time and a right place for a conserved third way of protection.* Ann Rev Immunol, 2000. **18**: p. 975-1026.
- Born, W., Cady, C., Johnes-Carson, J., Mukasa, A., Lahn, M., et al., *Immunoregulatory functions of γδ T cells*. Advances in Immunology, 1999. 71: p. 77-137.
- 22. Allison, J.P., and Havran, W.L., *The immunobiology of T cells with invariant*  $\gamma\delta$  *antigen receptors.* Ann Rev Immunol, 1991. **9**: p. 679-705.
- 23. Davis, M.M., and Bjorkman, P.J., *T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition*. Nature, 1988(334): p. 395-402.
- 24. Rothenberg, E., and Triglia, D., *Clonal proliferation unlinked to terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase synthesis in thymocytes of young mice.* J Immunol, 1983. **130**: p. 1627-1633.
- Lafaille, J.J., DeCloux, A., Bonneville, M, Takagaki, Y., and Tonegawa, S., Junctional sequences of T cell receptor γ/δ genes: implications for γδ T cell lineages and for a novel intermediate of V-(D)-J joining. Cell, 1990. 59: p. 859-870.

- Hayday, A.C., Saito, H., Gillis, S.D., Kranz, D.M., Tanigawa, G., et al., *Structure,* organization and somatic rearrangement of *T*-cell γ genes. Cell, 1985. 40: p. 259-269.
- 27. Garman, R.D., Doherty, P.J., and Raulet, D.H., *Diversity, rearrangement, and expression of murine T cell γ genes.* Cell, 1986. **45**: p. 733-742.
- 28. Iwamoto, A., Rupp, F., Ohashi, P.S., Walker, C.L., Pircher, H., et al., *T cell-specific γ genes in C57BL/10 mice: sequence and expression of new constant and variable region genes.* J Exp Med, 1986. **163**: p. 1203-1212.
- 29. Pelkonen, J., Traunecker, A., and Karjalainen, K., *A new mouse TCR Vγ gene that shows remarkable evolutionary conservation*. EMBO J, 1987. **6**: p. 1941-1944.
- Elliott, J.F., Rock, E.P., Patten, P.A., Davis, M.M., and Chien, Y., *The adult T-cell receptor δ chain is diverse and distinct from that of fetal thymocytes*. Nature, 1988. 331: p. 627-631.
- 31. Tigelaar, R.E., Lewis, J.M., and Bergstresser, P.R., *TCR gamma/delta+ dendritic epidermal T cells as constituents of skin-associated lymphoid tissue.* J Invest Dermatol, 1990. **94**(Suppl 6): p. 58S-63S.
- 32. Havran, W., and Allison, J.P., *Developmentally ordered appearance of thymocytes expressing different T-cell antigen receptors*. Nature, 1988. **335**: p. 443-445.
- Asarnow, D.M., Kuziel, W.A., Bonyhadi, M., Tigelaar, R.E., Tucker, P.W., et al., Limited diversity of γδ antigen receptor genes of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells. Cell, 1988. 55: p. 837-847.
- 34. Born, W., Kelly, K.A., and O'Brien, R.L., in *Handbook of B and T Lymphocytes*, E.C. Snow, Editor. 1994, Academic Press: San Diego. p. 179-214.
- 35. Hayday, A.C., and Viney, J.L., *The ins and outs of body surface immunology*. Science, 2000. **290**: p. 97-100.
- 36. Bomsel, M., Heyman, M., Hocini, H., Lagaye, S., Belec, L., et al., *Intracellular neutralization of HIV transcytosis across tight epithelial barriers by anti-HIV envelope protein dIgA or IgM.* Immunity, 1998. **9**(2): p. 277-287.
- 37. Jarry, A., Cerf-Bensussan, N., Brousse, N., Seiz, F., and Guy-Grand, D., Subsets of CD3+ and CD3- lymphocytes isolated from normal human gut epithelium display phenotypic features different from their counterparts in peripheral blood. Eur J Immunol, 1990. **20**: p. 1097-1103.

- 38. Stingl, G., *Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells express T3 antigen and the T-cell receptor γ chain.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1987. **84**: p. 4586-4590.
- Itohara, S., Nakanish, N., Kanagawa, O., Kube, R., and Tonegawa, S., Monoclonal antibodies specific to native murine T-cell receptor γδ: analysis of γ/δ T cells during thymic ontogeny and in peripheral lymphoid organs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1989. 86: p. 5094-5098.
- Hayday, A.C., Theodoridis, E., Ramsburg, E., and Shires, J., *Intraepithelial lymphocytes: exploring the Third Way in immunology*. Nature Immunology, 2001.
  2(11): p. 997-1003.
- 41. Havran, W.L., *A role for epithelial*  $\gamma \delta T$  *cells in tissue repair*. Immunol Res, 1999. **21**: p. 63-69.
- 42. Janeway, C.A., Jones, B., and Hayday, A.C., *Specificity and function of cells bearing γδ T cell receptors.* Immunol Today, 1988. **9**: p. 73-76.
- 43. Lefrancois, L., *Phenotypic complexity of intraepithelial lymphocytes of the small intestine*. J Immunol, 1991. **147**: p. 1746-1751.
- 44. Beagley, K., and Husband, A., *Intraepithelial lymphocytes: origins, distribution, and function.* Crit Rev Immunol, 1998. **18**: p. 237-254.
- 45. Guy-Grand, D., Gricelli, C., and Vassalli, P., *The monse gut T lymphocytes, a novel type of T cell. Nature, origin, and traffic in mice in normal and graft-versus-host conditions.* J Exp Med, 1978. **148**: p. 1661-1667.
- 46. Vezys, V., Olson, S., and Lefrancois, L., *Expression of intestine-specific antigen reveals novel pathways of CD8 T cell tolerance induction*. Immunity, 2000. **12**: p. 505-514.
- 47. Camerini, V., Generation of intestinal mucosal lymphocytes in scid mice reconstituted with mature, thymus-derived T cells. J Immunol, 1998. **160**: p. 2608-2618.
- 48. Lefrancois, L., *The role of B7 integrins in CD8 T cell trafficking during an antiviral immune response.* J Exp Med, 1999. **189**: p. 1631-1638.
- 49. Dharakul, T., Rott, L., and Greenberg, H.B., *Recovery from chronic rotavirus infection in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency: virus clearance mediated by adoptive transfer of immune CD8+ T lymphocytes.* J Virol, 1990. **64**: p. 4375-4382.

- 50. Lepage, A.C., Buzoni-Gatel, D., Bout, D.T., and Kasper, L.H., *Gut-derived intraepithelial lymphocytes induce long term immunity against Toxoplasma gondii.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**: p. 4902-4908.
- 51. Muller, S., Buhler-Jungo, M., and Mueller, C., *Intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes exert potent protective cytotoxic activity during an acute virus infection.* J Immunol, 2000. **164**: p. 1986-1994.
- 52. Buzoni-Gatel, D., *Intraepithelial lymphocytes traffic to the intestine and enhance resistance to Toxoplasma gondii oral infection.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**: p. 5846-5852.
- 53. Smith, A.L., and Hayday, A.C., An αβ T-cell-independent immunoprotective response towards gut coccidian is supported by γδ cells. Immunology, 2000. 101: p. 325-332.
- 54. Shires, J., Theodoridis, E., and Hayday, A.C., *Biological insights into TCR* $\gamma\delta$ + and TCR $\alpha\beta$ + intraepithelial lymphocytes provided by serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). Immunity, 2001. **15**: p. 419-434.
- 55. Bergstresser, P.R., Tigelaar, R.E., Dees, J.H., and Streilein, J.W., *Thy-1 antigenbearing dendritic cells populate murine epidermis.* J Invest Dermatol, 1983. **81**: p. 285-288.
- 56. Tschachler, E., Schuler, G., Hutterer, J., Leibl, H., Wolff, K., et al., *Expression of Thy-1 antigen by murine epidermal cells*. J Invest Dermatol, 1983. **81**: p. 282-285.
- 57. Nixon-Fulton, J.L., Hackett, J., Bergstresser, P.R., Kumar, V, Tigelaar, R.E., *Phenotypic heterogeneity and cytotoxic activity of Con A and IL-2-stimulated cultures of mouse Thy-1+ epidermal cells.* J Invest Dermatol, 1988. **91**: p. 62-68.
- 58. Takashima, A., Nixon-Fulton, J.L., Bergstresser, P.R., and Tigelaar, R.E., *Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells in mice: precursor frequency analysis and cloning of con-canavalin A-reactive cells.* J Invest Dermatol, 1988. **90**: p. 671-678.
- 59. Havran, W.L., Poenie., M., Tigelaar, R.E., Tsien, R.Y., and Allison, J.P., *Phenotypic and functional analysis of γδ T cell receptor-positive murine dendritic epidermal clones.* J Immunol, 1989. **142**: p. 1422-1428.
- 60. Heilig, J.S., and Tonegawa, S., *Diversity of murine gamma genes and expression in fetal and adult T lymphocytes.* Nature, 1986. **322**(6082): p. 836-840.
- 61. Asarnow, D.M., Goodman, T., Lefrancois, L., and Allison, J.P., *Distinct antigen receptor repertoires of two classes of murine epithelium-associated T cells*. Nature, 1989. **341**: p. 50-52.

- Havran, W.L., Grell, S., Duwe, G., et al., *Limited diversity of T-cell receptor γ-chain expression of murine Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells revealed Bγ3-specific monoclonal antibody*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1989. 86: p. 4185-4189.
- 63. Lewis, J.L., and Tigelaar, R.E., *Thymic dependence of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells (abstr)*. J Invest Dermatol, 1989. **92**: p. 471A.
- 64. Tigelaar, R.E., and Lewis, J.M., *Immunobiology of mouse dendritic epidermal T cells: a decade later, some answers, but still more questions.* J Invest Dermatol, 1995. **105**: p. 43S-49S.
- 65. Kyes, S., Carew, E., Carding, S.R., Janeway, C.A. Jr., and Hayday, A., *Diversity in T-cell receptor γ gene usage in intestinal epithelium*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1989. 86(14): p. 5527-5531.
- 66. Itohara, S., Farr, A.G., Lafaille, J.J., Bonneville, M., Takagaki, Y., et al., *Homing of a γδ thymocyte subset with homogeneous T-cell receptors to mucosal epithelia*. Nature, 1990. 343: p. 754-757.
- 67. Augustin, A., Kubo, R.T., and Sim, G.K., *Resident pulmonary lymphocytes* expressing the gamma/delta T-cell receptor. Nature (London), 1989. **340**(239-241).
- 68. Lafaille, J.J., DeCloux, A., Bonneville, M., Takagaki, Y., and Tonegawa, S., *Junctional sequences of T cell receptor gamma delta genes: implications for gamma delta T cell lineages and for a novel intermediate of V-(D)-J joining.* Cell, 1989. **59**: p. 859-870.
- 69. Payer, E., Elbe, A., and Stingl, G., *Circulating CD3+/T cell receptor V gamma* 3+ fetal murine thymocytes home to the skin and give rise to proliferating dendritic epidermal T cells. J Immunol, 1991. **146**(8): p. 2536-43.
- 70. Elbe, A., Kilgus, O., Strohal, R., Payer, E., Schreiber, S., et al., *Fetal skin: a site of dendritic epidermal T cell development*. J Immunol, 1992. **149**: p. 1695-1701.
- 71. Itohara, S., Mombaerts, P., Lafaille, J., Iacomini, J., Nelson, A., et al., *T cell receptor delta gene mutant mice; independent generation of alpha beta T cells and programmed rearrangements of gamma delta TCR genes.* Cell, 1993. **72**(3): p. 337-348.
- 72. Zhang, Y., Cado, D., Asarnow, D.M., Komori, T., Alt, F.W., et al., *The role of short homology repeats and TdT in generation of the invariant gamma delta antigen receptor repertoire in the fetal thymus.* Immunity, 1995. **3**(4): p. 439-447.

- 73. Mallick-Wood, C.A., Lewis, J.M., Richi, L.I., Owen, M.J., Tigelaar, R.E., et al., *Conservation of T cell receptor conformation in epidermal γδ cells with disrupted primary Vy gene usage.* Science, 1998. **249**: p. 1729-1733.
- 74. Hara, H., Kishihara, K., Matsuzaki, G., Takimoto, H., Tsukiyama, T., et al., Development of dendritic epidermal T cells with a skewed diversity of γδ TCRs in Vδ1-deficient mice. J Immunol, 2000. 165: p. 3695-3705.
- 75. Ferrero, I., Wilson, A., Beermann, F., Held, W., and MacDonald, H.R., *T cell receptor specificity is critical for the development of epidermal γδ T cells*. J Exp Med, 2001. **194**: p. 1473-1483.
- 76. Housset, D., Mazza, G., Gregoire, C., Piras, C., Malissen, B., et al., *The threedimensional structure of a T cell antigen receptor*  $V\alpha V\beta$  *domain reveals a novel arrangement of the*  $V\beta$  *domain.* EMBO J, 1997. **16**: p. 4205-4216.
- 77. Hong, S.C., Waterbury, G., and Janeway, C.A. Jr., *Different superantigens interact with distinct sites in the Vbeta domain of a single T cell receptor.* J Exp Med, 1996. **183**(4): p. 1437-1446.
- 78. Chien, Y.H., and Jores, R.,  $\gamma\delta$  *T cells. T cells with B-cell-like recognition properties.* Curr Biol, 1995. **5**: p. 1116-1118.
- 79. Kaufmann, S.H.E., *Heat shock proteins and the immune response*. Immunol Today, 1990. **11**(4): p. 129-136.
- 80. Kozbor, D., Trinchieri, G., Monos, D.S., Isobe, M., Russo, G., et al., *Human TCR-gamma+/delta+*, *CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize tetanus toxoid in an MHCrestricted fashion.* J Exp Med, 1989. **169**(5): p. 1847-1851.
- 81. Holoshitz, J., Koning, F., Coligan, J.E., DeBruyn, J., and Strober, S., *Isolation of CD4- CD8- mycobacteria-reactive T lymphocyte clones from rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid.* Nature (London), 1989. **339**(6221): p. 226-229.
- 82. Matis, L.A., Fry, A.M., Cron, R.Q., Cotterman, M.M., Dick, R.F., et al., *Structure* and specificity of a class II MHC alloreactive gamma delta T cell receptor heterodimer. Science, 1989. **245**(4919): p. 746-749.
- 83. Guo, Y., Ziegler, K., Safley, S.A., Niesel, D.W., Vaidya, S., et al., *Human T-cell recognition of Listeria monocytogenes: recognition of listeriolysin O by TcR alpha beta + and TcR gamma delta + T cells.* Infect Immun, 1995. **63**(6): p. 2288-2294.
- 84. Vidovic, D., Roglic, M., McKune, K., Guerder, S., MacKay, C., et al., *Qa-1* restricted recognition of foreign antigen by a gamma delta T-cell hybridoma. Nature (London), 1989. **340**(6235): p. 646-650.

- 85. Imani, F., and Soloski, M.J., *Heat shock proteins can regulate expression of the Tla region-encoded class Ib molecule Qa-1*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1991. **88**(23): p. 10475-10479.
- Soloski, M.J., DeCloux, A., Aldrich, C.J., and Forman, J., *Structural and functional characteristics of the class IB molecule, Qa-1*. Immunol Rev, 1995. 147: p. 67-89.
- 87. Sciammas, R., Johnson, R.M., Sperling, A.I., Brady, W., Linsley, P.S., et al., *Unique antigen recognition by a herpesvirus-specific TCR-gamma delta cell.* J Immunol, 1994. **152**(11): p. 5392-5397.
- 88. Ito, K., Van Kaer, L., Bonneville, M., Hsu, S., Murphy, D.B., et al., *Recognition* of the product of a novel MHC TL region gene (27b) by a mouse gamma delta T cell receptor. Cell, 1990. **62**(3): p. 549-561.
- 89. Schild, H., Mavaddat, N., Litzenberger, C., Ehrich, E.W., Davis, M.M., et al., *The nature of major histocompatibility complex recognition by gamma delta T cells*. Cell, 1994. **76**(1): p. 29-37.
- 90. Crowley, M.P., Reic, Z., Mavaddat, N., Altman, J.D., and Chien, Y-H., The recognition of the nonclassical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule, T10, by the γδ T cell, G8. J Exp Med, 1997. 185(7): p. 1223-1230.
- 91. Wingren, C., Crowley, M.P., Degano, M., Chien, Y-H., and Wilson, I.A., *Crystal structure of a gd T cell receptor ligand T22: a truncated MHC-like fold.* Science, 2000. **287**: p. 310-314.
- 92. Bonneville, M., Ito, K., Krecko, E.G., Itohara, S., Kappes, D., et al., *Recognition* of a self major histocompatibility complex TL region product by gamma delta T-cell receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1989. **86**(15): p. 5928-5932.
- 93. Davis, M.M., Boniface, J.J., Reich, Z., Lyons, D., Hampl, J., et al., *Ligand recognition by alpha beta T cell receptors*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1998. **16**: p. 523-544.
- 94. Groh, V., Rhinehart, R., Secrist, H., Bauer, S., Grabstein, K.H., et al., Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived γδ T cells of MICA and MICB. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1999. 96: p. 6879-6884.
- 95. Groh, V., Steinle, A., Bauer, S., and Spies, T., *Recognition of stress induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial γδ T cells.* Science, 1998. **279**: p. 1737-1740.

- 96. Groh, V., Bahram, S., Bauer, S., Herman, A., Beauchamp, M., et al., *Cell stress-regulated human major histocompatibility complex class I gene expressed in gastrointestinal epithelium.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1996. **93**(22): p. 12445-12450.
- Li, P., Willie, S.T., Bauer, S., Morris, D.L., Spies, T., et al., *Crystal structure of the MHC class I homolog MIC-A, a γδ T cell ligand*. Immunity, 1999. 10: p. 577-584.
- Bauer, S., Groh, V., Wu, J., Steinle, A., Phillips, J.H., et al., *Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA*. Science, 1999. 285: p. 727-729.
- 99. Diefenbach, A., Jamieson, A.M., Liu, S.D., Shastri, N., and Raulet, D.H., *Ligands* for the nurine NKG2D receptor: expression by tumor cells and activation of NK cells and macrophages. Nature Immunology, 2000. **1**: p. 119-126.
- 100. Girardi, M., Oppenheim, D.E., Steele, C.S., Lewis, J.M., Glusac, E., et al., *Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by γδ T cells*. Science, 2001. 294: p. 605-609.
- 101. Havran, W.L., and Boismenu, R., *Activation and function of gamma delta T cells*. Curr Opin Immunol, 1994. **6**(3): p. 442-446.
- 102. Boismenu, R., and Havran, W.L., *Modulation of epithelial cell growth by intraepithelial γδ T cells.* Science, 1994. **266**: p. 1253-1255.
- 103. Finch, P.W., Rubin, J.S., Miki, T., Ron, D., and Aaronson, S.A., *Human KGF is FGF-related with properties of a paracrine effector of epithelial cell growth.* Science, 1989. **245**: p. 752-755.
- Rakasz, E., Sandor, M., Hagen, M., and Lynch, R.G., *Activation features of intraepithelial gamma delta T-cells of the murine vagina*. Immunol Letters, 1996.
  54: p. 129-134.
- 105. Havran, W.L., Chien, Y-H., and Allison, J.P., *Recognition of self antigens by skin-derived T cells with invariant γδ antigen receptors*. Science (Washington DC), 1991. 252: p. 1430-1432.
- 106. Lindquist, S., *The heat-shock response*. Ann Rev Biochem, 1986. **55**: p. 1151-1191.
- 107. Young, R.A., and Elliott, T.J., *Stress proteins, infection, and immune surveillance*. Cell, 1989. **59**(1): p. 5-8.

- 108. Huber, H., Decossy, P., van Brandwijk, R., and Knop, J., Activation of murine epidermal TCR-γδ T cells by keratinocytes treated with contact sensitizers. J Immunol, 1995. 155: p. 2888-2894.
- Kaminski, M.J., Cruz, P.D. Jr., Bergstresser, P.R., and Takashima, A., *Killing of skin-derived tumor cells by monse dendritic epidermal T-cells*. Cancer Research, 1993. 53: p. 4014-4019.
- Rheins, L.A., Young, E.M., Nordlund, M.L., Berning, R.B., and Nordlund, J.J., Rapid induction of Thy-1 antigenic markers on keratinocytes and epidermal immune cells in the skin of mice following topical treatment with common preservatives used in topical medications and in foods. J Invest Dermatol, 1987. 89: p. 489-494.
- 111. Boismenu, R., Hobbs, M.V., Boullier, S., and Havran, W.L., *Molecular and cellular biology of dendritic epidermal T cells*. Sem Immunol, 1996. **8**: p. 323-331.
- 112. Matsue, H., Bergstresser, P.R., and Takashima, A., *Reciprocal cytokine-mediated cellular interactions in mouse epidermis: promotion of γδ T-cell growth by IL-7 and TNFα and inhibition of keratinocyte growth by γIFN.* J Invest Dermatol, 1993. **101**(4): p. 543-548.
- Fahrer, A., Attributes of γδ intraepithelial lymphocytes as suggested by their transcriptional profile. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 2001. 98: p. 10261-10266.
- 114. Cepek, K.L., Shaw, S.K., Parker, C.M., Russell, G.J., Morrow, J.S., et al., *Adhesion between epithelial cells and T lymphocytes mediated by E-cadherin and the alpha E beta 7 integrin.* Nature (London), 1994. **372**(6502): p. 190-193.
- 115. Lefrancois, L., Barrett, T.A., Havran, W.L., and Puddington, L., *Developmental expression of the alpha IEL beta 7 integrin on T cell receptor gamma delta and T cell receptor alpha beta T cells*. Eur J Immunol, 1994. **24**(3): p. 635-640.
- 116. Komano, H., Fujiura, Y, Kawaguchi, M., Matsumoto, S., Hashimoto, Y., et al., *Homeostatic regulation of intestinal epithelia by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1995. **92**(13): p. 6147-6151.
- 117. Roberts, S.J., Smith, A.L., West, A.B., Wen, L, Findly, R.C., et al., *T-cell*  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta+$  deficient mice display abnormal but distinct phenotypes toward a natural, widespread infection of the intestinal epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1996. **93**: p. 11774-11779.
- 118. Hayday, A.C. Intraepithelial  $\gamma/\delta$ + T cells in natural infection and in celiac disease: protectors of epithelial integrity and mediators of immune regulation-a hypothesis. in 6th Int Proc Coeliac Disease. 1994: Oak Tree Press, Dublin.

- 119. Matsue, H., Cruz, P.D. Jr., Bergstresser, P.R., and Takashima, A., *Profiles of cytokine mRNA expressed by dendritic epidermal T cells in mice*. J Invest Dermatol, 1993. **101**(4): p. 537-542.
- 120. Hayday, A.C., Roberts, S., and Ramsburg, E., γδ cells and the regulation of mucosal immune responses. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2000. 162: p. S161-S163.
- 121. Pfeffer, K., Schoel, B., Gulle, H., Kaufmann, S.H.E., and Wagern, H., *Primary* responses of human T cells to mycobacteria: a frequent set of gamma/delta T cells are stimulated by protease-resistant ligands. Eur J Immunol, 1990. **20**(5): p. 1175-1179.
- 122. Kabelitz, D., Bender, A., Schondelmaier, S., Schoel, B., and Kaufmann, S.H.E., *A large fraction of human peripheral blood gamma/delta* + *T cells is activated by Mycobacterium tuberculosis but not by its 65-kD heat shock protein.* J Exp Med, 1990. **171**(3): p. 667-679.
- 123. Emoto, M., Danbara, H., and Yoshikai, Y., *Induction of gamma/delta T cells in murine salmonellosis by an avirulent but not by a virulent strain of Salmonella choleraesuis.* J Exp Med, 1992. **176**: p. 363-372.
- 124. Modlin, R.L., Pirmez, C., Hofmann, F.M., Torigian, V., Uyemura, K., et al., *Lymphocytes bearing antigen-specific gamma delta T-cell receptors accumulate in human infectious disease lesions.* Nature (London), 1989. **339**(6225): p. 544-548.
- 125. Emoto, M., Nishimura, H., Sakai, T., Hiromatsu, K., Gomi, H., et al., *Mice deficient in gamma delta T cells are resistant to lethal infection with Salmonella choleraesuis.* Infect Immun, 1995. **63**(9): p. 3736-3738.
- 126. Sandor, M., Sperling, A.I., Cook, G.A., Weinstock, J.V., Lynch, R.G., et al., *Two* waves of gamma delta T cells expressing different V delta genes are recruited into schistosome-induced liver granulomas. J Immunol, 1995. **155**(1): p. 275-284.
- 127. Bertotto, A., Gerli, R., Spinozzi, F., Muscat, C., Scalise, F., et al., *Lymphocytes bearing the gamma delta T cell receptor in acute Brucella melitensis infection*. Eur J Immunol, 1993. **23**: p. 1177-1180.
- 128. Sumida, T., Maeda, T., Takahashi, H., Yoshida, S., Yonaha, F., et al., *Predominant expansion of V gamma 9/V delta 2 T cells in a tularemia patient*. Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(6): p. 2254-2558.
- 129. van der Heyde, H.C., Elloso, M.M., Chang, W.L., Kaplan, M., Manning, D.D., et al., *Gamma delta T cells function in cell-mediated immunity to acute blood-stage Plasmodium chabaudi adami malaria*. J Immunol, 1995. **154**(8): p. 3985-3990.

- 130. Perera, M.K., Carter, R., Goonewardene, R., and Mendis, K.N., *Transient increase in circulating gamma/delta T cells during Plasmodium vivax malarial paroxysms*. J Exp Med, 1994. **179**(1): p. 311-315.
- Rosat, J.P., MacDonald, H.R., and Louis, J.A., A role for gamma delta + T cells during experimental infection of mice with Leishmania major. J Immunol, 1993. 150(2): p. 550-555.
- 132. Fu, Y.-X., Roark, C.E., Kelly, K., Drevets, D., Campbell, P., et al., *Immune protection and control of inflammatory tissue necrosis by γδ T cells*. J Immunol, 1994. **153**: p. 3101-3115.
- 133. Hisaeda, H., Nagasawa, H., Maeda, K., Maekawa, Y., Ishikawa, H., et al., *Gamma delta T cells play an important role in hsp65 expression and in acquiring protective immune responses against infection with Toxoplasma gondii.* J Immunol, 1995. **155**(1): p. 244-251.
- 134. Mombaerts, P., Arnoldi, J., Russ, F., Tonegawa, S., and Kaufmann, S.H.E., *Different roles of*  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  *T cells in immunity against an intracellular bacterial pathogen.* Nature (London), 1993. **365**: p. 53-56.
- 135. Ladel, C.H., Blum, C., Dreher, A., Reifenberg, K., and Kaufmann, S.H.E., *Protective role of gamma/delta T cells and alpha/beta T cells in tuberculosis.* Eur J Immunol, 1995. **25**(10): p. 2877-2881.
- 136. King, D.P., Hyde, D.M., Jackson, K.A., Novosad, D.M., Ellis, N.T., et al., *Cutting edge: protective response to pulmonary injury requires γδ T lymphocytes*. J Immunol, 1999. 162: p. 5033-5036.
- 137. Matsuda, S., Kudoh, S., and Katayama, S., Enhanced formation of azoxymethaneinduced colorectal carcinoma in γδ T lymphocyte-deficient mice. Jpn J Cancer Res, 2001. 92: p. 880-885.
- 138. Nishimura, H., Emoto, M., Hiromatsu, K., Yamamoto, S., Matsura, K., et al., *The role of gamma delta T cells in priming macrophages to produce tumor necrosis factor-alpha*. Eur J Immunol, 1995. **25**(5): p. 1465-1468.
- 139. Kaufmann, S.H.E., Blum, C., and Yamamoto, S., *Crosstalk between alpha/beta T cells and gamma/delta T cells in vivo: activation of alpha/beta T-cell responses after gamma/delta T-cell modulation with the monoclonal antibody GL3.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1993. **90**(20): p. 9620-9624.
- 140. Hsieh, B., Schrenzel, M.D., Mulvania, T., Lepper, H.D., DiMolfetto-Landon, L., et al., *In vivo cytokine production in murine listeriosis. Evidence for immunoregulation by*  $\gamma\delta$ + *T cells.* J Immunol, 1996. **156**: p. 232-237.

- 141. Ferrick, D.A., Schrenzel, M.D., Mulvania, T., Hsieh, B., Ferlin, W.G., et al., Differential production of interferon-γ and interleukin-4 in response to Th1- and Th2-stimulating pathogens by γδ T cells in vivo. Nature, 1995. 373: p. 255-257.
- Sullivan, S., Bergstresser, P.R., Tigelaar, R.E., and Streilein, J.W., *Induction and regulation of contact hypersensitivity by resident, bone marrow-derived, dendritic epidermal cells: Langerhans cells and Thy-1+ epidermal cells.* J Immunol, 1986. 137: p. 2460-2467.
- 143. Bigby, M., Kwan, T., and Sy, M.S., *Ratio of Langerhans cells to Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells inmurine epidermis influences the intensity of contact hypersensitivity.* J Invest Dermatol, 1987. **89**: p. 495-499.
- 144. Welsh, E.A., and Kripke, M.L., *Murine Thy-1+ dendritic epiderual cells induce immunologic tolerance in vivo.* J Immunol, 1990. **144**: p. 883-891.
- 145. Shiohara, T., Moriya, N., Hayakawa, J., Itohara, S., and Ishikawa, H., *Resistance* to cutaneous graft-vs.-host disease is not induced in T cell receptor delta geneunutant mice. Journal of Experimental Medicine., 1996. **183**(4): p. 1483-9.
- 146. Weigmann, B., Schwing, J., Huber, H., Ross, R., Mossmann, H., et al., *Diminished contact hypersensitivity response in IL-4 deficient mice at a late phase of the elicitation response.* Scand J Immunol, 1997. **45**: p. 308-314.
- 147. Girardi, M., Lewis, J., Glusac, E., Filler, R.B., Geng, L., et al., *Resident skin-specific*  $\gamma\delta$  *T cells provide local, nonredundant regulation of cutaneous inflammation.* J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(7): p. 855-867.
- Love-Schimenti, C.D., and Kripke, M.L., *Dendritic epidermal T cells inhibit T-cell proliferation and may induce tolerance by cytotoxicity*. J Immunol, 1994.
  153: p. 3450-3456.
- 149. Szczepanik, M., et al., Ganma delta T cells from tolerized alpha beta T cell receptor (TCR)-deficient mice inhibit contact sensitivity-effector T cells in vivo, and their interferon-ganma production in vitro. Journal of Experimental Medicine., 1996. **184**(6): p. 2129-39.
- 150. Shiohara, R., Moriya, N., Gotoh, C., Saizawa, K., and Nagashima, M., *Locally* administered monoclonal antibodies to lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 and to L3T4 prevent cutaneous graft-vs.-host disease. J Immunol, 1988. **141**: p. 2261-2267.
- 151. Williams, H.C., *Epideuiology of atopic dermatitis*. Clin and Experim Derm, 2000. **25**: p. 522-529.


- Kohara, Y., Tanabe, K., Matsuoka, K., Kanda, N., Matsuda, H., et al., A major determinant quantitative-trait locus responsible for atopic dermatitis-like skin lesions in NC/Nga mice is located on Chromosome 9. Immunogenetics., 2001. 53(1): p. 15-21.
- 153. Natori, K., Tamari, M., Watanabe, O., Onouchi, Y., Shiomoto, Y., et al., *Mapping* of a gene responsible for dermatitis in NOA (Naruto Research Institute Otsuka Atrichia) mice, an animal model of allergic dermatitis. Journal of Human Genetics, 1999. 44(6): p. 372-6.
- 154. Watanabe, O., Tamari, M., Natori, K., Onouchi, Y., Shiomoto, Y., et al., *Loci on murine chromosomes 7 and 13 that modify the phenotype of the NOA mouse, an animal model of atopic dermatitis.* Journal of Human Genetics., 2001. **46**(4): p. 221-4.
- 155. Bos, J.D., Teunissen, M. B., Cairo, I., Krieg, S. R., Kapsenberg, M. L., et al., *T*cell receptor gamma delta bearing cells in normal human skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology., 1990. 94(1): p. 37-42.
- 156. Elbe, A., Foster, C.A., and Stingl, G., *T-cell receptor*  $\alpha/\beta$  and  $\gamma/\delta$  *T cells in rat and human skin-are they equivalent?* Semin Immunol, 1996. **8**: p. 341-9.
- 157. Fujita, M., Miyachi, Y., Nakata, K., and Imamura, S., γ/δ *T*-cell receptor-positive cells in human skin. I. Incidence and V-region gene expression in granulomatous skin lesions. J Am Acad Dermatol, 1993. 28: p. 46-50.
- 158. Foster, C.A., Yokozeki, H., Rappersberger, K., et al., *Human epidermal T cells predominantly belong to the lineage expressing α/β T cell receptor*. J Exp Med, 1990. **171**: p. 997-1013.
- 159. Dupuy, P., Heslan, M., Fraitag, S., Hercent, T., Dubertret, L., et al., *T-cell receptor γ/δ bearing lymphocytes in normal and inflammatory human skin.* J Invest Dermatol, 1990. 94: p. 764-768.
- 160. Holtmeier, W., Pfander, M., Hennemann, A., Zollner, T.M., Kaufmann, R., et al., *The TCRδ repertoire in normal human skin is restricted and distinct from the TCRδ repertoire in the peripheral blood.* J Invest Dermatol, 2001. **116**: p. 275-280.
- 161. Alaibac, M., Daga, A., Harms, G., Morris, J, Yu, R.C., et al., Molecular analysis of the γ/δ T-cell receptor repertoire in normal human skin and in Oriental cutaneous leishmaniasis. Exp Dermatol, 1993. 2: p. 106-112.

- 162. Coombs, R.R.A., and Gell, P.G.H., Classification of allergic reactions for clinical hypersensitivity and disease, in Clinical Aspects of Immunology, P.G.H. Gell, Coombs, R.R.A., and Lachmann, P., Editor. 1975, Blackwell Scientific: Oxford. p. 761-781.
- 163. Lichenstein, L.M., Allergy and the immune system. Sci Am, 1993. 269: p. 117-124.
- 164. Marsh, D.G., and Norman, P.S., *Antigens that cause atopic disease*, in *Immunological Diseases*, M. Samter, Talmage, D.W., Frank, M.M., Austen, K.F., and Claman, N.H., Editor. 1988, Little, Brown and Company: Boston. p. 982-1008.
- 165. Casolaro, V., Georas, S. N., Song, Z., and Ono, S. J., *Biology and genetics of atopic disease*. Current Opinion in Immunology., 1996. **8**(6): p. 796-803.
- 166. Forrest, S., Dunn, K., Elliott, K., Fitzpatrick, E., Fullerton, J., McCarthy, M., Brown, J., Hill, D., Williamson, R., *Identifying genes predisposing to atopic eczema*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1999. **104**(5): p. 1066-70.
- 167. Taylor, B., Wadsworth, M., Wadsworth, J., Peckham, C., *Changes in the reported prevalence of childhood eczema since the 1939-45 war.* Lancet, 1984. 2: p. 1255-1257.
- 168. Hanifin, J.M., and Rajka, G., *Diagnostic features of atopic dermatitis*. Acta Derm Vernereol (Suppl), 1980. **92**: p. 44-47.
- 169. Saarinen, U.M., and Kajosaari, M., Breasfeeding as prophylaxis against atopic disease: prospective follow-up study until 17 years old. Lancet, 1995. **346**: p. 1065-1069.
- 170. Uehara, M., and Kimura, C., *Descendant family history of atopic dermatitis*. Acta Derm Vernereol, 1993. **73**: p. 62-63.
- 171. Schultz Larson, F., *Atopic dermatitis: a genetic-epidemiologic study in a population-based twin sample.* Journal of American Academy of Dermatology, 1993. **28**: p. 719-723.
- 172. Roitt, I., Brostoff, J., and Male, D., Immunology. 5th ed. 1998, St. Louis: Mosby.
- 173. Marsh, D.G., Neely, J.D., Breazeale, D.R., et al., *Linkage analysis of IL-4 and other chromosome 5q31.1 markers and total serum IgE concentrations.* Science, 1994. **264**: p. 1152-1156.

- 174. Meyers, D.A., Postma, D.S., Panhuysen, C., et al., *Evidence for a locus regulating total serum IgE levels mapping to chromosome 5*. Genomics, 1994. **23**: p. 464-470.
- 175. Cookson, W.O.C.M., Young, R.P., Sandford, A.J., Moffatt, W.F., Shirakawa, T., et al., *Maternal inheritance of atopic IgE responsiveness on chromosome 11q.* The Lancet, 1992. **340**(8816): p. 381-84.
- 176. van Herwerden, L., Harrap, S.B., Wong, Z.Y., Abramson, M.J., Kutin, J.J., et al., *Linkage of high-affinity IgE receptor gene with bronchial hyperreactivity, even in absence of atopy.* Lancet, 1995. **346**: p. 1262-1265.
- 177. Sandford, A.J., Shirakawa, T., Moffatt, M.F., Daniels, S.E., Ra, C., et al., *Localisation of atopy and the beta subunit of the high affinity IgE receptor (Fc episilon RI) on chromosome 11q.* Lancet, 1993. **341**: p. 332-334.
- 178. Daniels, S., Bhattacharrya, S., James, A., Leaves, N., Young, A., et al., *A genome-wide search for quantitative trait loci underlying asthma*. Nature, 1996. **383**: p. 247-250.
- 179. Hizawa, N., Yamaguchi, E., Ohe, M., Itoh, A., Furuya, K., et al., *Lack of linkage between atopy and locus 11q13*. Clin Exp Allergy, 1992. **22**: p. 1065-1069.
- 180. Lympany, P., Welsh, K.I., Cochrane, G.M., Kemmeny, D.M., and Lee, T.H., *Genetic analysis of the linkage between chromosome 11q and atopy.* Clin Exp Allergy, 1992. **22**: p. 1085-1092.
- 181. Watson, M., Lawrence, S., Collins, A., Beasley, R., Doull, I., et al., *Exclusion from proximal 11q of a common gene with megaphenic effect on atopy*. Ann Hum Genet, 1995. **59**: p. 403-411.
- 182. Coleman, R., Trembath, R.C., and Harper, J.I., *Chromosome 11q13 and atopy underlying atopic eczema*. Lancet, 1993. **341**: p. 1121-1122.
- 183. Folster-Holst, R., et al., *Linkage between atopy and the IgE high-affinity receptor gene at 11q13 in atopic dermatitis families.* Human Genetics., 1998. **102**(2): p. 236-9.
- 184. Mao, X.Q., Shirakawa, T., Yoshikawa, T., et al., *Association between genetic variants of mast-cell chymase and eczema*. Lancet, 1996. **348**: p. 581-583.
- 185. Kawashima, T., Noguchi, E., Arinami, T., Yamakawa-Kobayashi, K., Nakagawa, H., et al., *Linkage and association of an interleukin 4 gene polymorphism with atopic dermatitis in Japanse families.* J Med Genet, 1998. **35**: p. 502-504.

- 186. Kawakami, Y., *Genetic background of bronchial asthma*. Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi, 1992. **Suppl 30**: p. 1-4.
- 187. Laitinen, T., Kauppi, P., Ignatius, J., Ruotsalainen, T., Daly, M.J., et al., *Genetic* control of serum IgE levels and asthma: linkage and linkage disequilibrium studies in an isolated population. Hum Mol Genet, 1997. **6**: p. 2069-2076.
- 188. de Vries, I.J., *The role of IL-13 and its receptor in allergy and inflammatory responses.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1998. **102**: p. 165-169.
- 189. Liu, X., Nickel, R., Byer, K., Wahn, U., Ehrlich, E., et al., An IL13 coding region variant is associated with a high total serum IgE level and atopic dermatitis in the German Multicenter Atopy Study (MAS-90). J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2000. 106: p. 167-170.
- 190. Lee, Y.A., Wahn, U., Kehrt, R., Tarani, L., Businco, L., et al., *A major susceptibility locus for atopic dermatitis maps to chromosome 3q21*. Nature Genetics., 2000. **26**(4): p. 470-3.
- 191. Cookson, W.O., Ubhi, B., Lawrence, R., Abecasis, G.R., Walley, A.J., et al., *Genetic linkage of childhood atopic dermatitis to psoriasis suceptibility loci*. Nat Genet, 2001. **27**: p. 372-373.
- 192. Heinzmann, A., and Daser, A., *Mouse models for the genetic dissection of atopy*. International Archives of Allergy & Immunology., 2002. **127**(3): p. 170-80.
- 193. Kondo, T., Shiomoto, Y., Kondo, T., and Kubo, S., *The NOA mouse, a new hairdeficient mutant (a possible animal model of allergic dermatitis).* Mouse Genome, 1997. **95**: p. 698-700.
- 194. ICLAS Monitoring Center (Asia), in Manual of Microbiologic Monitoring of Laboratory Animals, N. Kagiyama, Editor. 1988, Japanese Society of Laboratory Animals: Tokyo.
- 195. Laberge, S., Ghaffar, O., Boguniewicz, M., Center, D.M., Leung, D.Y., et al., *Association of increased CD4+ T-cell infiltration with increased IL-16 gene expression in atopic dermatitis.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1998. **102**: p. 645-650.
- 196. Carpenter, C.L., and Cantley, L.C., *Phosphatidylinositol kinases*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1996. **8**: p. 153-158.
- 197. Kondo, K., Nagami, T., and Teramoto, S., *Differences in haematopoietic death among inbred strains of mice*, in *Comparative Cellular and Species Radiosensitivity*, P.V. Bond, and Sugahara, T., Editor. 1979, Igakushoin: Tokyo. p. 20.

- 198. Matsuda, H., Watanabe, N., Geba, G. P., Sperl, J., Tsudzuki, M., et al., *Development of atopic dermatitis-like skin lesion with IgE hyperproduction in NC/Nga mice.* International Immunology., 1997. **9**(3): p. 461-6.
- 199. Higashi, N., Gesser, B., Kawana, S., and Thestrup-Pedersen, K., *Expression of IL-*18 mRNA and secretion of IL-18 are reduced in monocytes from patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2001. **108**: p. 607-614.
- 200. Muschen, A., Mirmohammadsadegh, A., Jarzebska-Deussen, B., Abts, H.F., Ruzicka, T., et al., *Differential IL-10 receptor gene expression in acute versus chronic atopic eczema. Modulation by immunosuppressive drugs and cytokines in normal cultured keratinocytes.* Inflamm Res, 1999. **48**: p. 539-543.
- 201. Rajka, G., *Prurigo Besnier (atopic dermatitis) with special reference to the role of allergic factors. I. The influence of atopic hereditary factors.* Acta Derm Venereol, 1960. **40**: p. 285-306.
- 202. Uehara, M., and Sawai, T., *Familial background of respiratory atopy-a factor of type I allergy to house dust mite in patients with atopic dermatitis.* Arch Dermatol, 1989. **125**: p. 939-943.
- 203. Schults Larsen, F., *Genetic aspects of atopic eczema*, in *Handbook of Atopic Eczema*, T. Ruzicka, Ring, J., and Pryzbilla, B., Editor. 1991, Springer Verlag: Berlin. p. 15-26.
- 204. Hill, L.W., and Sulzberger, M.B., *Evolution of atopic dermatitis*. Arch Dermatol, 1935. **32**: p. 451-463.
- 205. Irving, B.A., and Weiss, A., *The cytoplasmic domain of the T cell receptor chain is sufficient to couple to receptor-associated signal-transduction pathways.* Cell, 1991. **64**: p. 891-901.
- 206. Paul, W.E., Seder, R.A., and Plaut, M., *Lymphokine and cytokine production by Fc*ɛ*RI*+ *cells*. Advances in Immunology, 1992. **53**: p. 1-29.
- 207. Tanaka, Y., *Pathogenesis and guidelines for therapy of atopic dermatitis*. Nippon Rinsho Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine., 2001. **59**(6): p. 1219-27.
- 208. Uehara, M., Izukura, R., and Sawai, T., *Blood eosinophilia in atopic dermatitis*. Clin Exp Dermatol, 1990. **15**: p. 264-266.
- 209. Omoto, M., Gu, L.H., Sugiura, H., and Uehara, M., *Heterogeneity of dermal deposition of eosinophil granule major basic protein in acute lesions of atopic dermatitis.* Arch Dermatol Res, 2000. **292**: p. 51-54.

- Suguira, H., Hirota, Y., and Uehara, M., *Heterogeneous distribution of mast cells in lichenified lesions of atopic dermatitis*. Acta Derm Venereol, 1989. Suppl 144: p. 115-118.
- 211. Uehara, M., *Heterogeneity of serum IgE levels in atopic dermatitis*. Acta Derm Venereol, 1986. **66**: p. 404-408.
- 212. Akdis, C.A., Akdis, M., and Simon, D., *Role of T cells and cytokines in the intrinsic form of atopic dermatitis.* Curr Probl Dermatol, 1999. **28**: p. 37-44.
- 213. Sato, A., Tsuji, K., Yamamura, M., Morita, Y., Kanzaki, H., et al., *Increased type* 2 cytokine expression by both CD4+ CD45RO+ T cells and CD8+ CD45RO+ T cells in blood circulation is associated with high serum IgE but not with atopic dermatitis. Journal of Investigative Dermatology., 1998. 111(6): p. 1079-84.
- 214. Tanaka, K., Sugiura, H., Uehara, M., et al., Association between mast cell chymase genotype and atopic eczema: comparison between patients with atopic eczema alone and those with atopic eczema and atopic respiratory disease. Clin Exp Allergy, 1999. **29**: p. 800-803.
- 215. Barsumian, E.L., Isersky, C., Petrino, M.G., and Siraganian, R.P., *IgE-induced histamine release from rat basophilic leukemia cell lines: isolation of releasing and nonreleasing clones.* Eur J Immunol, 1981. **11**(4): p. 317-323.
- 216. Eccleston, E., Lowe, J.S., Leonard, B.J., and Welford, H.J., *Comparative studies* on the rat basophil and mast cell. J Pathol, 1972. **106**(1):Px.
- 217. Sanchez-Mejorada, G., and Rosales, C., *Signal transdduction by immunoglobulin Fc receptors.* J Leuk Biol, 1998. **63**: p. 521-533.
- 218. Punt, J.A., Roberts, J.L., Kearse, K.P., and Singer, A., Stoichiometry of the T cell antigen receptor (TCR) complex: each TCR/CD3 complex contains one TCRα, one TCRβ, and two CD3ε chains. J Exp Med, 1994. 180: p. 587-593.
- 219. Kuster, W., Petersen, M., Christophers, E., Goos, M., and Sterry, W., *A family study of atopic dermatitis. Clinical and genetic characteristics of 188 patients and 2,151 family members.* Arch Dermatol Res, 1990. **282**(2): p. 98-102.
- 220. Romeo, C., and Seed, B., *Cellular immunity to HIV activated by CD4 fused to T cell or Fc receptor polypeptides.* Cell, 1991. **64**(5): p. 1037-1046.
- 221. Letourneur, F., and Klausner, R.D., *T-cell and basophil activation through the cytoplasmic tail of T-cell-receptor zeta family proteins.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 1991. **88**(20): p. 8905-8909.



- Irving, B.A., Chan, A.C., and Weiss, A., *Functional characterization of a signal transducing motif present in the T cell antigen receptor ζ chain.* J Exp Med, 1993.
   177: p. 1093-1110.
- 223. Adamczewski, M., Paolini, R., and Kinet, J.P., *Evidence for two distinct phosphorylation pathways activated by high affinity immunoglobulin E receptors.* J Biol Chem, 1992. **267**(25): p. 18126-18132.
- Engel, I., Ottenhoff, T.H.M., and Klausner, R.D., *High-efficiency expression and solubilization of functional T cell antigen receptor heterodimers*. Science, 1992.
   256: p. 1318-1321.
- 225. Basic Principles in Rodent Handling, Injection & Collection Techniques. Regulatory & Safety Services, Yale University IACUC. 2001.
- 226. Sokal, R.R., and Rohlf, F.J., *Biometry*. 2nd ed. 1981, New York: W.H. Freeman and Company. 1-859.
- 227. Wilfinger, W.W., Mackey, M, and Chomcynski, P., *Effect of pH and ionic strength on the spectrophotometric assessment of nucleic acid purity*. Biotechniques, 1997. **22**: p. 474-481.
- 228. Lander, E., and Kruglyak, L., *Genetic dissection of complex traits: guidelines for interpreting and reporting linkage results.* Nat Genet, 1995. **11**: p. 241-247.
- 229. Lander, E.S., and Schork, N.J., *Genetic dissection of complex traits*. Science, 1994. **265**: p. 2037-2048.
- 230. Mingeot-Leclercq, *Aminoglycosides: activity and resistance*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 1999. **43**(4): p. 727.
- 231. Hayday, A., and Tigelaar, R., *Immunoregulation in the tissues by γδ T cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(3): p. 233-242.
- 232. Leung, D.Y.M., *Atopic dermatitis: the skin as a window into the pathogenesis of chronic allergic disease.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1995. **96**: p. 312-319.
- 233. van Bever, H.P., *Recent advances in the pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis.* Eur J Pediatr, 1991. **151**: p. 870-873.
- 234. Rudikoff, D., and Lebwhohl, M., *Atopic dermatitis*. Lancet, 1998. **351**: p. 1715-1721.

- 235. Leiferman, K.M., Ackerman, S.J., Sampson, H.A., Haugen, H.S., Venecie, P.Y., et al., *Dermal deposition of eosinophil-granule major basic protein in atopic dermatitis: comparison with onchocerciasis.* N Engl J Med, 1985. **313**: p. 282-285.
- 236. Cheng, J.F., Ott, N.L., Peterson, E.A., George, T.J., Hukee, M.J., et al., *Dermal eosinophils in atopic dermatitis undergo cytolytic degeneration.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1997. **99**: p. 683-692.
- 237. Soter, N.A., Morphology of atopic eczema. Allergy, 1989. 44: p. 16-19.
- 238. Taylor, R.S., Baadsgaard, O., Hammerberg, C., and Cooper, K.D., Hyperstimulatory CD1a+CD1b+CD36+ Langerhans cells are responsible for increased autologous T lymphocyte reactivity to lesional epidermal cells of patients with atopic dermatitis. J Immunol, 1991. 147: p. 3794-3802.
- 239. Bos, J.D., van Garderen, I.D., Krieg, S.R., and Poulter, L.W., *Different in situ* distribution patterns of dendritic cells having Langerhans (T5+) and interdigitating (RFD1+) cell immunophenotype in psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, and other inflammatory dermatoses. J Invest Dermatol, 1986. **87**: p. 358-361.
- 240. Imokawa, G., Decreased level of ceramides in stratum corneum of atopic dermatitis: an etiologic factor in atopic dry skin? J Invest Dermatol, 1991(96):523-526.
- Hamid, Q., Boguniewicz, M., and Leung, D.Y.M., *Differential in situ cytokine gene expression in acute versus chronic atopic dermatitis*. J Clin Invest, 1994. 94: p. 870-876.
- 242. Hamid, Q., Naseer, T., Minshall, E., Song, Y., Boguniewicz, M., et al., *In vivo expression of IL-12 and IL-13 in atopic dermatitis*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1996.
  98: p. 225-3.
- 243. Thepen, T., Langeveld-Wildschut, E.G., Bihari, I.C., van Wichen, D.F., van Reijsen, F.C., et al., *Biphasic response against aeroallergen in atopic dermatitis showing a switch from an initial Th2 response to a Th1 response in situ: an immunocytochemical study.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1996. **97**: p. 828-837.
- 244. Suzberger, M., *Historical notes on atopic dermatitis: its names and nature*. Semin Dermatol, 1983. **2**: p. 1-4.
- 245. Schmid-Gredelmeier, P., Simon, D., Simon, H.U., Akdis, C.A., and Wuthrich, B., *Epidemiology, clinical features, and inmunology of the "intrinsic" (non-IgE-mediated) type of atopic dermatitis (constitutional dermatitis).* Allergy, 2001. **56**: p. 841-849.

- 246. Kiepgen, T.L., and Blettner, M., *Analysis of familial aggregation of atopic eczema and other atopic diseases by odds ratio regression analysis.* J Invest Dermatol, 1996. **106**: p. 977-981.
- 247. Beyer, K., Nickel, R., Friedoff, L., Bjorksten, B., Huang, S.K., et al., *Association* and linkage of atopic dermatitis with chromosome 13q12-14 and 5q31-33 markers. J Invest Dermatol, 2000. **115**: p. 906-908.
- 248. Cookson, W.O., *The genetics of atopic dermatitis: strategies, candidate genes, and genome screens.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology., 2001.
   45(1 Suppl): p. S7-9.
- 249. Leung, D.Y.M., Bhan, A.K., Schneeberger, E.E., and Geha, R.S., *Characterization of the mononuclear cell infiltrate in atopic dermatitis using monoclonal antibodies.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1983. **71**: p. 47-56.
- 250. Nassif, A., Chan, S.C., Storrs, F.J., and Hanifin, J.M., *Abnormal skin irritancy in atopic dermatitis and in atopy without dermatitis*. Arch Dermatol, 1994. **130**: p. 1402-1407.
- 251. Oettgen, H.C., and Geha, R.S., *IgE regulation and roles in asthma pathogenesis*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2001. **107**: p. 429-440.
- 252. Bacharier, L.B., and Geha, R.S., *Molecular mechanisms of IgE regulation*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2000. **105**: p. S547-S558.
- 253. Charlesworth, E.N., *The role of basophils and mast cells in acute and late reactions in the skin.* Allergy, 1997. **52**: p. 31-43.
- 254. Mekori, Y.A., and Metcalfe, D.D., *Mast cell-T cell interactions*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1999. **104**: p. 517-523.
- 255. Sato, E., Hirahara, K., Wada, Y., Yoshitomi, T., Azuma, T., et al., *Chronic inflammation of the skin can be induced in IgE transgenic mice by means of a single challenge of multivalent antigen.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2003. **111**(1): p. 144-148.
- 256. Steves, S.R., and Cooper, K.D., *Atopic dermatitis: current trends and future directions.* Curr Probl Dermatol, 2000. **12**: p. 51-57.
- 257. Cooper, K.D., and Stevens, S.R., *T cells in atopic dermatitis*. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2001. **45**: p. S10-S12.
- 258. Bos, J.D., Van Leent, E.J., and Sillevis, S.J., *The milleninm criteria for the diagnosis of atopic dermatitis.* Exp Dermatol, 1998. 7: p. 132-138.

- 259. Bos, J.D., Atopiform dermatitis. British J Dermatol, 2002. 147: p. 426-429.
- 260. Werfel, T., and Kapp, A., *What do we know about the etiopathology of the intrinsic type of atopic dermatitis?* Curr Probl Dermatol, 1999. **28**: p. 29-36.
- 261. Schulman, E.S., *Development of a monoclonal anti-immunoglobulin E antibody (omalizumab) for the treatment of allergic respiratory disorders.* Am J Crit Care Med, 2001. **164**: p. S6-11.
- 262. Fendrick, A.M., and Baldwin, J.L., *Allergen-induced inflammation and the role of immunoglobulin E (IgE)*. Am J Therapeutics, 2001. **8**(4): p. 291-297.
- 263. Grewe, M., Bruijnzeel-Koomen, C.A.F.M., Schopf, E., Thepen, T., Langeveld-Wildschut, A.G., et al., *A role for Th1 and Th2 cells in the immunopathogenesis of atopic dermatitis.* Immunol Today, 1998. **19**: p. 359-361.
- 264. Leung, D.Y.M., *Atopic dermatitis: New insights and opportunities for therapeutc intervention.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2000. **105**: p. 860-876.
- 265. Jones, H.E., Inoue, J.C., McGerity, J.L., and Lewis, C.W., *Atopic disease and serum immunoglobulin-E.* British J Dermatol, 1975. **92**: p. 17-25.
- 266. van Bever, H.P., *Recent advances in the pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis.* Eur J Pediatr, 1992. **151**: p. 870-873.
- 267. Hikita, I., Yoshioka, T., Mizaoguchi, T., Tsukahara, K., Tsuru, K., et al., *Characterization of dermatitis arising spontaneously in DS-Nh mice maintained under conventional conditions: another possible model for atopic dermatitis.* J of Dermatological Science, 2002. 30: p. 142-153.
- 268. Broock, H.C., Hairless mice. J Hered, 1926. 17: p. 173-174.
- 269. Green, E.L., *The genetics of a new hair deficiency, furless.* J Hered, 1954. **45**: p. 150-154.
- 270. Isaacson, J.H., and Cattanach, B.M., Report. Mouse News Lett, 1962. 27: p. 31.
- 271. Oppel, T., Schuller, E., Gunther, S., et al., *Phenotyping of epidermal dendritic cells allows the differentiation between extrinsic and intrinsic forms of atopic dermatitis.* Br J Dermatol, 2000. **143**: p. 1193-1198.
- 272. Kruse, S., Forster, J., Kuehr, J., and Deichmann, K.A., *Characterization of the membrane-bound and a soluble form of human IL-4 receptor alpha produced by alternative splicing.* Int Immunol, 1999a. **11**: p. 1965-1970.

- 273. Kruse, S., Japha, T., Tedner, M., et al., *The polymorphisms S503P and Q576R in the interleukin-4 receptor alpha gene are associated with atopy and influence the signal transduction.* Immunology, 1999b. **96**: p. 365-371.
- 274. Novak, N., Kruse, S., Kraft, S., Geiger, E., Kluken, H., et al., Dichotomic Nature of Atopic Dermatitis Reflected by Combined Analysis of Monocyte Immunophenotyping and Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms of the Interleukin-4/Interleukin-13 Receptor Gene: The Dichotomy of Extrinsic and Intrinsic Atopic Dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol, 2002. 119: p. 870-875.
- Hertl, M., Asada, H., and Katz, S.I., Murine Epidermal Langerhans Cells Do Not Express the Low-Affinity Receptor for Immunoglobulin E, FceRII (CD23). J Invest Dermatol, 1996. 106: p. 221-224.
- Yagi, R., Nagai, H., Ligo, Y., Akimoto, T., Arai, T., et al., Development of Atopic Dermatitis-Like Skin Lesions in STAT6-Deficient NC/Nga Mice. J Immunology, 2002. 168: p. 2020-2027.
- 277. Hou, J., Schindler, U., Henzel, W.J., Ho, T.C., Brasseur, M., et al., *An interleukin-4-induced transcription factor: IL-4 Stat.* Science, 1994. **265**: p. 1701-1706.
- 278. Quelle, F.W., Shimoda, K., Thierfelder, W., Fischer, C., Kim, A., et al., *Cloning* of murine Stat6 and human Stat6, Stat proteins that are tyrosine phosphorylated in responses to IL-4 and IL-3 but are not required for mitogenesis. Mol Cell Biol, 1995. **15**: p. 3336-3343.
- 279. Ohshima, Y., Yasutomi, M., Omata, N., et al., *Dysregulation of IL-13 production by cord blood CD4+ T cells is associated with the subsequent development of atopic disease in infants.* Pediatr Res, 2002. **51**: p. 195-200.
- 280. Wollenberg, A., Kraft, S., Hanau, D., and Bieber, T., *Immunomorphological and ultrastructural characterization of Langerhans cells and a novel, inflammatory dendritic epidermal cell (IDEC) population in lesional skin of atopic eczema.* J Invest Dermatol, 1996. **106**: p. 446-453.
- 281. Mudde, G.C.R.F., van Reijsen, F.C., and Bruijnzeel, K.C., *IgE-positive Langerhans cells and Th2 allergen-specific T cells in atopic dermatitis.* J Invest Dermatol, 1992. **99**: p. 103S.
- 282. Maurer, D., Fiebiger, E., Ebner, C., et al., Peripheral blood dendritic cells express FcεRI as a complex composed of FcεRIα and FcεRIγ-chains and can use this receptor for IgE-mediated allergen presentation. J Immunol, 1995. 157: p. 607-616.

- 283. Bieber, T., Rieger, A., Neuchrist, C., et al., *Induction of FceRII/CD23 on human epidermal Langerhans cells by human recombinant Interleukin-4 and gamma interferon.* J Exp Med, 1989. **170**: p. 309-314.
- 284. Bieber, T., de la Salle, H., Wollenberg, A., et al., *Human epidermal Langerhans cells express the high affinity receptor for immunoglobulin E (FceRI).* J Exp Med, 1992. **175**: p. 1285-90.
- 285. Wang, B., Rieger, A., Kilgus, O., et al., *Epidermal Langerhans cells from normal human skin bind monomeric IgE via FceRI*. J Exp Med, 1992. **175**: p. 1353-1365.
- 286. Wollenberg, A., de la Salle, H., Hanau, D., et al., *Human keratinocytes release the endogenous b-galactoside-binding soluble lectin EBP which binds to Langerhans cells where it modulates their binding capacity for IgE glycoforms.* J Exp Med, 1993. **178**: p. 777-785.
- 287. Chan, L.S., Robinson, N., and Xu, L., *Expression of interleukin-4 in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in a pruritic inflammatory skin disease: an experimental animal model to study atopic dermatitis.* J Invest Dermatol, 2001. 117: p. 977-983.
- 288. Schultz Larsen, F., *Genetic epidemiology of atopic dermatitis*, in *Atopic Dermatitis*, H.C. Williams, Editor. 2000, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge. p. 113-124.
- Williams, H.C., Atopic dermatitis, in The Challenge of Dermato-Epidemiology, H.C. Williams, and Strachan, D.P., Editor. 1997, CRC Press Inc.: Boca Raton. p. 125-144.
- Ruiz, R.G., Kemeny, D.M., and Price, J.F., *Higher risk of infantile atopic dermatitis from maternal atopy than from paternal atopy*. Clin Exp Allergy, 1992. 22(8): p. 762-766.
- 291. Dold, S., Wjst, M., von Matius, E., Reitmeir, P., and Stiepel, E., *Genetic risk for asthma, allergic rhinitis, and atopic dermatitis.* Arch Dis Child, 1992. **67**: p. 1018-1022.
- 292. Dotterud, L.K., Kvammen, B., Lund, E., and Falk, E.S., *Prevalence and some clinical aspects of atopic dermatitis in the community of Sor-Varanger*. Acta Derm Venereol, 1995. **75**: p. 50-53.
- 293. Ruiz, R.G.G., Price, J.F., Richards, D., and Kemeny, D.M., *Influence of parental atopic status on atopic disease in infancy*. Schweiz Med Wschr, 1991. **121**(suppl 40/I): p. 129.

- 294. Magnusson, C.B., Cord serum IgE in relation to family history and as predictor of atopic disease in early infancy. Allergy, 1988. 43: p. 241-51.
- 295. Happle, R., and Schnyder, U.W., *Evidence for the Carter effect in atopy*. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol, 1982. **68**: p. 90-92.
- 296. Aberg, N., *Familial occurrence of atopic disease: genetic versus environmental factors.* Clin Exp Allergy, 1994. **23**: p. 829-834.
- 297. Young, R.P., Sharp, P.A., Lynch, J.R., et al., *Confirmation of genetic linkage between atopic IgE responses and chromosome 11q13*. J Med Genet, 1992. **29**: p. 236-238.
- 298. Cattenach, B.M., and Kirk, M., *Differential activity of maternally and paternally derived chromosome regions in mice*. Nature, 1985. **315**: p. 496-498.
- 299. Shirakawa, T., Morimoto, K., Hashimoto, T., Furuyama, J., Yamamoto, M., et al., *Linkage between severe atopy and chromosome 11q in Japanese families*. Clin Genet, 1994. **46**: p. 228-232.
- Hill, M.R., James, A.L., Faux, J.A., Ryan, G., Hopkin, J.M., et al., *Fc epsilon RI-beta polymorphism and risk of atopy in a general population sample*. BMJ, 1995.
   311(7008): p. 776-779.
- 301. Cox, N., Beaty, T., Rich, S., Bleeker, E., Banks-Schlegal, S., et al., *Genome* screen for asthma susceptibility loci in US populations (abstr). Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **157**: p. 855.
- McMenamin, C., Oliver, J., Girn, B., Holt, B.J., Kees, U.R., et al., *Regulation of T-cell sensitization at epithelial surfaces in the repiratory tract: Suppression of IgE responses to inhaled antigens by* CD3+ TCRα-/β-lymphocytes (putative γ/δ *T cells*). Immunology, 1991. 74: p. 234-239.
- 303. Schafer, T., Heinrich, J., Wjst, M., Adam, H., Ring, J., et al., *Association between* severity of atopic eczema and degree of sensitization to aeroallergens in schoolchildren. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1999. **104**: p. 1280-1284.
- 304. Nagai, H., Yamaguchi, S., Maeda, Y., and Tanaka, H., Role of mast cells, eosinophils and IL-5 in the development of airway hyperresponsiveness in sensitized mice. Clin Exp Allergy, 1996. 26: p. 642-647.
- Williams, C.M., and Galli, S.J., Mast cells can amplify airway reactivity and features of chronic inflammation in an asthma model in mice. J Exp Med, 2000. 192: p. 455-462.

- Kung, T.T., Stelts, D., Zurcher, J.A., Jones, H., Umland, S.P., et al., *Mast cells modulate allergic pulmonary eosinophilia in mice*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1995. 12: p. 404-409.
- 307. Alenius, H., Laouini, D., Woodward, A., Mizoguchi, E., Bhan, A.K., et al., Mast cells regulated IFN-γ expression in the skin and circulating IgE levels in allergeninduced skin inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2002. 109: p. 106-113.
- 308. Banchereau, J., and Steinman, R.M., *Dendritic cells and the control of immunity*. Nature, 1998. **392**: p. 245-252.
- 309. Kinet, J.P., *The high-affinity IgE receptor (FceRI): from physiology to pathology*. Ann Rev Immunol, 1999. **17**: p. 931-972.
- Bieber, T., de la Salle, H., Wollenberg, A., et al., *FceRI-expressing antigen-presenting cells: new players in the atopic game.* Immunol Today, 1997. 18: p. 311-313.
- 311. Mudde, G.C., Van Reijsen, F.C., Boland, G.J., de Gast, G.C., Bruijnzeel, P.L., et al., *Allergen presentation by epidermal Langerhans' cells from patients with atopic dermatitis is mediated by IgE.* Immunology, 1990. **69**: p. 335-341.
- 312. Reich, K., Heine, A., Hugo, S., Blaschke, V., Middel, P., et al., *Engagement of the FceRI stimulates the production of IL-16 in Langerhans cell-like dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2001. **167**: p. 6321-6329.
- 313. Schluesener, H.J., Seid, K., Kretzschmar, J, and Meyermann, R., *Leukocyte chemotactic factor, a natural ligand to CD4, is expressed by lymphocytes and microglial cells of the MS plaque.* J Neurosci Res, 1996. **44**: p. 606-611.
- 314. Franz, J.K., Kolb, S.A., Hummel, K.M., Lahrtz, F., Neidhart, M., et al., Interleukin-16, produced by synovial fibroblasts, mediates chemoattraction for CD4+ T lymphocytes in rheumatoid arthritis. Eur J Immunol, 1998. 28: p. 2661-2671.
- 315. Keates, A.C., Castagliuolo, I., Cruishank, W.W., Qiu, B., Arseneau, K.O., et al., *Interleukin-16 is up-regulated in Crohn's disease and participates in TNBS colitis in mice*. Gastroenterology, 2000. **119**: p. 972-982.
- 316. Cruikshank, W.W., Long, A., Tarpy, R.E., Kornfeld, H., Carroll, M.P., et al., Early identification of interleukin-16 (lymphocyte chemoattractant factor) and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP1α) in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of antigen-challenged asthmatics. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1995. 13: p. 738-747.

- 317. Hessel, E.M., Cruikshank, W.W., Van, A., de Bie, J.J., Van Esch, B., et al., *Involvement of IL-16 in the induction of airway hyper-responsiveness and up-regulation of IgE in a murine model of allergic asthma.* J Immunol, 1998. 160: p. 2998-3005.
- 318. Laberge, S., Pinsonneault, S., Varga, E.M., Till, S.J., Nouri-Aria, K., et al., Increased expression of IL-16 immunoreactivity in bronchial mucosa after segmental allergen challenge in patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2000. 106: p. 293-301.
- 319. Kraft, S., Novak, N., Katoh, N., Bieber, T., and Rupec, R., Aggregation of the high-affinity IgE receptor FceRI on human monocytes and dendritic cells induces NF-κB activation. J Invest Dermatol, 2002. 118: p. 830-837.
- 320. Tsudzuki, M., Watanabe, N., Wada, A., Nakane, Y., Hiroi, J., et al., *Genetic analyses for dermatitis and IgE hyperproduction in the NC/Nga mouse*. Immunogenetics, 1997. **47**: p. 88-90.
- 321. Barker, S.A., Lujan, D., and Wilson, B.S., *Mutiple roles for PI 3-kinase in the regulation of PLC gamma activity and Ca2+ mobilization in antigen-stimulated mast cells.* J Leukocyte Biol, 1999. **65**: p. 321-329.
- 322. Stephenson, D.A., and Lueders, K.K., *Mouse chromosome 13*. Mamm Genome (special issue), 1998. 8: p. S258-S275.
- 323. Williams, R.W., Holdener, B.C., Angel, J.M., Oakey, R., and Hunter, K.W., *Mouse Chromosome 7*. Mamm Genome (special issue), 1998. **8**: p. S136-S157.
- 324. *A genome-wide search for asthma susceptibility loci in ethnically diverse populations. CSGA (Collaborative Studies on the Genetics of Asthma).* Nat Genet, 1997. **15**: p. 389-392.
- 325. Ober, C., Cox, N.J., Abney, M., DiRienzo, A., Lander, E.S., et al., *Genome-wide* search for asthma susceptibility loci in a founder population: the Collaborative Study on the Genetics of Asthma. Hum Mol Genet, 1998. 7: p. 1393-1398.
- 326. McDuffie, M., *Genetics of autoimmune diabetes in animal models*. Curr Opin Immunol, 1998. **10**: p. 704-709.
- 327. Feijen, M., Gerritsen, J., and Postma, D.S., *Genetics of allergic disease*. British Medical Bulletin, 2000. **56**(4): p. 894-907.
- 328. Los, H., Koppelman, G.H., and Postma, D.S., *The importance of genetic influences in asthma*. Eur Respir J, 1999. 14: p. 1210-27.

- 329. Liu, X., Nickel, R., Beyer, K., Wahn, U., Ehrlich, E., et al., *An IL13 coding region* variant is associated with a high total serum IgE level and atopic dermatitis in the German multicenter atopy study (MAS-90). Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology., 2000. **106**(1 Pt 1): p. 167-70.
- 330. Cookson, W.O.C.M., Sharp, P.A., Faux, J.A., and Hopkin, J.M., *Linkage between immunoglobulin E responses underlying asthma and rhinitis and chromosome 11q.* The Lancet, 1989. 1: p. 1292-1295.
- 331. Collee, J.M., ten Date, L.P., de Vries, H.G., Kliphuis, J.W., Bouman, K., et al., *Allele sharing on chromosome 11q13 in sibs with asthma and atopy.* Lancet, 1993. **342**: p. 936.
- 332. Garcia, K.C., Degano, M., Stanield, R.L., Brunmark, A., Jackson, M.R., et al., An  $\alpha\beta$  T cell receptor structure at 2.6 A and its orientation in the TCR-MHC complex. Science, 1996. **274**: p. 209-219.
- 333. Mosley, R.L., Whetsell, M., Stickney, D., Whetsell, L.I., Schaefer, F.V., et al., Phenotype and TCR  $\gamma/\delta$  variable gene repertoire of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes in wild mice (Mus musculus domesticus): abundance of  $V\gamma l$ transcripts and extensive  $\delta$  gene diversity. Int Immunol, 1994. **6**(2): p. 231-238.
- 334. Kuziel, W.A., Takashima, A., Bonyhadi, M., Bergstresser, P.R., Allison, J.P., et al., *Regulation of T-cell receptor γ chain RNA expression in murine Thy-1+ dendritic epiermal cells.* Nature (London), 1987. **32**: p. 263-266.
- 335. Shiohara, T., Moriya, N., Gotoh, C., Hayakawa, J., Nagashima, M., et al., *Loss of epidermal integrity by T cell-mediated attack induces long-term local resistance to subsequent attack. Induction of resistance correlates with increases in Thy-1+ epidermal cell numbers.* J Exp Med, 1990. **171**: p. 1027-1041.
- Dalloul, A., Laroche, L., Bagot, M., Mossalayi, M.D., Fourcade, C., et al., Interleukin-7 is a growth factor for Sezary lymphoma cells. J Clin Invest, 1992. 90: p. 1054-1060.
- 337. Jamieson, A.M., Diefenbach, A., McMahon, C.W., Xiong, N., Cvarlyle, J.R., et al., *The role of the NKG2D immunoreceptor in immune cell activation and natural killing*. Immunity, 2002. **17**(1): p. 19-29.
- 338. Steele, C.R., Van Remoortere, K.C., and Hayday, A.C., Production of a soluble γδ T-cell receptor to identify ligands for the murine intestinal intraepithelial γδ T cell population. J Chromatography, 2003. 786(1-2): p. 297-304.
## HARVEY CUSHING/JOHN HAY WHITNEY MEDICAL LIBRARY

## **MANUSCRIPT THESES**

Unpublished theses submitted for the Master's and Doctor's degrees and deposited in the Medical Library are to be used only with due regard to the rights of the authors. Bibliographical references may be noted, but passages must not be copied without permission of the authors, and without proper credit being given in subsequent written or published work.

This thesis by has been used by the following person, whose signatures attest their acceptance of the above restrictions.

NAME AND ADDRESS

DATE



